On the physiological role of post-translational regulation of the *Arabidopsis* guard cell outward rectifying potassium channel GORK

Die physiologische Rolle der posttranslationalen Regulation des auswärtsgleichrichtenden Kaliumkanals GORK in Arabidopsis-Schließzellen



Dissertation zur Erlangung des naturwissenschaftlichen Doktorgrades der bayerischen Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg

Vorgelegt von

Eva Kopic

aus Schweinfurt

Würzburg 2023

On the physiological role of post-translational regulation of the *Arabidopsis* guard cell outward rectifying potassium channel GORK

Die physiologische Rolle der posttranslationalen Regulation des auswärtsgleichrichtenden Kaliumkanals GORK in Arabidopsis-Schließzellen



Dissertation zur Erlangung des naturwissenschaftlichen Doktorgrades der bayerischen Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg

Vorgelegt von

Eva Kopic

aus Schweinfurt

Würzburg 2023

Eingereicht am:

Mitglieder der Promotionskommission Vorsitzender: Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Dirk Becker Gutachter: Dr. Christoph Weiste

Tag des Promotionskolloquiums:Doktorurkunde ausgehändigt am:

Contents

Summary							
Ζι	ısamı	menfas	sung	3			
1	Introduction						
	1.1	The re	ole of potassium in higher plants	. 6			
	1.2	Plant potassium channels					
	1.3	B Regulation of plant ion channels					
		1.3.1	Calcium-(in)dependent phosphorylation	. 12			
		1.3.2	14-3-3 proteins - small all-rounders in plant signaling $\ .$. 16			
	1.4	4 Stress physiology in higher plants					
		1.4.1	Jasmonate - the wounding hormone	. 18			
		1.4.2	Stomata and their distinct role in stress responses \ldots \ldots	. 20			
		1.4.3	ABA and stress signaling in stomata	. 21			
	1.5	5 Aims of this work					
2	Mat	erial a	nd methods	24			
	2.1 Plant material and handling \ldots		material and handling	. 24			
		2.1.1	Growth conditions	. 24			
		2.1.2	Stoma assays	. 24			
		2.1.3	Monitoring stomatal movements upon wounding	. 25			
		2.1.4	Preparation of guard cell protoplasts	. 25			
		2.1.5	Tobacco leaf infiltration	. 25			

	2.2	Molecu	ılar biology	26			
		2.2.1	Cloning strategies	26			
			2.2.1.1 USER system	26			
			2.2.1.2 Gateway [®] and the 2in1 cloning system $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	27			
		2.2.2	Work with bacteria	27			
		2.2.3	In vitro synthesis of RNA	28			
	2.3	Cell culture					
		2.3.1	Handling of used cell strains	29			
		2.3.2	Transfection of CHO cells	30			
	2.4	Double electrode voltage clamp					
		2.4.1	The principle of DEVC and the used setup	30			
		2.4.2	The heterologous expression system <i>Xenopus</i> oocytes	31			
		2.4.3	Solutions and protocols used	31			
	2.5	Patch clamp measurements					
		2.5.1	Setup, material and solutions	33			
		2.5.2	Performance of patch clamp measurements on mammalian cells	34			
		2.5.3	Performance of patch clamp measurements on guard cell pro-				
			toplasts	35			
	2.6	Biochemical work with proteins					
		2.6.1	Solutions for protein biochemistry	36			
		2.6.2	Expression and purification of recombinant proteins	37			
			2.6.2.1 Expression in $E. \ coli$	37			
			2.6.2.2 Purification by GST-tag	37			
			2.6.2.3 Cell free expression and purification of StrepII-CIPK5	38			
		2.6.3	In vitro kinase assays	38			
3	Resi	ults		39			
	3.1 Wounding triggers JA signaling in guard cells						
	3.2	GORK is an essential part of JA-induced stomatal closure 4					

	3.3	Regulation of GORK via calcium-dependent, reversible phosphorylation 4								
		3.3.1	GORK	interaction with CIPK5 and ABI2 provides for channel						
		activity control								
		3.3.2	CPKs' a	and GRFs' impact on GORK activity	53					
			3.3.2.1	Analysis of protein-protein interaction of GORK with						
				CPKs	53					
			3.3.2.2	Add another level of complexity to the interaction:						
				the probable menage-a-trois $\mathrm{CPK}/\mathrm{GRF}/\mathrm{GORK}$	57					
	3.4	.4 The role of ROS in GORK-dependent JA signaling								
4 Discussion					64					
	4.1	GORK	X is esser	tial for wound-induced JA signaling and the effected						
		stomat	al closur	e	64					
	4.2	Calciu	m and ca	alcium mediating proteins in stomatal signaling path-						
		ways control GORK activity								
	4.3	Proposed model of JA regulated stomatal closure and crosstalk with								
	the ABA signaling pathway									
	4.4	Outloo	ok		70					
Lis	List of figures									
Lis	st of	tables			73					
Bibliography List of own publications										
										Ac
Affidavit										

Summary

Plants are incessantly challenged by both biotic and abiotic stresses. Their responses towards those stressors involve complex physiological, cellular, and molecular processes, with stomatal movement as one of the fastest responses. The transfer of stress signals in plants is mediated by various primary and secondary messengers.

As an essential macronutrient K^+ plays crucial roles in diverse physiological processes during plant growth and development. It serves as a major osmoticum regulating turgor pressure and membrane potentials. K^+ channels and transporters regulate K^+ homeostasis in plant cells and have diverse regulatory functions.

A lot of abiotic and biotic stresses act on disturbing the K^+ balance by influencing K^+ channels. This influence can be carried out on transcriptional level, controlling a channel's expression, as well as via post-translational regulation. The latter can appear as e.g. reversible phosphorylation of a channel protein or by binding a signal molecule, like a 14-3-3 dimer.Post-translational modification is essential in the context of rapid (stress) signaling networks. So, it is not suprising that a huge array of (de-)phosphorylation events are involved in the signaling resulting in stomatal movement.

To keep the balance between CO_2 uptake and transpiration is important for plants and relies on tightly controlled turgor changes, which are caused by the activity of different anion and cation channels. Those channels are part of signaling cascades that are set off e.g. via phytohormones, such as ABA (abscisic acid) and JA (jasmonate), both acting during drought stress in guard cells. JA is furthermore known to be involved in a plant's response to pathogen attack or wounding.

GORK (guard cell outward rectifying K^+ channel) is the only outward rectifying K^+ channel known in guard cells, so it is primarily responsible for K^+ efflux during stomatal closure.

In the course of this work it could be demonstrated by stomatal aperture assays, that GORK is an essential part of JA-induced stomatal closure. This is true for both triggers, leaf wounding as well as direct MeJA (methyl jasmonate) application. Patch clamp experiments on guard cell protoplasts backed this finding by revealing GORK K_{out}^+ currents as a target of JA signaling in guard cells.

As cytosolic Ca^{2+} signals are known to be involved in both ABA as well as JA signaling, the interaction of GORK with Ca^{2+} -dependent kinases was examined consequently. Protein-protein interaction studies disclosed interaction of CIPK5 (calcineurin B-like interacting protein kinase 5) in combination with CBL1 or CBL9 (calcineurin B-like proteins) with GORK both *in-vitro* and *in-vivo*.

In addition, the PP2C (protein phosphatase type 2C) ABI2 (abscisic acid insensi-

tive 2), a well-known negative regulator of ABA-dependent stomatal closure, was found as another interactor of GORK and potential counteractor of the CIPK5 mediated phosphorylation. This probable, antagonistic regulation of GORK by CIPK5-CBL1/9 complexes and ABI2 could be backed up by DEVC (double electrode voltage clamp) experiments.

Hence, *in-vitro* kinase assays with recombinant proteins were performed and could show, that CIPK5 phosphorylates the N-terminus but not the C-terminus of GORK and that this phosphorylation is directly counteracted by ABI2. Using site-directed mutagenic, recombinant proteins in *in-vitro* kinase assay, it was possible to determine the amino acids T34 and T48 of the GORK N-terminus as probable phosphorylation targets of CIPK5. Thus, patch-clamp recordings on guard cell protoplasts of *cipk5-2* kinase loss-of-function mutant revealed the importance of CIPK5 for JA-triggered stomatal closure via activation of GORK. For the first time these results identify CBL-type Ca²⁺ sensor proteins and their interacting kinase as essential components in fast JA signal transduction in guard cells.

CDPKs (Ca²⁺ dependent protein kinases) are an important group of directly Ca²⁺sensing protein kinases that have been demonstrated to be part of numerous signaling pathways and function as positive regulators of abiotic stress responses. Additionally, the interaction of GORK with CDPKs was investigated in the course of this study.

In-vitro phosphorylation assays indicated, that GORK N- and C-terminus are both phosphorylated by CPK3 and CPK21 while CPK6 only phosphorylates the N-terminus. During the further research, only CPK21 could be examined closer and the amino acids T34 and to a certain extent also S24 were identified as potential phosphorylation targets of CPK21 in the GORK N-terminus.

CDPKs had been identified as possible binding partners for the small 14-3-3 proteins in *Arabidopsis thaliana* before and also an effect of 14-3-3 on GORK function had been indicated in previous studies. Therefore, this potential menage-a-trois and its physiological impact on wounding-associated JA signaling was addressed during this work. This way it could be indicated, that GRF2 (aka 14-3-3 omega) enhances the interaction of GORK with CPK21 and most probably CPK6, thus modifying the channel's activity.

Besides Ca²⁺ signaling also ROS (reactive oxygen species) production followed by cytoplasmic alkalization is essential in ABA and MeJA signaling. In DEVC experiments a reversible effect of ROS on GORK channel activity could be demonstrated during this study, which could be one piece in the explanation of those ROS effects in ABA and MeJA signaling.

Finally, a model of jasmonate regulated stomatal closure and crosstalk with the ABA signaling pathway, based on available published evidence, could be deduced as an assembly of this study's results. It converges hormone and Ca^{2+} -mediated activation allowing for efficient fine-tuning of GORK-mediated K⁺ efflux and providing the mechanistic flexibility to facilitate stomatal closure in response to diverse stimuli such as drought or wounding.

Zusammenfassung

Pflanzen sind ständig mit biotischen und abiotischen Stressfaktoren konfrontiert. Ihre Reaktionen auf diese Stressoren umfassen komplexe physiologische, zelluläre und molekulare Prozesse, wobei die Bewegung der Schließzellen eine der schnellsten Reaktionen darstellt. Die Übertragung von Stresssignalen wird durch verschiedene primäre und sekundäre Botenstoffe vermittelt.

Als essentieller Makronährstoff spielt Kalium (K^+) eine entscheidende Rolle bei verschiedenen physiologischen Prozessen während des Wachstums und der Entwicklung von Pflanzen. Dies zeigt sich u.a. bei der osmotischen Regulation des Turgordrucks und der Membranpotentiale. K⁺-Kanäle und -Transporter steuern die K⁺-Homöostase in Pflanzenzellen und haben vielfältige regulatorische Funktionen.

Viele abiotische und biotische Stressfaktoren, stören das K⁺-Gleichgewicht, indem sie K⁺-Kanäle beeinflussen. Dieser Einfluss kann sowohl auf transkriptioneller Ebene erfolgen, indem die Expression der Kanäle kontrolliert wird, als auch durch posttranslationale Modifikation. Letztere kann z. B. durch reversible Phosphorylierung eines Kanalproteins oder durch Bindung eines Signalmoleküls, wie eines 14-3-3-Dimers, an (phosphorylierte) Proteinsequenzen des Kanals erfolgen. Solche posttranslationalen Modifikationen sind wesentlich beim Ablauf schneller Signalwege. Es ist daher nicht überraschend, dass eine Vielzahl von (De-)Phosphorylierungsvorgängen an der Signalweiterleitung in den Schließzellen beteiligt ist, die in Stomatabewegungen resultieren.

Ein stabiles Gleichgewicht zwischen CO₂-Aufnahme und Transpiration ist für Pflanzen essentiell und wird von streng kontrollierten Turgorveränderungen verursacht, die durch die Aktivität verschiedener Anionen- und Kationenkanäle erfolgen. Diese Kanäle sind auch Teil von Signalkaskaden, die z. B. durch Phytohormone wie Abscisinsäure (ABA) und Jasmonat (JA) ausgelöst werden. Es ist bekannt, dass beide Phytohormone bei Trockenstress in den Schließzellen eine Rolle spielen. Darüber hinaus ist JA an der Reaktion von Pflanzen auf Pathogenbefall oder Verwundung beteiligt.

Als einziger in den Schließzellen bekannter, auswärts gleichrichtender K⁺-Kanal, ist GORK (guard cell outward rectifying K⁺-Kanal) in erster Linie für den K⁺-Ausstrom während des Schließens der Stomata verantwortlich. Seine Regulierung und insbesondere seine posttranslationale Modifikation werden daher seit langem untersucht, sind allerdings noch nicht vollständig geklärt.

Im Rahmen dieser Arbeit konnte durch Analyse von Stomaschlussweiten gezeigt werden, dass GORK ein wesentlicher Bestandteil des JA-induzierten Stomaschlusses ist. Dies gilt sowohl bei Blattverwundung als auch bei direkter Stimulation des Blattes mit Methyljasmonat (MeJA). Dieser Befund konnte durch Patch-ClampExperimente an Schließzellprotoplasten untermauert werden, welche zeigen konnten, dass GORK-K_{out}^+ -Ströme Ziel von JA-Signalen in Schließzellen sind.

Da zytosolische Ca²⁺-Signale bekanntermaßen sowohl in ABA- als auch in JA-Signalwwegen beteiligt sind, wurde die Interaktion von GORK mit Ca²⁺-abhängigen Kinasen untersucht. Protein-Protein-Interaktionsstudien ergaben, dass die Calcineurin B-ähnliche interagierende Proteinkinase 5 (CIPK5) in Kombination mit den Calcineurin B-ähnlichen Proteinen CBL1 oder CBL9 sowohl in-vitro als auch invivo mit GORK interagiert. Darüber hinaus wurde die PP2C (Proteinphosphatase Typ 2C) ABI2 (Abscisinsäure insensitive 2), ein bekannter negativer Regulator der ABA-abhängigen Stomaschließung, als ein weiterer Interaktionspartner von GORK und somit potenzieller Gegenspieler der CIPK5-vermittelten Phosphorylierung gefunden. Diese vermutete antagonistische Regulierung von GORK durch CIPK5-CBL1/9-Komplexe und ABI2 konnte durch DEVC-Experimente (double electrode voltage clamp) bestätigt werden. Daher wurden *in-vitro*-Kinase-Assays mit rekombinanten Proteinen durchgeführt und konnten zeigen, dass CIPK5 den N-Terminus, nicht aber den C-Terminus von GORK phosphoryliert und dass dieser Phosphorylierung durch ABI2 direkt entgegengewirkt wird. Unter Verwendung von zielgerichtet mutagenen, rekombinanten Proteinen im *in-vitro*-Kinase-Assav konnten die Aminosäuren T34 und T48 des N-Terminus von GORK als wahrscheinliche Phosphorylierungsstellen von CIPK5 bestimmt werden. Mit Hilfe von Patch-Clamp-Messungen an Schließzellprotoplasten der *cipk5-2*-Loss-of-Function-Mutante konnte die Bedeutung von CIPK5 für den JA-ausgelösten Stomataschluss über die Aktivierung von GORK nachgewiesen werden. Diese Ergebnisse identifizieren erstmals Ca²⁺-Sensorproteine vom CBL-Typ und die mit ihnen interagierende Kinase als wesentliche Komponenten der schnellen JA-Signaltransduktion in Schließzellen.

Darüber hinaus wurde die Interaktion von GORK mit Ca²⁺-abhängigen Proteinkinasen (CDPKs oder kurz CPKs) untersucht, einer wichtigen Gruppe von direkt Ca²⁺-bindenden Proteinkinasen, die nachweislich Teil zahlreicher Signalwege sind und als positive Regulatoren von abiotischen Stressreaktionen fungieren. Im Rahmen dieser Studie zeigten *in-vitro*-Phosphorylierungsassays, dass sowohl der N- als auch der C-Terminus von GORK durch CPK3 und CPK21 phosphoryliert werden, während CPK6 nur den N-Terminus phosphoryliert. Im weiteren Verlauf wurde ausschließlich CPK21 näher untersucht und die Aminosäuren T34 und S24 wurden als potentielle Phosphorylierungsziele von CPK21 im GORK N-Terminus identifiziert.

CPKs wurden schon als mögliche Bindungspartner für 14-3-3-Proteine in Arabidopsis thaliana identifiziert, und auf ein Zusammenspiel von 14-3-3 und GORK wurde in früheren Studien mehrfach hingewiesen. Daher wurde diese potenzielle Menage-atrois und ihre physiologische Auswirkung auf die verwundungsassoziierte JA-Signalkette in dieser Studie untersucht. So konnte gezeigt werden, dass GRF2 (auch bekannt als 14-3-3 omega) die Interaktion von GORK mit CPK21 und höchstwahrscheinlich CPK6 verstärkt und dadurch die Aktivität des Kanals beeinflusst. Eindeutige Beweise für diese Hypothese müssen noch gefunden werden.

Neben Ca²⁺-Signalen ist auch die Produktion von ROS (reactive oxygen species),

gefolgt von einer zytoplasmatischen Alkalisierung, für die ABA- und MeJA-Signalwege wesentlich. In DEVC-Experimenten konnte hier ein reversibler Effekt von ROS auf die Aktivität des GORK-Kanals nachgewiesen werden, was ein Teil der Erklärung für diese ROS-Effekte bei der ABA- und MeJA-Signalweiterleitung sein könnte.

Schließlich wurden die Ergebnisse dieser Studie in einem Modell des JA-gesteuerten Stomatenschlusses basierend auf bereits veröffentlichter Fakten und unter Einbezug des Zusammenspiels mit dem ABA-Signalweg zusammengefasst. Darin wird die Hormon- und Ca²⁺-vermittelte Aktivierung zusammengeführt, wodurch eine effiziente Feinabstimmung des GORK-vermittelten K⁺-Ausflusses ermöglicht wird. Es bietet außerdem die notwendige Flexibilität, die das Schließen der Stomata als Reaktion auf verschiedene Stimuli wie Trockenheit oder Verwundung erleichtert.

1 Introduction

Terrestrial plants are sessile organisms and need to be able to continuously adjust to environmental changes. Molecular analysis, functional characterization of plant proteins and elucidation of networks and crosstalk allows us to recognize the mechanisms that plants have developed in order to react appropriately to their abiotic and biotic environment. Among the most important reactions are reactions of a plant to stress situations and health threats. Ion channels that regulate the osmotic balance of plant cells play a crucial role in these responses and have been in the focus of investigation for years. In addition, the elucidation of possible interactions within networks that control the activity of these channels and coordinate whole signaling cascades, are of major interest.

1.1 The role of potassium in higher plants

Potassium (K⁺) is essential for higher plants' nutrition and can comprise up to 10% of total plant dry weight [102]. Cellular functions of K⁺ can be classified into two basal aspects. On the one hand, many physiological processes in distinct cellular compartments depend on constantly high K⁺ concentrations in distinct cellular compartments, this includes enzyme activation or neutralization of negatively charged proteins. On the other hand, the movement of K⁺ ions across membranes causes changes in the osmotic pressure and plays an important role for example in stomatal movement or growth processes.[118, 74]

 K^+ is taken up by the plant root through the epidermal and cortical cells and is then transported to the shoot. Already in 1963 Emanuel Epstein discovered that at least two independent systems are involved in K^+ uptake in plants: a high-affinity system ($K_M \simeq 18 \mu M$) for very low soil K^+ concentrations in the micromolar range and a low-affinity system ($K_M \simeq 16 m M$) for K^+ concentrations in the millimolar range [56]. A resulting biphasic K^+ uptake response has since been observed in a lot of plant species, although some exceptions can be found. Maize for example shows a linear non-saturating response in the low-affinity range [91]. The high-affinity uptake against a steep concentration gradient is most likely energized by K^+/H^+ symporters, whilst in the low-affinity range K^+ uptake seems to be mediated by inwardly rectifying K^+ channels that offer a way of simple diffusion of K^+ ions along its electrochemical gradient across biological membranes [64, 114, 144]. Despite its overall importance, it is currently not known, how plants are able to sense intra-/extracellular K^+ concentrations, how this information is processed and how it leads to a distinct physiological or molecular response.

Under repleted K^+ conditions, plant cells maintain a K^+ concentration of around 80 mM in the cytosol, which is an optimal level to fulfill its metabolic functions [217]. In contrast to this relatively high and stable K^+ concentration, the available K^+ in the surrounding soil is highly variable, ranging between approximately 0.025 to 5 mM [113]. Only a small percentage of the total K^+ in the soil exists in a form available for plant uptake, In addition, K⁺ is relatively immobile in the soil solution, limiting its availability to a small cylinder surrounding each root [119]. Agricultural practices attempt to lessen soil K⁺ variability using fertilizers, nevertheless intensively cultured land can become K^+ deficient. Plants that experience K^+ deficiency show reduced growth and a higher susceptibility to pathogens [4, 118]. Elucidating the molecular mechanism of root K^+ uptake has been of considerable interest, in order to obtain crop varieties displaying improved K^+ use efficiency [166]. Members of the KT/HAK/KUP family, such as HAK1 in rice ([10]), pepper ([121]) or HAK5 in Arabidopsis ([170, 169]) have been identified as candidates for high-affinity K^+ uptake, while for the low-affinity range AKT1 (Arapidopsis K^+ Transporter 1), a K⁺ channel of the Shaker family, has been suggested ([98, 169]). Using T-DNA insertion lines Nieves et al. (2010) showed, that AtHAK5 is an important system mediating root K^+ uptake at concentrations below 0.01 mM. In the range between 0.01 and 0.05 mM K⁺ AtHAK5 and AtAKT1 both contribute to K⁺ acquisition and at higher K⁺ concentrations, other systems, probably non-selective cation channels, come into operation and participate together with AtAKT1 in low-affinity K⁺ uptake. [143]

Upon K⁺ depletion, root cells respond with ROS accumulation and hyperpolarization of the membrane potential [5, 47, 79, 189, 188]. Both reactions have been linked to HAK5 gene expression [145, 189]. Other signal molecules that have been proposed to be involved in plant responses to low-K⁺ stress are phytohormones, such as ethylene, auxin and jasmonic acid, microRNAs or calcium [221]. Xu et al. figured out, that in *Arabidopsis* the Ca²⁺ sensors CBL1 and CBL9 via interaction with their interacting kinase CIPK23 activate AKT1 and HAK5 under low-K⁺ conditions [162, 230]. The previously proposed low-K⁺ induced Ca²⁺ signal was recently observed employing the Ca²⁺ reporter YC3.6 [17]. Behera et al. could show two spatially and temporally defined Ca²⁺ signals in *Arabidopsis* roots upon low-K⁺ stress [17].

As a very important nutrient and osmolyte, K^+ regulates turgor pressure of plant cells and therefore guard cells and grass coleoptiles have become important model systems for studying the role of K^+ channels in reversible respectively irreversible plant growth and movements. The cell expansion during monocot coleoptile and dicot hypocotyl growth including gravi- and phototropism depend on the redistribution of the phytohormone auxin, differential expression of K^+ uptake channels and accumulation of K^+ in the expanding cells [16, 59].

 K^+ homeostasis is further essential for polar, tip growing cell types like root hairs or pollen tubes, which represent ideal model systems as well [74, 216]. Root hairs are epidermal cells that exhibit K^+ influx at the growing tip and K^+ efflux at the base. Besides AKT1 in *Arabidopsis* they express AtKC1, which functions as modulatory subunit in heteromeric K^+ channels and GORK (Guard cell Outward Rectifying K^+ channel) [85]. Pollen tubes, emerging from the germinating pollen grain, show expression of SPIK (Shaker Pollen Inward K^+ channel), GORK, SKOR (Stelar K^+ Outward Rectifying channel) and exclusively TPK4 (Tandem Pore K^+ channel 4) [14, 74, 101]. The polar growth of both cell types is achieved by continuous exocytosis at their tip regions - a process, which is sensitive to osmotic changes. These seem to be fine tuned by the activity of K^+ channels. In *Arabidopsis* pollen tubes for example, the calcium-dependent kinases CPK11 and CPK24 play an important role in the regulation of SPIK and consequently modulate pollen tube elongation [242].

1.2 Plant potassium channels

 K^+ uptake by plant root cells as well as K^+ transport inside plants are performed by a large number of K^+ channels and transporters. Thus, identification, functional characterization and regulatory mechanisms of K^+ channels and transporters have been in the focus of research for years. This led to the identification of numerous novel K^+ transporters and channels with diverse physiological functions in K^+ uptake, photosynthesis, development, reproduction and stress tolerance. [74, 215]

Plants maintain their cytoplasmic K^+ concentration at approximately 100 mM [118], which is usually far above the surrounding concentration. Consequently, K^+ has to get into the cytoplasm against a steep chemical gradient. Proton gradients together with hyperpolarized membrane potentials make this possible: the resulting electrochemical gradient represents the driving force for ion passage across biological membranes.

In Arabidopsis 15 K⁺-selective channels are known and are divided into three different groups as seen in figure 1.1. Nine channels belong to the *Shaker* family, five to the tandem pore K⁺ channels (TPKs) and one (KCO3) is a KCsA-like inward rectifier [74, 122, 214].

KCO3 has the most simple structure, as it is build of two transmembrane domains that flank a pore region [214] (cp. figure 1.1). These channels are located at the plasma and the vacuolar membrane and activate over a broad voltage range.[14, 43, 74, 176].

Shaker-type channels belong to the best characterized transport proteins in plants so far. They got their name from their similarity to the Shaker channels identified in Drosophila melanogaster. Defects in these genes lead to trembling legs of the fly. [202, 207]

Shaker channels form tetramers from four α subunits, with six transmembrane domains each (S1-S6). The highly conserved pore loop is located between S5 and S6. The four pore loops of the tetramer extend into the plasma membrane, forming a hydrophilic pore, which is selective for K⁺. The transmembrane S4 includes many positively charged amino acids and is considered as the channel's voltage sensor [52, 209]. The movement of S4 in response to voltage changes results in opposite



Figure 1.1: Phylogeny and Topology of *Arabidopsis* K⁺ channels

Arabidopsis K^+ -selective channels can be divided into three families based on sequence similarity. Traditionally known are six *Shaker*-like channels, five TPK channels and KCO3. TPC1 represents a cation channel of unique structure. TM = transmembrane domain, P = pore [74]

effects on the channel open probability in inward and outward rectifiers [238]. At the C-terminus, *Shaker* channels possess a putative cyclic nucleotide binding site and some also contain five to six repeats of an ankyrin sequence, which is proposed to be involved in cytosolic regulation or interaction with other proteins. [2, 214]

Shaker channels are typically localized to the plasma membrane and are activated in a voltage-dependent manner. The nine members of this family in Arabidopsis are grouped according to their characteristical opening and closing transitions, i.e. "gating". Inward rectifying channels, like AKT1, open upon hyperpolarization of the plasma membrane and mediate K^+ influx into the cell, while weakly rectifying channels, like AKT2, allow both K^+ influx and efflux and are only slightly dependent on the membrane potential. Depolarisation of the membrane activates the outward rectifying channels GORK and SKOR and K^+ release occurs. [53]

GORK, the channel of interest in this work, belongs to this last class and is thus active upon membrane depolarisation positive of the reversal potential of K^+ . This prevents K^+ release under disadvantageous conditions of K^+ supply [2, 74]. The membrane depolarisation can result for example from anion efflux due to the activation of anion channels during stomatal closure. GORK is the only outward rectifying K^+ channel known in guard cells, so it is primarily responsible for K^+ efflux during

stomatal closure, which represents a crucial process for plant survival under conditions of drought [2, 74, 82]. In addition, GORK also takes part in K⁺ homeostasis in root hairs and is actually ubiquitously expressed in the Arabidopsis plant [85]. The channel responds to the external K⁺ concentration by different activation kinetics, offering different membrane K^+ conductances for different K^+ gradients [2]. Stress signals such as the phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA), drought and salt stress increase the expression level of GORK [2, 15, 82, 214]. Cytosolic potassium homeostasis under salt stress conditions appeared as an essential mechanism of salinity stress tolerance [107, 198, 228]. Being confronted with salinity stress, plants have to cope with rapid and massive membrane depolarization upon Na⁺ uptake [33, 182]. It has been shown that GORK is involved in K⁺ efflux and its resulting programmed cell death after membrane depolarization upon sodium influx into the cell during salinity stress [46, 183, 184]. Furthermore, electrophysiological and genetic studies have shown that GORK is a key player for K^+ efflux from plant cells in salinity, oxidative and hypoxia stress tolerance [46, 47, 185, 218]. Activation of the channel by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is in agreement with ROS being a central part of many plant stress responses [46]. The upregulation of GORK expression by ABA requires extracellular calcium, which also is involved in ABA signaling in guard cells [2]. Consequently, calcium-dependent signaling networks are likely to be involved in GORK activation [6]. The regulatory domains in the N- and C-terminus of the protein lead to the proposition, that GORK activity is post-translationally modified by protein-protein interactions or other factors, i.e. superoxide [205]. This highlights an interesting research field that will help understanding the role of GORK in Arabidopsis.

Comparison of K^+ channels in different plant species enables to deduce different stages in channel evolution (cp. figure 1.3). From the example of the GORK-family it can be seen, that GORK-like-channels from human (*Homo sapiens*, Hs), fruit fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*, Dme) and the algae *Chara braunii* (Cb) cluster apart from all the rest. This reflects, that algae and fauna split off from plants long ago in evolution. Next Selaginella moellendorffii (Sm) branches off, followed first by the mosses (*Marchantia polymorpha*, Mp) and second by the (aquatic) ferns (*Azolla filiculoides*, Af and Salvinia cucullata, Sc). Then the higher plants evolved. First the conifera branch off (*Picea abies*, Pa and *Pseudotsuga menziesii*, Pme) and then the last group is build of the dicots (*Nicotiana tabacum*, Nt, *Arabidopsis thaliana*, At and *Dionea muscipula*, Dmu). The GORK-like-channels from the monotypic genus *Amborella trichopoda*, which is considered as the sister group to flowering plants, seperates solely between ferns and higher plants on the one hand (*AmTrORK1*) and together with date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera*, Pda) it appears again as a sidegroup of the dicotyledons. This marks its unique rank in plant evolution.



Figure 1.3: Phylogenetic tree of K⁺-channels of various plant species

Evolutionary relationship of plant K⁺-channels from the GORK-, AKT/KAT-, TPKand BK-family; prefixes stand for respective species: Af = Azolla filiculoides, Ai = Aphanomyces invadans, Am = Amborella trichopoda, At = Arabidopsis thaliana, Cb = Chara braunii, Dme = Drosphila melanogaster, Dmu = Dionea muscipula, Hs = Homo sapiens, Kn = Klebsormidium nitens, Mp = Marchantia polymorpha, Nt = Nicotiana tabacum, Pa = Picea abies, Pda = Phoenix dactylifera, Phpa = Phytophthora parasitica INRA-310, Pme = Pseudotsuga menziesii, Pp = Physcomitrella patens, Ppi = Pinus pinaster, Pta = Pinus teada, Sace = Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Sc = Salvinia cucullata, Sd = Saprolegnia diclina VS20, Sf = Sphagnum fallax, Sm = Selaginella moellendorffii; calculated with IQTree [206] and visualized with Geneoius and Affinity Designer; alignments done with MAFFT in Geneious [168]; values are boostrap values

1.3 Regulation of plant ion channels

The control of the activity of distinct proteins in a plant cell is retained by a tight regulatory network of post-translational modifications, ions, metabolites, proteinprotein-interactions and so forth. Post-translational modifications are highly monitored in the cells, and often serve as rapid and specific molecular switches to regulate biochemical and physiological processes. [9] Tightly regulated and reversible phosphorylation reactions catalyzed by protein kinases and phosphatases are important in signal transduction pathways, that involve various physiological and pathological processes.

1.3.1 Calcium-(in)dependent phosphorylation

Calcium (Ca^{2+}) signals are core regulators of cell physiology in all organisms. The signaling pathways that use Ca^{2+} as a second messenger integrate information from biotic and abiotic stimuli and impact upon gene expression and general physiological responses. Crucial for the widespread function of this simple ion, and for the generation of specificity in linking signal and response, is the variety of Ca^{2+} signaling in terms of spatio-temporal patterning [3, 13, 171, 224]. Stimulus induced rise in free cytosolic Ca^{2+} in plants often occurs as repetitive oscillations or spikes of different amplitude, frequency and shape [34, 51, 94, 95, 171]. Spatially distinct release of Ca^{2+} from different Ca^{2+} stores, together with the slow cytoplasmic diffusion rate of Ca^{2+} ions ensure locally defined signaling events [13, 39]. The apoplast or several intracellular compartments such as the vacuole, the endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria or chloroplasts can serve as sources for Ca^{2+} entry into the cytoplasm[13, 148, 171]. Ca²⁺ transport across cell membranes has been studied in detail during the last years. It is a combination of Ca^{2+} flux via several families of ion channels, including cyclic nucleotide-gated channels (cNGCs), glutamate receptors, two-pore channel 1 (TPC1), annexins, mechanosensitive channels, hyperosmolalitygated calcium-permeable channels (OSCAs) and active, energy-dependent transport through Ca²⁺-ATPases and Ca²⁺/H⁺ exchangers [48, 95]. In many cases, stress stimuli induce Ca²⁺ signals in plant cells, as reported for ABA- or flg22-induced stomatal closure [142] (see also 1.4.2). Diverse proteins including transcription factors, transporters and kinases represent targets for Ca^{2+} signals [164]. Most Ca^{2+} sensoring proteins recognize Ca^{2+} signals via the elongation factor hand (EF-hand) motif, a characteristic and conserved helix-loop-helix structure capable to coordinate one Ca^{2+} ion [65, 187]. The genome of Arabidopsis thaliana encodes over 200 EF-hand containing, Ca^{2+} -binding proteins [45], with many of these genes co-expressed in the same cell types, illustrating the need for specific Ca^{2+} signaling mechanisms [26, 51].

Post-translational modifications are recognized as a major processes accounting for protein structural variation, functional diversity, and the dynamics and complexity of the proteome. They are essential to coordinate signaling networks and to regulate important physiological processes in eukaryotes. Chemical modifications of specific amino acid residues of a protein and/or cleavage of the translated sequence can occur. They greatly increase the structural and functional diversity of proteins in a proteome by affecting properties of the proteins as charge status and conformation or resulting in changes of activity, binding affinity, localization and stability. [9] Reversible phosphorylation represents an important post-translational modification of proteins, regulating numerous aspects of eukaryotic cell responses. Consequently, phosphorylation cascades are primary downstream interpreters of Ca²⁺ signals.

In plants often Ca^{2+} binding proteins or Ca^{2+} sensors (calmodulin, calmodulin like proteins, calcineurin B-like proteins, and Ca^{2+} dependent protein kinases) recognize the changes in Ca^{2+} concentration [95, 171]. While some channels, as TPKs or TPC1 are directly activated by Ca^{2+} [14, 75, 180], in many cases Ca^{2+} sensors function as transmitters for Ca^{2+} signals to effectors. Ca^{2+} binding to Ca^{2+} sensors elicits a structural change that supports the interaction between the sensor and its target protein(s) or changes the activity of the Ca^{2+} sensor directly [65, 187].

Calcineurin B-like proteins (CBLs, 1.5C) function as membrane-anchored Ca²⁺ sensors that, upon activation, recruit a specific set of serine/threonine (Ser-Thr) kinases, calcineurin B-like protein-interacting protein kinases (CIPKs, 1.5B) to their sites of action [94, 109]. They share very little sequence similarity with calmodulins, thus they seem to have diverged from the calmodulins very early in evolution. [13, 95] CBLs, which are involved in the salt-overly-sensitive (SOS) pathway of salt stress signaling, were first identified in *Arabidopsis thaliana* [106].

CBL proteins contain four EF-hand motifs, of which the first one has an extraordinary and characteristic feature as its Ca²⁺ binding loop consists of 14 instead of 12 amino acids in *Arabidopsis*, but it is still capable to bind Ca²⁺ [138] (see fig. 1.5C). *Arabidopsis thaliana* encodes 10 CBL and 26 CIPK proteins. The CBLs can be classified based on their N-terminal region. CBL10 has a hydrophobic N-terminus transmembrane domain, which is special and unique. A short N-terminal region of 27-32 amino acids characterizes the first class of CBL proteins wich includes CBL1, CBL4, CBL5, CBL8 and CBL9. With exception of CBL8 they all have a MGXXX(S/T) consensus sequence for myristoylation. The second category comprises CBL2, CBL3 and CBL6, which harbor an extended, 41-43 amino acid long N-terminus. According to sequence comparison CBL7 belongs to the second category, as well, even though it may have lost the N-terminal extension during evolution. [11, 12, 225]

Several CBL-CIPK complexes have been identified that connect Ca^{2+} sensing with different physiological responses through a range of target proteins. They are involved in mediating Ca^{2+} signals from different stressors, such as low magnesium, low nitrate, low potassium, high salt, low phosphorus, ABA, high pH and cold. [26, 35, 117, 161, 187, 221] Each CBL, though, preferentially interacts with a defined subset of CIPKs and vice versa to ensure signal specificity. [13, 95] CIPKs show a conserved modular structure consisting of an N-terminal Ser-Thr kinase domain, a junction domain and a C-terminal regulatory domain including the autoregulatory NAF-domain and a phosphatase interaction domain (PPI; see fig. 1.5B)



Figure 1.5: Schematic structure of CPKs, CIPKs and CBLs

A) Basic structure of a calcium-dependent protein kinase (CPK) with the variable Nterminus including potential lipid-modification sites, the serine/threonine kinase domain with ATP-binding site, an autoinhibitory domain, a calmodulin-like domain, which includes the EF-hands and the C-terminal domain;

B) The conserved modular structure of calcium-independent protein kinases (CIPKs) with an N-terminal Ser-Thr kinase domain, a junction domain and a C-terminal regulatory domain including the auto-regulatory NAF-domain and a phosphatase interaction site (PPI); C) Calcineurin B-like proteins (CBLs) contain four EF-hand motifs, of which the first one has an extraordinary and characteristic feature as its Ca^{2+} binding loop consists of 14 instead of 12 amino acids in *Arabidopsis* and can be classified based on their specific N-terminal region.

[95, 151, 186]. CBL-CIPK interaction releases the inhibitory effect of the NAFdomain by structural rearrangements and targets the kinase towards its phosphorylation objective and lipid modification of the CBL N-terminus is responsible for their membrane association [13, 32, 95]. This process allows one CIPK to function at different membranes depending on the interaction partner. More and more regular functions have been assigned to CBL-CIPK complexes that range from channel regulation, abiotic stress tolerance and plant development to immune responses [94, 95]. As an example CIPK23 appears to be multifunctionally important as it has been reported to function in potassium and nitrate as well as iron, magnesium and ammonium homeostasis [63, 81, 116, 195]. Held et al. showed that CBL4 interaction with CIPK6 modulates the activity and plasma membrane targeting of the K^+ channel AKT2 from Arabidopsis thaliana by mediating translocation of AKT2 to the plasma membrane and enhancing its activity [78]. Remarkably, no phosphorylation activity of CIPK6 toward AKT2 could be detected in vitro. the regulation of AKT2 by CIPK6 seems to be phosphorylation-independent but Ca²⁺-dependent and the resulting translocation from the endoplasmatic reticulum to the plasma membrane builds the critical step of AKT2 activation. [78]

Another fundamental family of protein kinases in plants are the calcium-dependent protein kinases (CPKs or CDPKs, 1.5A). The first plant CPK was reported in *Pisum* sativum in 1984 [80], while CPK studies in Arabidopsis thaliana began with CPK10 and CPK11 ten years later [210]. The Arabidopsis CPK family consists of 34 different isoforms, that can be divided into four distinct subgroups, based on their sequence similarities [23, 83]. Because the CPKs possess four C-terminal EF-hands (figure 1.5A), they can be directly regulated by Ca^{2+} . Thus, they act as Ca^{2+} sensors in the cell, which translate a rise in the intracellular Ca^{2+} concentrations provoked by stress signals to target proteins, in order to control downstream processes [34, 51, 83]. For example, CPKs are able to phosphorylate nitrate reductase [99] and sucrose-phosphate synthase [84] in vitro. Protein autophosphorylation is commonly observed on serine and threonine residues of most CPKs, occurs in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner and stimulates kinase activity [77, 187].

The structure of the CPKs is divided into four domains, as shown in figure 1.5A: a variable N-terminus, the serine/threonine kinase domain with ATP-binding site, an autoinhibitory domain, that includes the putative autophosphorylation sites in 16 CPKs, a calmodulin-like domain, which includes the EF-hands and the C-terminal domain [34, 83, 171]. Upon Ca^{2+} binding to the EF-hands, conformational changes detach the autoinhibitory domain from the kinase domain, relieving the active site of the protein, thereby activating the kinase activity [70, 72]. The Ca^{2+} -sensitivity and Ca^{2+} -dependence or Ca^{2+} -binding ability of a CPK is dependent on EF-hand integrity and presence and varies among the 34 Arabidopsis CPKs [22, 104, 187]. Most of the CPKs (i.e. CPK6, 21 and 23) have predicted putative myristoylation and palmitoylation sites at the N-terminus, which are responsible for kinase membrane association [34, 71].

CPKs localize in different subcellular compartments, i.e. cytosol, nucleus, plasma membrane [71] and are known to be involved in diverse cellular processes, including stomatal movement, metabolism, response to abiotic stress and pathogen defense [21, 34, 104, 132, 187, 210]. CPK6, CPK21 and CPK23 for example, are known to be part of the ABA signaling pathway (cp. 1.4.3) where they phosphorylate and activate the anion channel SLAC1 (slow anion channel 1), which in turn triggers plasma membrane depolarization as the primary driving force for K⁺ efflux from guard cells [25, 62, 175] (compare 1.4.2). CPK3 also functions in ABA regulation of stomatal closure [132], and CPK6 has been reported to promote methyl jasmonate induced stomatal closure [134] (cp. 1.4.3 and 1.4.1). The closest homolog to CPK6, CPK5, is associated with ROS signaling [21]. Disruption of CPK23 expression results in reduced stomatal apertures, while overexpression of CPK23 increased stomatal apertures [111]. In the past, CPKs were often recognized as positive regulators of abiotic stress responses and the over-expression of the respective kinase leads to plants with improved stress tolerance [7, 23], but now various studies have reported that they also behave as negative regulators. CPK3, CPK6 and CPK23 have been shown to play an important role in *Arabidopsis* responses to drought and salt stresses, with implications for their regulatory effect on K^+ uptake [111, 124, 229]. Although the functions of CPKs in plant responses to environmental stress have been demonstrated, the molecular biological mechanisms of CPKs remain widely unclear.

1.3.2 14-3-3 proteins - small all-rounders in plant signaling

Members of the eukaryotic 14-3-3 family are proteins that regulate distinct biological processes through phosphorylation-dependent protein-protein interactions. The understanding of 14-3-3 function in higher organisms is surprisingly limited, mainly due to the huge spectrum of putative targets and the multigene 14-3-3 family. 14-3-3 proteins are active as dimers, both homo- and heterodimers, and their general role is to complete a signal transduction process by binding to a phosphorylated target. Kinases can serve as target proteins, as well as transcription factors, structural proteins, ion channels and other functional proteins can do [110, 152]. Their name originates from a systematic classification of brain proteins in 1967, and is based on their elution position after DEAE-cellulose chromatography and their mobility in subsequent gel electrophoresis [130]. 14-3-3 proteins have been found in all eukaryotic organisms studied so far and many organisms contain multiple isoforms.

14-3-3 proteins are able to interact with other proteins through canonical binding motifs, other non-canonical binding sites or phosphorylation events [199, 235]. The three identified binding motifs are Mode-1 (K/R xx $S_p/T_p x P$), Mode-2 (K/R xxx $S_p/T_p x P$, where x represents any amino acid and S_p/T_p is phosphorylated) and Mode-3 (YT_pV) [123, 136, 231]. Binding kinetics of 14-3-3s to these motifs is sub-optimal, which enables them to perform their regulatory role.

Each L-shaped monomer forms a highly conserved amphiphatic groove where binding is mediated. In contrast, the N- and C-terminus of 14-3-3 proteins differ among isoforms and may provide their specificity [199]. Moreover, the N-terminus has been shown to be directly involved in dimerization [86], while the C-terminus is capable of binding divalent cations, a interaction that might influence client protein association [8]. From animal 14-3-3 proteins it is known, that the N-terminus can be acetylated, so the proteins might be N-terminally processed [120].

The Arabidopsis genome encodes 15 different 14-3-3 proteins, of which 13 are trancriptionally expressed and are also called general regulating factors 1-13 (GRF1-13) or named with greek letters chosen from the end of the alphabet (i.e. GRF2 = GRF ω) [167]. They are expressed ubiquitously and the proteins containing forkheadassociated domains excepted, they are the only known phosphoprotein-binding proteins in plants [36, 199]. The major challenges to understand the functions of 14-3-3s in plants are, to identify their clients and to determine how they alter those structure and function. 14-3-3 proteins are able to regulate the target protein directly or can bring together two different partners, because two binding grooves are present due to dimerization.

It has been suggested that several metabolic enzymes are modified upon 14-3-3 binding, i.e. nitrate reductase [99] and sucrose-phosphate sythase [131], both are also known to be phosphorylated by CPKs (see 1.3.1). Some isoforms may also be able to bind directly to CPK1 and increase its activity [29]. CPK3 is also regulated by certain 14-3-3 proteins. For example, it phosphorylates At14-3-3 ζ , which in turn leads to CPK3 degradation in the end [97].

In addition to their regulation of cytoplasmic localized proteins such as CPKs and other enzymes, 14-3-3 proteins are also regulators of membrane associated proteins. For example, the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase is activated upon 14-3-3 binding, while F-type ATP synthases are inhibited [28]. Channels have also been reported to interact with 14-3-3 proteins. For instance, regulation of K⁺-conducting vacuolar channels by Ca^{2+} , CPKs and 14-3-3s has been described [44, 101, 212] and KAT1 (K⁺ channel *Arabidopsis thaliana* 1) interacts directly with 14-3-3 proteins in a manner, that shifts its activation curve and maximal conductance, as well as the total number of channels integrated in the plasma membrane [173, 192, 193]. The vacuolar channel TPK1 and the SV channels (Slow Vacuolar channels) are influenced by the same GRF, GRF6, in an opposing way. TPK1 is activated in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner [101], while SV channel activity is suppressed [212].

Other identified potential interaction partners of 14-3-3 proteins predict the involvement of 14-3-3 proteins in cell cycle regulation and hormone signaling cascades [31, 158]. Schoonheim et al. showed 14-3-3 participation in ABA signal transduction *in vivo* in barley [177].

14-3-3 proteins bind and influence phosphoproteins, but they are also phosphorylated on various residues themselves [139, 165, 196]. Swatek et al. recently identified several CPKs that are responsible for these phosphorylation events [199]. Ser²⁴⁴ had earlier been identified as a phosphorylation site in 14-3-3s and is likely to be involved in phosphorylation of 14-3-3s by CPKs [139, 196, 199]. Luo et al. found GRF2 to be up-regulated under drought stress and GRF8 as well as CPK21 up-regulated under salt stress [110]. Furthermore, the Ca²⁺ signal that occurs upon salt stress is amongst others decoded by 14-3-3 proteins followed by modulation of SOS protein and PKS5 kinase activity and regulation of Na⁺ homeostasis [233].

In summary, plant 14-3-3 proteins can be considered as key nodes in signaling networks and may participate in establishing crosstalk between diverse pathways, as has already been shown for their animal counterparts.

1.4 Stress physiology in higher plants

In order to control growth and development, an organism needs to be able to perceive, integrate and transduce internal and external signals. Plants as sessile organisms need to respond to continuously varying environmental changes and abiotic (i.e. salt stress or drought) as well as biotic (i.e. pathogens) stress signals. Phytohormones are structurally and biochemically diverse small compounds whose perception and signaling manipulate practically all cellular processes that steer plant growth, development and adaptation in order to rationalize the use of resources for the fitness of a plant. In the past decades breakthrough discoveries in phytohormone sensing and signal transduction were made.

1.4.1 Jasmonate - the wounding hormone

Jasmonates (JAs) are enzymatically formed oxylipins (oxygenated fatty acid derivatives). With their discovery in the 1960s, JAs were thought to be only secondary metabolites in the oil of *Jasminum sp.* flowers [222]. Now it is known, that plants produce JAs to regulate a multitude of different processes and JAs belong to the group of highly investigated phytohormones.

JAs, together with salicylic acid and ethylene, coordinate a plant's immune response to pathogenic attacs. By crosstalk of the different pathways the immune system is being tweaked and JA is presumed to be responsible for defense reactions upon necotrophic pathogens and chewing and biting insects. Increase of JA levels and activation of JA signalling follow wounding by herbivores. [88, 160] 2013 Mousavi et al. linked the membrane potential depolarization upon wounding to the activation of JA signalling in *Arabidopsis thaliana* [133]. Likewise, in carnivorous plants, prey capture triggers JA biosynthesis and signaling in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner, finally leading to activation of secretory glands and prey digestion [76].

Besides being a stress hormone JA also is involved in developmental processes like flower and pollen development, root hair formation, seed germination or leaf senescence [223]. JAs also induce biosynthesis of many secondary metabolites, like alkaloids or glucosinolates via JA-responsive transcription factors (TFs) [223, 243].

The first steps of JA formation take place in the chloroplasts. There polyunsaturated C_{16} - and C_{18} fatty acids are oxygenated by enzymes like lipoxygenase (LOX) and allene oxide synthase (AOS). The cyclated derivatives are transported to peroxisomes, where several β -oxygenation steps are performed. This leads to formation of jasmonic acid, which is then modified further in the cytoplasm. For studying JA signaling a volatile methyl esther of JA, methyl jasmonate (MeJA), has been widely used. It is generated out of JA by jasmonate methyl transferase (JMT) and was thought to be the preferentially active signal in JA response until the specificity of jasmonoyl-isoleucine (JA-IIe) was discovered. The modification of JA to JA-IIe is catalyzed by the JA-amino acid synthase 1 (JAR1).[66, 194, 203, 223]

Even though phytohormones have a wide variety in both their chemical structure and the processes they regulate, their signalling pathways show strikingly parallel mechanisms. The degradation of repressor proteins through the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is one appliance that is used by a lot of plant hormones. The most important step in the UPS is ubiquitin (Ub)- conjugation to a target protein, which determines it for degradation by the 26S proteasome. [159, 172]

JA perception and signal transduction are tightly regulated by the formation of protein complexes, out of TFs, repressor proteins and members of the UPS (compare figure 1.7). In the absence of JA the expression of hormone-responsive genes is prevented by blocking the TFs with repressor proteins belonging to the JASMONATE ZIM-domain family (JAZ). In *Arabidopsis* the JAZ family has 12 canonical members that contain two well-conserved domains for protein-protein interaction, the ZIM



Figure 1.7: Jasmonic acid (JA) perception via the COI1–JAZ co-receptor complex leading to JA-induced gene expression

In the resting state (left, low JA-Ile level), the MYC2 bound to a G-box within the promoter of a JA-responsive gene does not activate transcription due to repression by Jasmonate ZIM domain proteins (JAZs). The co-repressors Novel Interactor of JAZ (NINJA) bound to JAZs, and TOPLESS (TPL) repress transcription via histone deacety-lases (HDAs). TPLs is recruited via an ethylen response factor (ERF-)associated amphiphilic repression (EAR) motif. Upon stimulation (right, high JA-Ile level), JAZs are recruited by COI1. This leads to ubiquitinylation of the JAZs and subsequent degradation by the 26S proteasome. Hence, MYC2 can activate transcription of early JA-responsive genes such as those encoding JAZ and MYC2. Illustration adapted from [223] and [159].

and the Jas motif, and the atypical JAZ13 repressor with variant domains. JAZ5 to JAZ8 exhibit there own ethylen response factor (ERF-)associated amphiphilic repression (EAR) motif for the interaction with the co-repressor TOPLESS (TPL), while the other JAZs need to recruit another co-repressor, namely Novel Interactor of JAZ (NINJA), via interaction with the ZIM domain (compare fig. 1.7). The C-terminal Jas motif mediates the interaction of the JAZs with most TFs, for example the master JA-regulator MYC2. [38, 159, 223, 239, 243] MYC2, which belongs to clade IIIe of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) superfamily, was the first identified direct target of JAZ repressors [37, 38]. Several other JAZ-interacting TFs from different families have been identified since then.

Upon wounding JA synthesis is triggered and JA accumulates withing 30 seconds near the injury site [66]. The increase of bioactive JA-Ile stimulates the binding of JAZ to the F-box protein CORONATINE INSENSITIVE1 (COI1) and subsequent formation of the SKP1-Cullin-F-box protein (SCF) E3 ubiquitin-ligase complex. This leads to ubiquitination and consequent degradation of JAZ, which in return releases TFs and induces hormone-dependent transcription of their target genes. In this way downstream signaling processes and plant defense responses are modulated. Additionally, JA biosynthesis genes are upregulated likewise, giving a positive regulatory feedback loop for JA production. On the other hand JAZ genes are upregulated, too providing for a negative regulatory feedback. [38, 159, 223, 232, 239, 243]

In the field of JA physiology a lot of insight has been gained and it is out of question, that the bioactive forms of JA play a crucial role in systemic plant responses that vary in intensity, time of occurrence and spatial scale [89, 223]. Activation of secondary metabolic pathways, as well as direct signaling may occur, for example in order to enable a plant to reallocate energy from growth to defence mechanisms [88, 93].

1.4.2 Stomata and their distinct role in stress responses

The epidermis of higher plants is covered by a cuticle, a waxy, hydrophobic covering layer, impermeable to most substances, including water and CO_2 . To provide for CO_2 uptake during photosynthesis the epidermis of higher plants possesses stomata, microscopic pores, which are bordered and defined by pairs of guard cells. These specialized cells have a defined cell wall structure, which allows them to open and close the pore depending on the cell turgor. Changes in turgor pressure are accomplished by directed transport of K⁺ and inorganic anions plus biosynthesis of osmotically active metabolites, followed by passive water flux. So, stomatal movements require the regulation of several membrane ion channels, transporters and pumps. Furthermore guard cells are symplastically isolated from neighbouring cells allowing them to regulate their volume largely independently [227]. Fine control of stomatal aperture is essential to plant survival because they can control the balance of CO_2 -uptake for carbon fixation and concurrent water loss by regulating the width of the gap between the two guard cells.

Stomata respond to various environmental stimuli to optimize the transpiration rate and metabolism under fluctuating stress conditions in nature. Detailed studies of different signal transduction processes in guard cells provide important information for understanding the perception and integration of stress signals and the plant's responses towards them.

Bacteria lack the ability to penetrate plantal epidermis directly and need to use natural openings to enter a plant and initiate pathogenesis. Stomatal pores are crucial for gas exchange and thereby for plant survival, but these small holes in the cuticle and epidermis also present a possibility for pathogens to invade plants. To avoid this, plants have evolved mechanisms to close their stomata in response to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as flg22, a 22 amino acid long part of a flagellin peptide [126].

On the other hand, some pathogens have evolved effectors to prevent stomatal closure or even to actively open stomata. Melotto et al. (2006) found that several strains of the bacterium *Pseudomonas syringae* overcome PAMP-induced stomatal closure by employing the nonhost-specific polyketide phytotoxin coronatine (Cor) to reopen stomata for pathogenesis [126, 155]. Cor is a structural and functional mimic of JA-Ile [18]. In low concentrations Cor counteracts PAMP induced stomatal closure and even inhibits ABA responses in guard cells.

A plant's response to both biotic and abiotic stresses involves physiological, cellular and molecular processes with stomatal movement as a very early type of response. Post-translational modifications are essential processes for the functional dynamics of diverse proteins and therefore become important in the context of rapid (stress) signaling networks, too (cp. 1.3). Key players in the signaling pathways directing stomatal opening and closure undergo highly controlled, specific post-translational modifications, like phosphorylation and redox modification [240]. The above mentioned flagellin's signal transduction for example involves phosphorylation of the fig22-receptor Flagelling-Sensitive 2 (FLS2) and association with its co-receptor Brassinosteroid insensitive 1-Associated Kinase (BAK1) within less than 15 s [179]. Further downstream, the botrytis-induced kinase 1 (BIK1) and CPK5 phosphorylate and activate RBOH D (Respiratory Burst Oxidase Homolog D) to produce ROS [55, 103]. The importance of protein phosphorylation in stomatal movements is further supported by transcriptomic studies that identified 689 protein kinases and 113 protein phosphatases in Arabidopsis thaliana guard cell protoplasts [220]. This indicates that a huge array of (de-)phosphorylation events are involved in guard cell signaling [240].

1.4.3 ABA and stress signaling in stomata

The phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA) is involved in many plant developmental processes, such as seed dormancy, development and response to abiotic stress [140]. It is also known to play a certain role in early pre-invasive defense mechanism preventing microbe infection [204].

When a plant experiences drought stress or salinity and the consequent demand for saving water, concurrently synthesized ABA stimulates stomatal closure and inhibits stomatal opening by regulating ion fluxes in the guard cells [178]. In that way transpirational water loss can be reduced and CO_2 uptake assured. Stomata are able to close within a few minutes after an ABA stimulus, so all components for sensing the stimulus and achieving a rapid change in the ion balance must be existent in guard cells themselves [115].

Binding of ABA to its receptors, the RCAR/PYR1/PYL (Regulatory Components of ABA Receptor/Pyrabactin Resistance Protein1/PYR-Like) proteins in guard cells, results in conformational change and activation of a cascade of signaling events promoting stomatal closure [112, 163]. By this conformational changes, ABA receptors can interact with and inhibit the activity of some PP2Cs (Protein Phosphatases

type 2C) [112, 146, 163], including ABI1 (Abscisic Acid Insensitive 1) and ABI2. These PP2Cs are known to be negative regulators of ABA signalling in guard cells [127]. In contrast, OST1 (Open Stomata 1) is an ABA-activated protein kinase, that belongs to the SnRK (Sucrose Nonfermenting Kinase 1 Related) protein family and acts as a positive regulator of ABA responses [137]. It interacts with ABI1, but not with ABI2 in the way that the PP2C is able to dephosphorylate and inactivate one central node in the ABA network: OST1 [208, 236]. When ABI1 is fixed in the ABA-binding receptor complex, OST1 gets active and impinges on ABA-dependent gene expression and ion channels. Amongst others, slow anion channels as SLAC1 (Slow Anion Channel Associated 1) and SLAH3 (SLAC1 Homolog 3) are activated by OST1. SLAC/SLAH mediated anion efflux plays an essential role in the depolarization of the plasma membrane [62, 211]. Membrane depolarization inactivates guard cell inward-rectifying K^+ channels, such as KAT1 (Potassium channel in Arabidopsis thaliana 1) but activates the outward-rectifying K⁺ channel GORK (Guard cell Outward Rectifying K⁺ channel) [2, 15, 82]. The outward movement of ions results in turgor loss and the resulting guard cell shrinking causes stomatal closure. It has been proposed, that ABA can directly enhance K^+ efflux through GORK, too [153].

Besides the mentioned anion channels, activated OST1 phosphorylates several substrates, including RBOH D and RBOH F [1, 190]. These plasma membrane localized NADPH oxidases generate ROS, what in turn activates Ca^{2+} channels leading to Ca^{2+} release into the cytosol [92] and activation of Ca^{2+} signaling pathways.

CPKs function in parallel to the Ca²⁺-independent OST1 in stomatal closure (compare chapter 1.3.1), thus representing the Ca²⁺-dependent major hub in the guard cell ABA signaling network. CBL/CIPK combinations are involved in the Ca²⁺ dependent ABA signaling pathway as well (compare chapter 1.3.1). For example, CBL9 acts together with different CIPKs as negative regulator in ABA signaling, while its cognate homologue CBL1 seems to be not involved [35, 156, 157]. CPKs come also into play regarding the activation of RBOHs by phosphorylation [55, 60] (cp. 1.3.1). Thus, activation of CPKs downstream of the rise in ROS and Ca²⁺ levels could in turn promote ROS production by RBOH phosphorylation and consequently provide an amplification feedback regulation of the signaling pathway.

In addition to Ca^{2+} homeostasis, ROS accumulation enhances synthesis of nitric oxide (NO) by NR1 (nitrate reductase 1) [27]. NO can provide both positive and negative feedback in stomatal closure [61]. On the one hand it induces phophatidic acid (PA) production via activation of phospholipases, which in turn inhibts ABI1 and activates RBOH D and RBOH F [50, 241]. But then, accumulation of NO triggers degradation of ABA receptors via tyrosine nitration and inhibits OST1 and RBOH D activity by S-nitrosylation [237, 219, 30].

1.5 Aims of this work

Stress signaling in guard cells is a complex network that is far from being completely understood. This work wants to clarify new molecular details of signaling pathways involved in stomatal closure in response to biotic and abiotic stress stimuli. Creelman and Mullet (1997) have already shown that jasmonates accumulate in plants during drought stress [41], but in comparison to ABA signaling in guard cells very few studies have focused on the MeJA cascade leading to stomatal response. This thesis aims to identify components of the transduction system for ABA and jasmonates in *Arabidopsis thaliana* guard cell signaling networks. Using electrophysiological techniques in combination with biochemical assays, this study is focusing on the Ca²⁺ dependent regulation of the guard cell K⁺ efflux channel GORK within the hormonal pathways.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Plant material and handling

Arabidopsis thaliana has gained big attention as a model system for plant biologists, due to its short generation time and its small genome, whose whole sequence is available. In this work, guard cell protoplasts from this model plant were used for patch-clamp experiments as described below (see 2.1.4, 2.5.3) and excides rosette leaves were used in stoma assays (see 2.1.2).

2.1.1 Growth conditions

Seedlings of *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotype Col-0 were pricked out after 2 weeks and grown in standard soil EEP (Einheitserde Typ P, Patzer GmbH & Co. KG, Sinntal Jossa, D).

The fix conditions in the used climate chamber were 10/14 h day/night time and $21/16^{\circ}$ C day/night temperature, around 60% relative humidity and photon flux density 100 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. The plants were watered every third day without any additional fertilizers.

2.1.2 Stoma assays

Stomatal aperture measurements were carried out on leaves of 5 to 6 week old Arabidopsis thaliana plants (see 2.1.1). Two excised rosette leaves per experiment were incubated for 2 h in the light in buffer containing 10mM MES-KOH, pH=6.15, 10mM KCl, 50 μ M CaCl₂ (photon flux density 100 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) to promote stomatal opening.

After two hours incubation the solution was changed to incubation buffer containing the respective stimulus. As a control pure buffer was used and every day one set of Col-0 experiments was done, to control for environmental influences. The stimulus mediums were buffer-solutions with coronatine (Sigma Aldrich[®], product number: C8115), methyl jasmonate (Sigma Aldrich[®], product number: 392707) or \pm ABA (Sigma Aldrich[®], product number: A1049) in distinct concentrations (0.5-20 µM). Coronatine and ABA were dissolved in methanol as 100mM stock solutions, while methyl jasmonate was used pure (e.g. 2.24 µl per 10ml to obtain 10 µM). The incubation in the stimulus respectively control solution took place for one hour. Stomatal aperture was determined using a digital microscope (Keyence vhx, Keyence Corporation, Osaka, Japan) at 2,000x magnification. Length and width of 20 stoma per leaf were measured to subsequently get the ratio (width/length) for better comparison of the different results. Average and standard error of stomatal aperture ratios were calculated for each experiment. At least three independent experiments were performed per plant and condition.

2.1.3 Monitoring stomatal movements upon wounding

Detached leaves of Col-0 were incubated in bath solution containing 10mM KCl, 5mM MES-BTP, pH=6.0, 0.1mM CaCl₂ for 2-3 h under microscope light. Every 30 s a picture was taken and after ca. 10 min a neighbouring stoma, which was approximately 100µm away from the monitored stoma was wounded using a sharp electrode. The response of the stoma was recorded and the images were put together in a video.

2.1.4 Preparation of guard cell protoplasts

Epidermal peels of rosette leaves from about four weeks old *Arabidopsis* plants were incubated for 16 h at 18 °C in enzyme solution composed of 0.65% (wt/vol) cellulase Onozuka- R10 (Serva), 0.35% (wt/vol) macerozyme Onozuka-R10 (Serva), 0.4 M sorbitol, 0.05 mM KCl, 0.05 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM ascorbic acid, 0.05% (wt/vol) kanamycin sulfate (Fluka) and adjusted to pH 5.5 MES/Tris. Then, the suspension was filtered through a 50 µm nylon mesh, washed with washing solution (20 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM MES-Tris, pH=5.6, adjusted to an osmolality of 400 mosmol/kg with D-sorbitol) and centrifuged at 600 ×g and 4 °C for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded immediately and the enriched protoplasts were placed on ice in measuring chambers as samples of 50 µl (plus 250 µl washing solution) for minimum 1 h before they were used for patch-clamp experiments.

2.1.5 Tobacco leaf infiltration

Leaves of 6-7 weeks old *Nicotiana benthamiana* plants were transformed using the agroinfiltration method, essentially as described by Jung et al. [87] and Te et al. [201]. Cultures of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* were grown over night at °C in 50 ml Falcon tubes to an optical density of 1.5 - 2.0, pelleted by centrifugation, washed and resuspended in agromix solution containing 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM MES (pH 5.6/KOH), 150 μ M acetosyringone (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA).

2.2 Molecular biology

2.2.1 Cloning strategies

Molecular cloning is used to integrate DNA, in most cases a gene's coding sequence, into a vector suitable for the desired purpose. The generated circular, double-stranded plasmids can then be amplified in bacteria, usually in *E.coli*. Typically, the plasmids carry a minimum of one antibiotic resistance gene in order to select bacteria colonies containing the cloned vector.

2.2.1.1 USER system

The uracil-excision based cloning was introduced in the early 1990s [147, 191], has been commercially available since 2003 (uracil-specific excision reagent, USER^m, New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) and was established in molecular biology labs by Nour-Eldin *et al.* 2006 [149]. It provides a ligation independent way to generate recombinant DNA molecules at a very high efficiency.

The principle of the USER system relies on the ability of complementary overhangs at the ends of respectively PCR products or linearized vectors, to make stable hybridization products. These eight nucleotide long overhangs are generated in a vector containing a 38 bp long PacI cassette, by digestion with the restriction enzyme PacI (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA), with subsequent nicking by Nt.BbvCI (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA). This was carried out by digesting 10 µg vector DNA with 70 U PacI and 20 µl buffer overnight at 37°C in a total volume of 200 µl. Additional 20 U PacI, as well as 40 U Nt.BbvCI, were added the next day and the digestion was incubated at 37°C for another 6 h. The linearized vector was then checked on an agarose gel and purified with the QIAquick[®] PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, D). The required eight nucleotide overhangs on PCR products were generated by placing a single uracil residue in each primer. It is important to use a proof-reading polymerase that is able to read through uracils in the sequence, such as Phusion Cx, that was used for all PCRs performed in this work. The PCR products were then treated with uracil DNA glycosylase and DNA glycosylase-lyase Endo VIII, which are included in the USER[™] enzyme mix from New England Biolabs (Ipswich, MA). These enzymes catalyze the removal of the uracil residues and enable the dissociation of the single-stranded fragments upstream from this cleavage site.

For the purposes in this work, the PCR products were purified with the QIAquick[®] PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, D) and digested with 1.5 µl DpnI and 5 µl 10x Tango buffer (both from Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) in a total volume of 50 µl at 37°C for 1 h to remove the template and 20 min at 82°C to inactivate the enzyme. For the actual USER reaction, 4 µl of this PCR product were mixed with 2 µl linearized vector, 1 µl USER[™] enzyme mix and 5 µl water, incubated at 37°C for 25 min, followed by 25 min incubation at 25°C, then directly transformed into *E.coli* (see 2.2.2).

The USER^{\mathbb{M}} system can also be used for site-directed mutagenesis. In that case the primers need to be designed with the mutational nucleotide(s) of interest in their middle. The cloning process itself does not change for this purpose.

2.2.1.2 Gateway[®] and the 2in1 cloning system

The Gateway[®] recombinational cloning system from Invitrogen utilizes modified site-specific recombination sites of bacteriophage λ for highly efficient cloning. [73] Orientation of the cloned DNA is maintained by the use of two nearly identical but noncompatible versions of the λ att recombination sites.

In addition to antibiotic resistance genes, the positive selection gene ccdB is also present in the recombinant cassette on the vector backbones, in order to select the required recombinant product. This gene, taken from the *E.coli* F plasmid segregation control system, is able to inhibit *E.coli* DNA gyrase, thus cells are unable to grow. [19]

The gene of interest with flanking attB sites, generated by PCR using suitable primers, is recombined into a vector with the corresponding attP sites. This reaction is called BP recombination and it is accomplished by the λ Int and the IHF protein. The generated entry clones can then be used for LR recombination with different destination vectors. Both recombination reactions are usually complete within hours but can also be left overnight.

For this work, a 2in1 cloning system, which represents multisite Gateway cloning and was established by Grefen *et al.* 2012 [68], was used. This strategy enables coexpression of fusion proteins from a single plasmid, so ratiometric bimolecular fluorescence complementation assays (rBiFC). Two candidate genes for protein-protein interaction are to be cloned into a single vector backbone containing an internal fluorescence marker for expression control and also ratiometric analysis. Hence, the credibility of the results is increased and different protein pairs can be easily compared.

The vectors for this cloning system were kindly provided by the lab of Prof. Dr. Grefen at the University of Tübingen. Due to the *ccdB* gene (see above), the vectors were amplified in the *E.coli* strain *ccdBsurvival* (see 2.2.2). For BP recombination, 150 ng vector and about the same amount of template was used and incubated with 8 μ l TE buffer and 2 μ l BP clonase mix (Gateway[®] BP Clonase[®] II Enzyme Mix by life technologies, Carlsbad, CA) at room temperature for 3 h for CPKs, and overnight for GORK and then transformed into *MRF*' (see 2.2.2).

2.2.2 Work with bacteria

The bacterium *Escherichia coli* is extensively used in molecular biology laboratories for work with recombinant DNA due to its multiple application possibilities and simplicity of manipulation. In this work, different *E.coli* strains were used. For
amplification of the Gateway vectors (see 2.2.1.2) *ccdB survival* and *DB3.1* (both from Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) were used. In all other cases, *MRF*' bacteria (Stratagene, Amsterdam, NL) were used, apart from the insertion of GORK into pDONR221 P1P4, where *CopyCutter*^M*EPI400*^M (Epicentre) were used. Bacteria were stored at -80°C and defrosted on ice directly before transformation.

All strains were chemically competent, so plasmids were introduced into the cells via heatshock. For DNA retransformation 1-2 µl, for new cloned constructs the whole batch was added to the 50 µl thawed cells, incubated on ice for ca. 20 min, followed by 40 s at 42°C in a waterbath and again 2 min on ice. Then 450 µl SOC medium was added and the cells were left at 37 °C, gently shaking for ca. 1 h. This step was skipped when the plasmid contained the ampicillin resistance gene. The cells were plated on LB-plates (1.5% agar) containing the antibiotic for selecting for positive transformants and incubated at 37°C overnight. For *CopyCutter*[™]*EPI400*[™], this step was performed at room temperature for four days.

Single colonies were used for inoculation of LB-medium containing the specific selective antibiotic (concentrations 50 $\frac{\mu g}{ml}$ ampicillin/kanamycin/streptomycin; 100 $\frac{\mu g}{ml}$ spectinomycin) and incubated at 37°C or at 25°C overnight, with shaking. Plasmid DNA was then gained by using QIAprep[®] Spin Miniprep Kit or QIAGEN[®] Plasmid *Plus* Midi Kit (both Qiagen, Hilden, D) depending on the amount of present *E.coli* liquid culture, following the kit's manual's instructions and used for further attempts (see also 2.2.1).

2.2.3 In vitro synthesis of RNA

In vitro transcription is used to synthesize cRNA for later use for example, for expression in oocytes (see 2.4.2). Vectors (e.g. pNBI) containing a T7 promotor can be used for transcribing DNA fragments to RNA by the T7 polymerase. Fragments generated by *in vitro* polymerase chain reaction (IVT-PCR) were used as template DNA in this work. The conditions and reaction mix for this PCR reactions are shown in table 2.1. The used IVT-primers bind in the untranslated regions of the pNBI#16-vector (see *HIER CONSTRUCT LISTE EINFUEGEN!*) and linear PCR products containing the desired DNA and the T7 promotor result from this reaction.

Reaction mix	Step	Time	Temperature
36 µl Н ₂ О	1	$2 \min$	$98^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
10 µl 5x Phusion Cx-Buffer	2	10 s	$98^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
$1 \ \mu l \ dNTPs \ (10 \ mM)$	3	$30 \mathrm{s}$	$55^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
$1 \ \mu l \ IVT$ -Primermix (10 μM)	4	1 min	$72^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
0.5 µl Phusion polymerase	5	$5 \min$	$72^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
1 µl template	steps	2-4 wer	e repeated 30x

Table 2.1: Reaction mix and conditions for an IVT-PCR

The PCR products were purified with the QIAquick[®] PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, D) and analysed on an 1% agarose gel for the appropriate size and approximate amount of the products.

For RNA synthesis the AmpliCap-Max T7 High Yield Message Maker kit (Biozym, Hessisch Oldendof, D) was applied according to the kit's manual. 2.75 µl purified IVT-PCR product was added to the 7.25 µl mastermix, which contained 1 µl buffer, 4 µl CAP/NTP mix, 1 µl DTT, 1 µl enzyme and 0.25 µl RNAse inhibitor. The reaction was mixed thoroughly and incubated at 37° C for 1.5 h.

Then the RNA was precipitated by incubation at -20°C overnight after adding 20 µl NH₄Ac to each reaction. Following a centrifugation step of 30 min at 4°C and maximum speed, the pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, dried at 37°C and resuspended in 15 µl RNAse free water (supplied with the kit). 1 µl RNA was then mixed with 1 µl RNA loading buffer and verified by gel electrophoresis for the correct size. RNA yields were then measured by quantitation with 260 nm light absorption using a NanoDrop 2000c spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) and the RNA was adjusted to the desired concentration for injection into oocytes (GORK 600 $\frac{ng}{\mu l}$, CPKs and GRFs 200 $\frac{ng}{\mu l}$, see 2.4.2) with RNAse free water.

2.3 Cell culture

2.3.1 Handling of used cell strains

For patch clamp measurements, COS-7 cells were used. This cell line was originally derived from CV-1, a simian cell line (*Cercopithecus aethiops*) by transformation with an origin-defective mutant of SV-40 virus by Gluzman 1981 [67]. The COS-7 cells used in this study, were kindly provided by Dr. Jean-Baptiste Thibaud (Biochimie et Physiologie Moleculaire des Plantes, Montpellier) or ordered from CLS (Cell Lines Service GmbH, Eppelheim, D). They were cultivated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, gibco[®], Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), previously inactivated for 30 min at 56°C, and 1x penicillin/streptomycin. The cells were kept as adherent monolayers in cell culture bottles and dishes of different sizes (all from Nunc, Wiesbaden, D) in an incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

All handling of COS cells was carried out under sterile conditions (cleanbench, sterile material, etc.) and the condition of the cells in use was microscopically examined on a regular basis, usually daily (magnification 10x; Axiovert10, Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, D). The COS-7 cryostocks were kept at -80°C in FBS containing 10% sterile DMSO. For passaging of the maintenance culture, the approximately 80% confluent monolayer of COS-7 was washed with prewarmed PBS (gibco[®], Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), then trypsin-EDTA (0.5%, gibco[®], Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) was gently applied to the cells. Due to this proteolytic enzyme the cells were detached after 3-5 min and could be taken up in fresh medium and carefully resuspended. The cell suspension was seeded into new dishes/flasks containing fresh medium for the desired dilution (for later transfection 1:1 up to 1:16; for maintenance culture 1:25 - 1:30).

2.3.2 Transfection of CHO cells

Cells were transfected 1-3 days before patch clamp experiments. This transient transfections were performed using polyethylenimine (PEI) (1 $\frac{mg}{ml}$, dissolved at 70°C, pH=7.0) [24]. For each transfection in 2 ml medium, 4 µg GORK plasmid and 2 µg YFP (both in pcDNA3.1) were mixed with 12 µl PEI and 100 µl Optimem (gibco[®], Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and incubated at room temperature for a minimum of 20 min. Afterwards, this mixture was applied directly to the cells.

2.4 Double electrode voltage clamp

Double electrode voltage clamp (DEVC) is an outstanding method for the electrophysiological investigation of membrane proteins. The technique allows the analysis of currents conducted by, for example, channels over a cellular membrane for a given (clamped) membrane potential and diverse channel characteristics can be monitored and manipulated.

2.4.1 The principle of DEVC and the used setup

For DEVC, large cells with low membrane resistance, such as oocytes from Xenopus laevis, are impaled with two electrodes. Cells are clamped to a set membrane potential with these electrode. Transmembrane voltage is recorded through a voltage electrode, relative to ground, and a current electrode applies current to the cell, until the membrane potential equals the set command potential. Using negative feedback, it is possible to maintain the cell membrane at this voltage; the cell is "clamped" at the command potential. If ion channels cause a current through the membrane, the voltage drop is compensated by a current amplied to the membrane by the amplifier. The amplitude of this current corresponds to the current flow through the channels. By systematically changing the command potential, the currents through the membrane caused by the channel of interest, can be investigated. [181]

The oocyte chamber, perfusion system, micromanipulators and binocular microscope used in this work were set up on a vibration-cushioned table, shielded from external disturbances by a Faraday cage. All conducting parts of the setup were grounded. The preamplifier was the only electronical device, that was placed inside the Faraday cage. The current answer of the cell was led to the amplifier, where the signal was low pass filtered and could be monitored on the computer, which was connected to the amplifier via a 16 bit AD/DA converter (ITC16 ST, Instrutech Corporation, Colorado).

Microelectrodes, first described by Ling and Gerard 1949 [105], were pulled from

Kwik-Fil[™] borosilicate glass capillaries (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) using a PC-10 puller (Narishige, Tokyo, Japan). These capillaries were filled with 3 M KCl and fixed to the micromanipulators onto the Ag/AgCl electrodes made of silver wire electrolytically chlorated in a 3 M KCl solution. For the reference electrode the Ag/AgCl wire was inserted into a small plastic tube filled with 3 M KCl and clogged with an agar bridge (2% agar, 3 M KCl). It was connected to the preamplifier and placed in the measuring chamber near the oocyte.

For a measurement, a healthy appearing oocyte was placed in the chamber and the microelectrodes were inserted in the bath solution, using the micromanipulators. Before impaling the oocyte, the electrode resistance was verified as between 0.5-1.5 M Ω and the offset of potential and current electrode was compensated in current clamp mode. Then the oocyte was carefully impaled with the microelectrodes, assisted by an acoustical signal and controlled microscopically. After changing to voltage clamp mode, test pulses were applied to the cell (see 2.4.3).

2.4.2 The heterologous expression system Xenopus oocytes

Oocytes from the African clawed frog *Xenopus laevis* are an ideal tool for the expression and functional analysis of proteins. They have a diameter of about 1mm, a surface of several mm² and are able to heterologously translate mRNA into proteins within a few days. In addition, oocytes can readily bear impalement by microelectrodes and have little background activity, therefore offering a high signal-to-noise ratio in electrophysiological experiments.

The oocytes were collected by surgery of the institute's frogs and stored in ND96 solution (96 mM NaCl, 2 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM HEPES pH = 7.4, 50 $\frac{\mu g}{ml}$ gentamycin, π =220 mosml) 16°C.

For microinjection with cRNA (see 2.2.3) capillaries (3 1/2"Drummond # 3-000-203-G/X, Drummond Scientific Company, Broomall, PA) were pulled vertically in a PC-10 puller. The tip was broken using a microforge wire to get a 6-8 µm wide opening, to reduce damage the oocyte membrane. The capillary was filled with incompressible, coloured mineral oil and fixed into a micro injector (Nanoliter 2000 Injector, World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL). The RNA was sucked in the capillary and 30 ng GORK RNA was injected into each oocyte. For interaction measurements, the oocytes were subsequently injected with 10 ng CPKdEF RNA, and in some cases, also with 10 ng GRF RNA, 1-2 d before measuring. The oocytes were stored at 16°C in ND96 until the DEVC measurements were performed, 4-5 d after GORK injection.

2.4.3 Solutions and protocols used

All DEVC measurements were performed under perfusion by a bath solution described in table 2.2. The holding potential was -40 mV. The applied test pulse, as well as the activating pulse protocol were compiled with the program PatchMaster

bath solution		
$10 \mathrm{~mM} \mathrm{~KCl}$		
90 mM LiCl		
1 mM CaCl_2		
1 mM MgCl_2		
10 mM HEPES pH= 7.5		

 Table 2.2: Bath solution for DEVC experiments

v2.10 (HEKA Elektronik, Lambrecth, D) and generated by the amplifier (Turbo TEC 10CD, npi electronics, Tamm, D). The rectangular shaped pulses have the pivotal advantage, that the capacitive currents, that occur upon depolarisation of the membrane are very short (normally 1-2 ms) and do not have to be compensated. Therefore, the time dependent changes of the currents through the oocyte membrane can be analysed without any interrupting capacitive components. [181]



Figure 2.1: Pulse protocols applied in DEVC experiments; A is the test pulse for checking leakage of the oocytes and B the single voltage pulse protocol used for measurements

The test pulse (see figure 2.1 A) was applied to the oocytes in the beginning of a measurement to assess their leak currents and only cells with leak currents \leq 0.08 µA were used for measurements. The remaining leakage was subtracted from the recorded currents during analysis. The currents of the oocyte membrane were investigated by applying the single voltage protocol shown in figure 2.1 B. Based on a holding voltage of -40 mV, followed by a hyperpolarisation to -80 mV for 1 s to deactivate possibly active channels, different test voltages were applied for 3 s (-100 mV to 90 mV, in steps of 10 mV). The clamp was then returned to -80 mV for 0.5 s to deactivate the channels and then back to the holding voltage.

2.5 Patch clamp measurements

The patch clamp technique was developed in 1976 by Neher and Sakmann and is another technique for investigating ion channels electrophysiologically [141]. It allows measurements at a higher resolution and even single channel currents can be measured in vivo, for example in mammalian cells, like the COS-7 cells used in this work. In patch clamp experiments, a glass micropipette with a tip diameter of around 1 µm is placed on the cell surface. By applying negative pressure, a membrane piece within the pipette opening is sealed off and a high resistance in the range of $G\Omega$ needs to be achieved for successful measurement of currents in the range of pA to nA (= gigaseal). This configuration is called "cell-attached" or "on-cell". The solution outside the cell can be manipulated and the composition of the cytoplasm remains the same. This way, channels in the membrane patch can be investigated under physiological conditions. By applying more vacuum and/or short electric voltage pulses the membrane patch can be ruptured while the gigaseal still remains. Thus, the "whole-cell" configuration is achieved and the currents of the whole cell membrane can be measured under voltage clamp conditions. The pipette solution replaces the cytoplasm and so the inside of the cell has a defined composition. This conformation can be realized for small cells and even carrier provoked currents can be registered. [181]

A biological membrane possesses both ohmic (\mathbf{R}_m) and capacitive $(\mathbf{C}_m \simeq 1 \frac{\mu F}{cm^2})$ electrical features, connected in parallel. With the help of a patch clamp electrode, filled with an electrolyte solution, so access to the cell interior, also filled with an electrolyte, is gained. This access holds another resistance, that can be considered as connected in series to the membrane resistance, the series resistance (\mathbf{R}_s) . This configuration allows the experimentator to impose defined potentials on the membrane with the use of a proper amplifier. This causes currents, that can influence the membrane polarisation or can flow off by the membrane conductivity. These currents can be analyzed in a patch clamp measurement. [181]

2.5.1 Setup, material and solutions

The setup was build up according to the description in Hamill *et al.* (1981, [69]). An inverse microscope (Axiovert25, Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, D) equipped with an UV-lamp and a micromanipulator (Scientifica, Uckfield, UK) were arranged on an air-suspended table, surrounded by a Faraday cage. The microscope stage had a cavity for holding the measuring cuvette, which was simply a cut-off small petri dish. Polyethylene tubes for perfusion were adjusted as desired on the edges of the cuvette. They were connected via glass olives to peristaltic pumps (Pharmacia LKB Pump P-1, Pfizer, New York, NY), which controlled the flow rate of the bath solution. Inside the Faraday cage, a tube system for concerted sucking and an u-pipe with a syringe to apply positive pressure, was installed. This system was regulated by a three-way valve. All electronic devices, besides the preamplifier were

located outside the Faraday cage and all conductive elements inside the cage were grounded. The preamplifier was connected to the reference electrode and passed the measured signals to the computer via a filter (LHBF-48x, npi electronics, Tamm, D), an AD/DA converter (ITC 16, Instrutech Corp., Colorada) and the amplifier (PatchClamp-L/M-EPC7, HEKA Elektronik, Lambrecht, D). All operations were carried out with the software Pulse 8.80[®] 2006 (HEKA Elektronik, Lambrecht, D).

The micropipettes were pulled from borosilicate capillaries (1.5-1.8x100 mm, Kimble Chase) using a vertical puller (Narishige, Tokyo, Japan). Prior pulling, the capillaries' inside was coated with the hydrophobic substance Sigmacote (SL-2, Sigma, St. Lous, MI), to minimize the system's capacity and support sealing the membrane. After pulling, the pipette tip was covered with Sylgard[®] (184 silicone elastomer kit, Dow Corning Corporation, Midland, MI) also to reduce system capacity and heated in a microforge to produce a smooth surface that would assist in forming a high resistance seal with the cell membrane. [150]

The Ag/AgCl electrodes and reference electrode were made as described in 2.4.1, except instead of 3 M KCl, only a 0.3 mM KCl solution and agar were used for reference electrode preparation.

The used solutions are listed in table 2.3. The solutions were kept at 4°C and heated up to room temperature before usage. The osmolality was verified on a regular basis using a vapor pressure osmometer (5520, Wescor, Logan, UT).

 Table 2.3: Contents of the solutions used for patch clamp experiments in whole-cell mode on COS-7 cells

pipette solution	bath solution
150 mM KCl	$150 \mathrm{~mM~KCl}$
3 mM MgCl_2	3 mM MgCl_2
1 mM CaCl_2	$1 \text{ mM or } 5 \text{ mM CaCl}_2$
20 mM HEPES/Tris pH = 7.5	20 mM HEPES/Tris pH = 7.5
5 mM EGTA	
$\pi = 340 \text{ mosmol} (\text{D-sorbitol})$	$\pi = 350 \text{ mosmol (D-sorbitol)}$

2.5.2 Performance of patch clamp measurements on mammalian cells

Transfected COS-7 cells, that had been diluted 1:10 before were patched adherent to a coverglass (see 2.3.1). The coverglass was washed in bath solution before placing

it in the measurement cuvette. A good fluorescing and healthy cell, without any contact to another cell was selected for measurements by UV microscopy.

Micropipettes for patch clamp recordings were filled with pipette solution (table 2.3) filtered through a 0.2 µm filter. First, the pipette tip was dipped into a small solution droplet and a small amount of the solution was sucked in by applying vacuum using a syringe. Then the pipette was backfilled with the filtered solution and freed from air bubbles by flicking and shaking. The prepared pipette was installed in the pipette holder of the micromanupulator, pressure was applied over the tube system, the pipette was moved into the bath solution and the offset potential was compensated. The filter was set to 1.3 kHz and the gain was always remained at 500 μ V/pA.

A rectangular test pulse was used for measuring the pipette resistance and monitoring the formation of the gigaseal. The pipette was moved slowly towards the cell, placed gently on the membrane and a membrane piece was sucked into the pipette tip by sucking on the mouthpiece. When a gigaseal was achieved, the system's capacity was compensated and rupture of the sealed patch was accomplished by either sucking slightly more or applying the zap pulse or both. If the gigaseal still existed after breaking through, the membrane capacity was compensated as well as the conductance of the electrode and the destroyed membrane and measurements could be performed. The leak current was digitally subtracted before quantitative analysis of the data.

2.5.3 Performance of patch clamp measurements on guard cell protoplasts

The whole-cell patch clamp configuration was established on guard cells isolated from epidermal peels as described in 2.1.4. Micropipettes were prepared analog to the procedure described in 2.5.2. Macroscopic current recordings were performed at a sampling rate of 100 µs and low-pass filtered at 1.3 kHz using an EPC7 patch clamp amplifier (HEKA Electronic, Lambrecht, Germany). From a holding potential of -60 mV, voltage pulses ranging from -180 to +100 mV were applied in 20 mV steps for 1 s. The standard bathing solution and the standard pipette solution, facing the cytosolic side of the plasma membrane, are both listed in the table 2.4. 5 mM EGTA in the pipette solution correspond to 1 μ M free calcium. To study the effect of JA on potassium channel activity guard cell protoplasts were preincubated with 0.1-1 μ M coronatine in washing solution (20 mM CaCl₂, adjusted to pH=5.6 using 5 mM MES/Tris with an osmolality of 400 mOsmol/kg using D-sorbitol) for 15min on ice. Steady state current amplitudes were determined at the end of each voltage pulse and normalized to the membrane capacitance of individual guard cell protoplasts. The clamped voltages were corrected off-line for the liquid junction potential.

pipette solution	bath solution	
100 mM KGlu	$10 \mathrm{~mM} \mathrm{~KCl}$	
5 mM EGTA	2 mM MgCl_2	
4.5 mM CaCl_2	10 mM CaCl_2	
2 mM Mg ₂ ATP	0.5 mM LaCl_3	
10 mM HEPES/Tris pH = 7.4	5 mM MES/Tris pH = 5.6	
$\pi = 440 \text{ mosmol} (\text{D-sorbitol})$	$\pi = 400 \text{ mosmol (D-sorbitol)}$	

 Table 2.4: Contents of the solutions used for patch clamp experiments in whole-cell mode on guard cell protoplasts

2.6 Biochemical work with proteins

There are several strategies to express proteins recombinantly. Conventional *in vivo* systems are for example bacteria, mostly *E. coli* or yeast. Cell-free *in vitro* expression describes the production of recombinant proteins in solution using cell lysates. It usually gives less amount of protein but has several advantages compared to conventional *in vivo* methods, like quickness and the possibility to express toxic proteins.

2.6.1 Solutions for protein biochemistry

- **TB medium** 1.2 % tryptone; 2.4 % yeast extract; 72 mM K₂HPO₄; 17 mM KH₂PO₄; 0.4 % glycerine; pH 7.4
- PBS buffer (10x) 1.4 M NaCl; 27 mM KCl; 100 mM Na₂HPO₄; 18 mM K₂HPO₄; pH 7.3
- GST elution buffer 50 mM TRIS/HCl, pH 8; 10 mM reduced glutathione
- **SDS running buffer (10x)** 15.15 g TRIS; 72 g glycerine; 5 g SDS; pH 8.3 (in 500 ml)
- Loading dye (6x) 500 mM TRIS/HCl, pH 6.8; 20 % SDS; 24 % glycerine; 0.012 % bromphenolblue; 200 mM DTT
- **Coomassie** 0.1 % Brilliant Blue R250; 50 % MeOH; 10 % acetic acid
- Destaining solution 25 % MeOH; 10 % acetic acid
- Dialysis buffer 150 mM NaCl; 50 mM HEPES/NaOH, pH 7.4
- Strep washing buffer 100 mM Tris/HCl, pH 8; 150 mM NaCl; 1mM EDTA; 0.5 mM Brij 35

- Strep elution buffer 100 mM Tris/HCl, pH 8; 150 mM NaCl; 1mM EDTA; 0.5 mM Brij 35; 2.5 mM desthiobiotine
- **CPK Kinase buffer (5x)** 250 mM HEPES (pH 7.4); 50 mM MgCl₂; 10 mM DTT; 25 mM EGTA; 5 mM CaCl₂
- **CIPK5 kinase buffer (5x)** 25 mM MnCl₂·4 H₂O; 5 mM CaCl₂; 10 mM DTT; 250 mM HEPES (pH 7.4)

2.6.2 Expression and purification of recombinant proteins

The constructs pIVEX(1.3)-WG:StrepII-CIPK5 and pET-24b(+):GST-GORK_ NT were kindly provided by the group Jörg Kudla (Universität Münster). The control SLAC1-N-terminus, as well as CPK3,6,21,23 and both parts of the GORK C-terminus were cloned into pGEX6P1:GST-V5-HIS via USER cloning (cp. 2.2.1.1). The GORK N-terminus consisted of amino acids 1-67 and GST-GORK-NT has a mass of ca. 34 kDa. The GORK C-terminus had to be split into two overlapping parts because it turned out to be unsoluble in *E. coli* and could not be purified in a whole. The first part (P1) cotains the amino acids 301 to 559 and GST-GORK-CT-P1 weighs about 56 kDa, while the second part (P2) includes amino acid 531 to amino acid 820 and GST-GORK-CT-P2 has a mass of approximately 58 kDa.

2.6.2.1 Expression in E. coli

All constructs besides pIVEX(1.3)-WG:StrepII-CIPK5 were transformed into Rosetta (Merck). Out of a fresh 5 ml overnight culture 100 ml TB-medium were inoculated with the distinct clones and incubated ca. 16 hours at 37 °C shaking. Then this culture was transfered into 1 l fresh TB-medium and put back to 37 °C and 130 rpm. Under regular control the expression culture was grown to an OD600 of 0.6 - 0.8. When this density was reached the expression was induced with 0.4 mM IPTG and the culture was now put to 18 °C and 130 rpm for about 18 h.

The cells were pelleted at 6000 xg for 15 min and resuspended in 40 ml cold PBS. Lysis of the cells was achieved by adding 5 mg lysozyme (Sigma) and sonifying four times 20 s at about 100 W (Sonopuls HD 3100 VS 70 T; Bandelin) on ice. The lysate was pelleted 25 min at 16.000 xg and 1 °C (with an OptimaTML-100K; Beckmann Coulter; 45 Ti rotor).

2.6.2.2 Purification by GST-tag

Glutathion-S-transferase (GST) has been used widely to tag proteins N- or Cterminally for purification via affinity chromatography. A glutathion matrix binds the tagged protein and by addition of reduced glutathion it can be eluted. GST is a quiet big tag and has a mass of ca. 26 kDa. All proteins used in this work besides CIPK5 have a N-terminal GST-tag and therefore the supernatant from the ultracentrifugation step (cp. 2.6.2.1) was used for purification with glutathione sepharose according to the manual (Glutathione Sepharose 4B; GE Healthcare). To bind the tagged protein to the matrix the lysate was incubated for 1-3 h at 4 °C with 750 µl sepharose, then washed 3-5 times with cold PBS, followed by 4-6 elution steps with 600 µl GST elution buffer. The elution fractions were dialyes at 4 °C overnight, analyzed via SDS PAGE (Thermo Fisher Scientific Precise Tris-Glycine Gels 4-12%)and stored at -20 °C. The samples of CPK3, 6, 21, and 23 were stored with 50% glycine as cryo-protectant and 1x proteinase inhibitor (EGTA free, Roche).

2.6.2.3 Cell free expression and purification of StrepII-CIPK5

For expression of StrepII-CIPK5, pIVEX(1.3)-WG:StrepII-CIPK5 was used with the continuous exchange cell-free (CECF) protein *in vitro* expression system RTS 500 Wheat Germ CECF Kit (biotechrabbit) according to the kit's manual. The 1 ml reaction contained 300 µl wheat germ lysate, 300 µl reaction mix, 40 µl amino acid mix, 4.5 µl methionine, 55.5 µl reconstitution buffer, 20 µl template DNA, 24 µl Brij 35 (20.5 mM), 256 µl DEPC water and was incubated in the reaction chamber containing 10 ml feeding mix 24 h at 24 °C and 150 rpm.

The purification of the lysate was executed according to the manufacturer's protocol using Strep-Tactin MacroPrep Matrix (iba lifesciences) and the product was checked via SDS PAGE and dot blot.

2.6.3 In vitro kinase assays

To investigate the phosphorylation reaction of several kinases with the GORK Nand C-terminus *in vitro* phosphorylation assays were performed. SLAC1-N-terminus served as a positive control for the CPKs, as this reaction has been shown before . In general 1-3 µg purified protein in the respective elution buffer and 5mCi γ^{32P} ATP (100 µM ATP; 3.000 Ci/mmol; Hartmann Analytic) were used for each reaction. The reactions were incubated for 30 min at room temperature and stopped by adding SDS loading dye and heating to 90 °C for 5 min.

The samples were then ran on an SDS PAGE (Thermo Fisher Scientific Precise Tris-Glycine Gels 4-12%), fixed by Coomassie staining for 30 min and destained until the background was cleared to get rid of unspecific radioactivity on the gel. The visualization of the phosphorylation was achieved with the help of an imager (BAS 2000, FujiFilm) and the softwares Basread (FujiFilm) and Aida (raytest).

3 Results

3.1 Wounding triggers JA signaling in guard cells

Wounding enhances JA levels in different *Arabidopsis* ecotypes and has also been implicated in promoting stomatal closure [174]. Stomatal aperture assays on wildtype Col-0 leaves (cp. 2.1.2) underline this finding. Figure 3.1 A shows that mechanical wounding with a forceps leads to local, as well as systemic stomatal closure.

The systemic leaf was in position +3 of the wounded local leaf. 15 min after wounding, both the local and systemic stomata exhibit an aperture ratio of lower than 0.2, while in control leaves the aperture ratio is higher than 0.4. Thus, wounding results in a reduction of over 50% of stomatal aperture. The time course of woundinginduced stomatal movement can be monitored easily as shown in figure 3.1 B, where a neighbouring stoma (around 100 µm apart) was damaged with a sharp microelectrode at time point 12:30. Around less than 5 min after wounding (time point 17:00) the closure is already at its maximum and the stoma remains closed until the end of the recording 28 min post wounding.

To follow wounding induced hormonal signaling the recently developed genetically encoded, fluorescent JA-biosensor Jas9-VENUS ([100]) was employed. Jas9-VENUS allows quantification of dynamic changes in JA levels *in planta* with high spatiotemporal sensitivity. The sensor's signal is dependent on bioactive JA-Ile, COI1 as co-receptor, a functional JAZ motif and proteasome activity. While not interfering with endogenous JA perception and signaling responses, Jas9-VENUS is specifically and rapidly degraded in a bioactive JA dose-dependent manner. A nuclear Histone marker fused to a red fluorescent protein (H2B-RFP) is used for ratiometric analysis of the sensor's fluorescent signal. [100]

Figure 3.3 D shows that Jas9-VENUS/H2B-RFP fluorescence ratios in guard cells decline significantly after wounding. Concurrently stomata close fully within 2 hours after wounding (3.3 C). These findings suggest that, in the manner of wounding, activation of the guard cell JA signaling cascade precedes stomatal closure. In unwounded leaves this correlation could not be found (3.3 A and B; Dr. Antoine Larrieu, Université de Lyon). The idea that wounding addresses the JA pathway in guard cells is corroborated by the finding, that both stomatal closure and JA signaling was impaired upon wounding in the *coi1* mutant (3.3 A and B; Dr. Antoine Larrieu, Université de Lyon).



Figure 3.1: Wounding induces local and systemic stomatal closure

(A) Stomatal aperture assays of wildtype Col-0; Guard cells were pre-opened in the light for 2 h, then control apertures were measured and one leaf per plant was mechanically wounded using forceps. Apertures were determined 1h after the wounding as the ratio of stomatal width to length. Systemic leaf was in position +3 of the local leaf. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean \pm S.E., n \geq 80 stomata

(B) Monitoring wounding induced closing of an open stoma (12:30h right before wounding); a neighbouring stoma (around 100 µm away) was damaged with a sharp electrode and the movement was recorded until 28 min after the wounding; closing is at its maximum less than 5 min after wounding (time point 17:00) and the stoma remains closed until the end of the recording (time point 40:30h); time points reflect minutes after starting the experiment; experiment carried out by Dr. Shouguang Huang (University of Würzburg).

3.2 GORK is an essential part of JA-induced stomatal closure

In 2003 Evans showed in patch clamp studies on *Vicia faba* guard cell protoplasts that MeJA affects K^+ channel activity and promotes potassium efflux and thereby stomatal closure in a concentration-dependent manner [57]. The *Arabidopsis thaliana* genome includes the two xylem parenchyma and guard cell expressed K^+ efflux channels SKOR and the GORK, respectively [6, 2]. Taking advantage of the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* and its available mutants, whole-cell patch clamp measurements on guard cell protoplasts isolated from Col-0 wild-type (wt) or *gork1-2* (GABI_865F05) mutants were performed under asymmetric potassium conditions with 100 mM K⁺ in the pipette solution and 10 mM K⁺ in the bath solution. Starting from a holding potential of -60 mV rectangular-shaped voltage



Figure 3.3: JA signaling precedes stomatal closure upon wounding

(A, C) Boxplots showing stomatal apertures in response to wounding of wildtype Col-0 (both) and *coi1-1* homozygous mutants expressing the JA-sensor p35S::Jas9-Venus-N7 (onl A). Epidermal strips were taken from the abaxial side of leaves that were unwounded or wounded for the indicated time (n indicates number of stomata measured).

(B, D) Boxplots showing the ratiometric quantification of Jas9-VENUS/H2B-RFP fluorescence of epidermal strips shown in (A) respectively (C) indicative for JA signaling efficiency.

The confocal images below (E) show representative images including magnifications for the different time points analyzed. The experiments were performed and analyzed by Dr. Antoine Larrieu (Université de Lyon). pulses ranging from -170 to 100 mV were applied to the patched cell. Representative recordings and statistical analysis are shown in figure 3.5. Under control conditions large inward (-90 \pm 9 pA/pF at -160 mV) and small outward (13 \pm 1.7 pA/pF at 100 mV) K⁺ currents were elicited in wt Col-0 guard cells (figure 3.5 A, left traces). The depolarization activated outward currents were absent in the *gork1-2* mutant (1.7 \pm 0.6 pA/pF at 100 mV), while K_{in} currents were comparable to wt or even slightly higher (-162 \pm 23 pA/pF at -160 mV; figure 3.5 A, right traces).



Figure 3.5: GORK K_{out}^+ currents are a target of JA signaling in guard cells

Patch-Clamp experiments showing representative whole cell current densities from guard cell protoplasts of wt Col-0 (left panel) and gork1-2 (GABL865F05) mutants (right panel) under control conditions (A) or in response to 1 μ M Cor (gork1-2) or 0.1 μ M Cor (Col-0) (B). Starting from a holding potential of -60 mV rectangular-shaped voltage pulses ranging from -180 to 100 mV elicited large inward (-90 \pm 9 pA/pF at -160 mV) and small outward (13 \pm 1.7 pA/pF at 100 mV) K⁺ currents under control conditions in wt Col-0 guard cells. The outward currents appeared absent in gork1-2 under control as well as under Cor treatment. Col-0 guard cells showed highly increased outward currents upon 15 minutes preincubation with COR.

(C) I/V plots of Col-0 (left panel) and gork1-2 (right panel) guard cell K⁺ current densities under control (white symbols) as well as Cor stimulated (grey symbols) conditions. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean \pm SE, n ≥ 4 Following a 15 min preincubation with Cor a significant increase of the outward K⁺ current density by 3.62 ± 0.85 fold (p < 0.005) was observed in the wt Col-0 guard protoplasts (figure 3.5 B and C, left; 47 ± 11.5 pA/pF at 100 mV)). Again, K+ efflux currents were absent in the *gork1-2* knockout mutant (figure 3.5 B and C, right; 3.7 ± 1.5 pA/pF at 100 mV). Opposite to that in both wt and *gork1-2* the activity of inward rectifying K⁺ channels appeared significantly inhibited upon Cor treatment (figure 3.5 B and C) with Col-0 showing ca. half of the control currents at -160 mV (-45.5 \pm 9 pA/pF) and *gork1-2* even only about a fourth (-38.3 \pm 11.5 pA/pF). Taken together the patch clamp measurements suggest that GORK represents a target of JA-signaling in guard cells.

This finding was confirmed by investigation of guard cell responses to MeJA or ABA in stomatal aperture assays (see 2.1.2). As seen in figure 3.7, the *gork1-2* mutant exhibited partially impaired stomatal closure upon externally applied ABA with a stomatal aperture ratio of 0.31 ± 0.005 (in Col-0 background) respectively 0.27 ± 0.009 (in Ws background) after ABA application compared to 0.41 ± 0.004 (Col-0) respectively 0.47 ± 0.010 (Ws) under control conditions.



Figure 3.7: GORK functions specifically in JA induced stomatal closure

Stomatal aperture assays of wildtype Col-0 and gork1-2 (left) or wildtype WS and gork1 (right). Guard cells of excised leaves were pre-opened in the light for 2 h, then incubated with either 20 μ M (±)-ABA or 10 μ M MeJA for 1 h. Both wildtypes show the same responses, while both *GORK*-knockouts are partially impaired in ABA-induced closure and do not close at all upon JA stimulus. Apertures were determined as the ratio of stomatal width to length. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean ± S.E., n≥ 80 stomata

In comparison wt Col-0 and wt Ws show a maximum closure upon ABA treatment with a stomatal aperture ratio of 0.22 ± 0.002 (Col-0) respectively 0.27 ± 0.009 (in

Ws background) after ABA application compared to 0.22 ± 0.002 (Col-0) respectively 0.24 ± 0.008 (Ws) under control conditions (figure 3.7, white bars). On the other hand stomatal closure in GORK-knockout leaves was completely abolished for the MeJA stimulus with a stomatal aperture ratio of 0.42 ± 0.005 (in Col-0 background) respectively 0.45 ± 0.010 (in Ws background)(figure 3.7, black bars). The stomatal behaviour in both wt ecotypes towards JA (Col-0: 0.24 ± 0.003 , WS: 0.23 ± 0.008)and ABA is comparable. Hence, this JA stoma phenotype seems to be independent of the respective *Arabidopsis* ecotype. Together, this results establish GORK function as an essential step during JA-induced guard cell response.

In a physiological context the function of GORK in JA signaling can be shown with the wounding stoma assay, already seen in figure 3.1 for wt Col-0. One hour after wounding gork1-2 leaves showed very weak stomatal closure response both systemically (stomatal aperture ration 0.33 ± 0.01) and locally (stomatal aperture ration 0.38 ± 0.01) compared to the wildtype (locally 0.17 ± 0.01 and systemically 0.19 ± 0.01 ; figure 3.9). This indicates an unique role of GORK in (wounding induced) JA signaling in guard cells.





Stomatal aperture assays of wildtype Col-0 and gork1-2. Guard cells were pre-opened in the light for 2 h, then control apertures were measured and one leaf per plant was mechanically wounded using forceps. Apertures were determined on excised leaves 1h after the wounding as the ratio of stomatal width to length. Systemic leaf was in position +3 of the local leaf. The stomatal closing response that appears in the wt upon wounding both locally and systemically is not present in the gork1-2 leaves. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean \pm S.E., n \geq 80 stomata

3.3 Regulation of GORK via calcium-dependent, reversible phosphorylation

 Ca^{2+} is a basic second messenger in eukaryotic organisms that often targets membrane transporters and channels via phosphorylation by Ca^{2+} -dependent kinases. Source of Ca^{2+} in plants' second messenger cascades can be either intracellular compartments or the apoplast as well as neighbouring cells.

3.3.1 GORK interaction with CIPK5 and ABI2 provides for channel activity control

Cytosolic Ca^{2+} oscillations are known to be a crucial part of both short-term and long-term regulation of stomatal closure [3]. In 2010 Islam et al. found, that Ca^{2+} oscillations together with cytosolic alkalization function in JA signaling in *Arabidopsis* guard cells. Potentially, this Ca^{2+} -based regulation is carried out via Ca^{2+} -regulated kinases which modulate the activity of the channels involved in stomatal closure, mainly anion channels and the K⁺ channel of interest in this work - GORK.

In search for Ca^{2+} -regulated kinases interacting with GORK yeast two-hybrid experiments with guard cell-expressed members of the calcineurin B-like interacting protein kinase (CIPK) family were performed. Thereby, CIPK5 was identified as the only member of this kinase family to associate with the N-terminal (NT) domain of the GORK channel (data not shown, [58]). A combination of CIPK5 with all 10 CBLs from *Arabidopsis* further identified CBL1, CBL4, CBL5 and CBL9 as potential interaction partners of the kinase (data not shown, [58]). Those interactions were confirmed by bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) assays in transiently transformed *Nicotiana benthamiana* leaves or *Arabidopsis* mesophyll protoplasts (figure 3.11), respectively.

Co-expression of full-length GORK-YFP^C with YFP^N-CIPK5 caused readily detectable fluorescence in contrast to YFP^N-CIPK15 as control (figure 3.11 A). This implies a specificity of the CIPK5-GORK interaction, also observed in BiFC analysis of transiently transfected protoplasts (figure 3.11 C). Efficient interaction was further revealed with YFP^N-CIPK5 and the guard cell-expressed Ca²⁺ sensors CBL1-YFP^C and CBL9-YFP^C but not with CBL7-YFP^C (figure 3.11 B).

To identify regulatory components counteracting the potential CBL-CIPK impact on GORK, the guard cell expressed type 2C (PP2C)-type protein phosphatases ABI1 and ABI2, which are well-known negative regulators of ABA-dependent stomatal closure ([112, 163], cp. 1.4.3), were analyzed in the same way. First yeast two-hybrid analysis provided evidence for interaction of GORK-NT with ABI2 but not with ABI1 (data not shown, [58]). In BiFC analysis in *Arabidopsis* protoplasts this interaction was verified. In addition, an interaction of CIPK5-YFP^N with ABI2-YFP^C was observed as well (figure 3.11 C). These results are suggestive for an antagonistic regulatory phosphorylation/dephosphorylation switch due to specific



Figure 3.11: BiFC analysis of interaction of CIPKs with GORK, CBLs and ABI2

(A,B) Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) analysis in transiently transformed *N. benthamiana* epidermal cells of (A) GORK-YFP^C combined with either YFP^N-CIPK5 or YFP^N-CIPK15 (the nucleus region is marked by a white arrow) and (B) YFP^N-CIPK5 co-expressed CBL1-YFP^C, CBL9-YFP^C or CBL7-YFP^C. Microscopic analysis were performed 2-3 days after infiltration. White bars depict scale bars of 40 µm. (C) BiFC analysis in transiently transfected *Arabidopsis* mesophyll protoplasts of GORK-YFP^C combined with either CIPK5-YFP^N or YFP^N-ABI2 and CIPK5-YFP^N coexpressed with YFP^C-ABI2. Interaction is indicated by yellow while the red color represents autofluorescence of chloroplasts. White bars depict scale bars of 10 µm. Representative images of at least three independent experiments are shown. Pictures were

Representative images of at least three independent experiments are shown. Pictures were taken by Dr. Lena Schmidt (University of Münster).

interaction of GORK with the sensor kinase complex CIPK5-CBL on one hand and the phosphatase ABI2 on the other hand.

To support the potential regulatory phosphorylation-dephosphorylation mechanism for GORK, biochemical *in-vitro* kinase assays were performed using recombinant proteins. Combining the CIPK5 kinase protein with wildtype GORK N-terminal and C-terminal cytoplasmic domains *in vitro* revealed that this kinase only phosphorylates the amino terminus of the channel (figure 3.13 A).

Consistent with the suggested role of ABI2 as counteractor of CIPK5 mediated phosphorylation of GORK, CIPK5 dependent N-terminus phosphorylation was inhibited



Figure 3.13: The cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK is phosphorylated by CIPK5 and dephosphorylated by ABI2

(A) CIPK5 phosphorylates the N-terminus but not the C-terminus of GORK. *In vitro* phosphorylation assays were performed in a 1:23 molar ratio of kinase to GORK regions by incubating StrepII-tagged kinase CIPK5 (100 ng) with equivalent molar amounts of the GST-tagged proteins GORK N-terminal domain (amino acids 1 to 67), GORK C-terminus peptide 1 (amino acids 301 to 559) or GORK C-terminus peptide 2 (amino acids 531 to 820).

(B) ABI2 directly dephosphorylates the N-terminal domain of GORK. *In vitro* phosphorylation assays were performed with StrepII-tagged CIPK5 (75 ng), an equivalent molar amount of StrepII-tagged ABI2 and GST-tagged GORK N-terminus (1500 ng). CIPK5 - GORKNT in vitro kinase reactions shown in lanes 6 and 7 were performed for 30 min before StrepII-ABI2 protein (lane 6) or buffer control (lane 7) were added, and reactions were incubated for an additional 30 min. Experiments were performed by Dr. Lena Schmidt (University of Münster).

when the ABI2 phosphatase was present in the experiment from the beginning (figure 3.13 B, lane 5) or added 30 min after the reaction had been started (figure 3.13 B, lane 6). This provides clear evidence that ABI2 is not only interacting with CIPK5 and GORK, as seen before (figure 3.11 C), but also dephosphorylates either the N-terminus of the guard cell K^+ efflux channel or it dephosphorylates and inactivates CIPK5 or both. The efficacy of CIPK5 to phosphorylate the GORK N-terminus was unabatedly high irrespective of absence or presence of CBL1 in the *in vitro* reaction (data not shown; Dr. Lena Schmidt, University of Münster).



Figure 3.15: Regulatory function of GORK N-terminus

Current-voltage plot (B) of DEVC whole-oocyte experiments with GORK N-terminus deletion mutants without the first 7, 21 or 36 amino acids (A). From a holding potential of 0 mV a 1 s deactivation pulse at -80 mV followed by rectangular shaped, 2 s long pulses from -100 to 90 mV (in 10 mV steps), again 1 s at -80 mV were applied. The steady state currents shown are taken from the end of the rectangular shaped pulses. Deletion of 7 (dark grey, downward triangle) or 21 (grey, upward triangle) amino acids leads to significantly lower currents compared to the control (wt gork; black square). The d36 mutant (light grey circle) shows the same current densities as the control, but different kinetics.

Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean currents \pm SE, $n \ge 7$.

The regulatory function of the GORK N-terminus is underlined by the results of DEVC experiments on *Xenopus* oocytes (cp. 2.4), where N-terminal deletions clearly affect the GORK mediated currents, as shown in figure 3.15. In figure 3.15 B the difference between the currents of d7 ($0.75 \pm 0.12 \mu$ A) and d21 ($0.90 \pm 0.108 \mu$ A) mutants at 90 mV compared to the wildtype GORK-expressing oocytes (ctrl; 4.02 \pm 0.34 μ A) can be clearly seen. The d36 mutant shows wildtype-typical current height of 4.03 \pm 0.39 μ A at 90 mV but slightly differing kinetics in the I/V plot.

As CIPK5 possesses serine and threonine kinase activity, potential serines (S18, S23, S24 and the double mutation S23/S24, compare figure 3.15 A) and threonines (T34 compare figure 3.15 A and T48) in the GORK N-terminus were mutated to alanine using selective mutagenesis USER cloning (cp. 2.2.1.1). These mutants were analyzed in *in vitro* phosphorylation experiments (figure 3.17). The results show a clear phosphorylation of the wildtype GORK N-terminus by CIPK5, while both T34A and the double mutant (DM) have one-fifth of radiograph intensity relative to the wildtype (0.21 in both cases, average of three independent experiments each). The radiograph intensity of T48A appears half, namely 0.53 (average of three independent experiments) relative to that of the wildtype CIPK5 phosphorylation. All serine mutants show comparable radiograph intensities to the wildtype GORK N-terminus (1.02 for S18A, 0.96 for S23A, 0.94 for the double mutant, 1.09 for S24A; average of three independent experiments each). Together these data suggest that T34 and T48 are phosphorylated by CIPK5 while S18, S23 and S24 are not.



Figure 3.17: CIPK5 phosphorylates the GORK N-terminus at amino acids T34 and T48

(A) Autoradiography (upper half) and Coomassie-stained SDS gel of *in vitro* phosphorylation experiments of two different elutions of CIPK5 and different variants of the GORK N-terminus (wildtype wt, mutant T34A, double mutant DM T34A/T48A and mutant T48A) plus marker (M). It can be stated, that amino acids T34 and T48 of the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK are phosphorylated by CIPK5.

(B) Autoradiography (upper half) and Coomassie-stained SDS gel of *in vitro* phosphorylation experiments of CIPK5 and different variants of the GORK N-terminus (wildtype wt, mutant S18A, mutant S23A, double mutant DM S23A/S24A and mutant S24A) plus marker (M). The amino acids S18, S23, S24 of the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK seem not to be phosphorylated by CIPK5.

Experiments were performed together with Fabian Link, Bachelor's Thesis at Departement of plant physiology and biophysics, University of Würzburg

To back this phosphorylation hypothesis deduced from *in vitro* experiments, functional analysis was done using the electrophysiological techniques double electrode voltage clamp (DEVC) and patch-clamp (PC) on *Xenopus laevis* oocytes or *Arabidopsis thaliana* guard cell protoplasts, respectively (cp. 2.4 and 2.5). In the heterologous *Xenopus* oocyte system GORK characteristic steady state currents can be measured in whole cell configuration three to five days after nanoinjection of GORK-cRNA (cp. figure 3.19 and 2.4.2). As co-expression of CIPK5/CBL1 with GORK does not lead to any detectable effect on channel activity (data not shown), GORK appears to be preactivated by endogenous kinases in oocytes. Co-injection and -expression of ABI2 reduced these currents by $74 \pm 1.9\%$ to $26 \pm 1.9\%$, while in line with previous studies (see above) ABI1 had no effect and the currents remained at $88.1 \pm 8.6\%$ (cp. figure 3.19).



Figure 3.19: Antagonistic regulation of GORK currents by ABI2 and CBL1/CIPK5 in DEVC experiments

(A) DEVC whole-oocyte currents recorded upon 3 s voltage pulses ranging from -100 to +60 mV in 20 mV increments, using a holding potential of -40 mV. Expression of GORK (left trace) resulted in the typical slow activation of the Shaker-type efflux channel. Co-expression with ABI2 reduced GORK currents (middle). Addition of CIPK5 and CBL1 counteracted ABI2-inhibition (right). Current traces of representative cells are shown. (B) Current-voltage plot of steady-state currents (I_{SS}) of GORK (filled square), GORK co-expressed with ABI2 (filled dot) or GORK co-expressed with ABI2, CIPK5 and CBL1 (empty triangle). Data represent mean currents \pm S.E., $n \geq 6$

(C) Phosphatase specificity of the inhibition is shown in normalized steady-state currents at 60 mV from oocytes expressing GORK or GORK with either ABI1 or ABI2. ABI2 significantly inhibited GORK activity by 74 \pm 1.9 %. ABI1 had no significant effect on GORK (11.9 \pm 8.6 %). Results represent mean values \pm S.E.,n \geq 14

Experiments were partially performed by Dr. Sabrina Förster, PhD Thesis at Departement of plant physiology and biophysics, University of Würzburg.

In DECV experiments GORK inhibition by ABI2 could be partially relieved when CLB1/CIPK5 were co-expressed, as well. The sensor-kinase complex was able to restore $55.8 \pm 4.3\%$ of the maximum GORK channel activity (cp. figure 3.19 A right and B). CIPK15 did not affect ABI2 inhibition, neither did mutated CIPK5 versions with defective kinase activity (data not shown). Also, in the absence of CBL proteins CIPK5 did not relieve ABI2-mediated inhibition of GORK channel activity as was observed for a CBL1 mutant, disrupted in plasma membrane anchoring (CBL1^{G2A}; data not shown). Ca²⁺ binding to the CBL1 protein appeared necessary, as mutations in the Ca²⁺-coordinating amino acids of the Ca²⁺-binding EF-hands in CBL1 led to significantly reduced GORK-mediated K⁺ currents (CBL1^{E56QD91NE128QE172Q}; data not shown).

These results let one assume, that plasma membrane targeting of CBL1 and Ca²⁺ binding to CBL1 represent important steps in activation of GORK by CBL1/CIPK5 complexes. In DEVC experiments, as in *in vitro* phosphorylation studies, ABI2 and CBL1/CIPK5 antagonistically regulate GORK-mediated K⁺ currents. The possible impact of this regulation on JA-signaling in guard cells was investigated by patchclamp recordings on guard cell protoplasts of *cipk5-2* kinase loss-of-function mutant. Those mutant protoplasts exhibited outward and inward K⁺ currents comparable to the wildtype (see figure 3.5 A) under control conditions (figure 3.21 A).



Figure 3.21: CIPK5 is essential for JA-mediated GORK activation

Patch-Clamp experiments showing representative whole cell current densities from guard cell protoplasts of *cipk5-2* mutants (SALK_ 084455) under control conditions (A) or in response to 0.1 μ M Cor (Col-0) (B). Experimental procedures were as in figure 3.5. C) I/V plots of guard cell K⁺ current densities under control conditions (open symbols) and after Cor treatment (closed symbols); (n(ctrl)=16, n(Cor)=6; mean \pm S.E.). Inhibition of K⁺_{in} current density by Cor at -140 mV is 59 \pm 12%, p < 0.005.

Also, the inhibited K_{in}^+ current activity in the kinase mutant was corresponding to the wildtype. In contrast however, Cor failed to stimulate K_{out}^+ activity in the mutant (cp. figure 3.5 B, C and figure 3.21 B,C).

Together with phosphorylation and DEVC studies these patch clamp data suggests an important role for CIPK5 in JA-triggered fast stomatal closure.

As a physiological proof for this assumption the stomatal response to JA of several Arabidopsis thaliana loss-of-function mutants was analysed as described in 2.1.2. Intact leaves of 5-6 weeks old plants were treated with 20 μ M (±)-ABA or 10 μ M MeJA and this led to stomatal closure in case of wildtype Arabidopsis as seen in figure 3.7. The same figure illustrates a clear phenotype for GORK-knockout plants, where no response upon MeJA treatment and partially impaired stomatal closure upon externally applied ABA can be seen (see also figure 3.7). The same MeJA-phenotype appears in the case of cipk5-2 and cbl1/9 mutants as illustrated in figure 3.23. After 1 h, guard cells of both mutants were fully closed in response to ABA, resembling wildtype-like responsiveness. In contrast to wildtype, but reminiscent of the gork mutants, guard cells of neither cipk5-2 nor cbl1/9 closed in response to exogenously applied MeJA.



Figure 3.23: Guard cell responses of *cipk5-2*, *cbl1/9*, *abi1-1* and *abi2-1* mutants towards ABA or MeJA

Stomatal aperture assays of wildtype Col-0, cipk5-2, cbl1/9, wildtype Ler, abi1-1 and abi2-1. Guard cells of excised leaves were pre-opened in the light for 2 h, then incubated with either 20 µM (±)-ABA or 10 µM MeJA for 1 h. Both wildtypes show similar responses, while abi2-1, cipk5-2 and cbl1/9 mutants respond to ABA wt-like but do not close at all upon JA stimulus. Apertures were determined as the ratio of stomatal width to length. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean \pm S.E., $n \geq 80$ stomata. Experiments were partially performed by Dr. Sabrina Förster, PhD Thesis at Departement of plant physiology and biophysics, University of Würzburg.

For the first time these results identify CBL-type Ca^{2+} sensor proteins and their interacting kinase as essential components in fast JA signal transduction in guard cells. Concrete, these data provide strong evidence, that CBL1/9-CIPK5 complexes are essential for JA-triggered stomatal closure via their activating role for the GORK K⁺ efflux channel.

In order to assess the role of PP2Cs in this physiological context, also abi1-1 and abi2-1 mutants were tested. Both express mutant phosphatases refractory to inhibition by ABA receptors. In line with this reduced ABA sensitivity, stomata of both lines exhibited greater stomatal apertures under control conditions $(0.54 \pm 0.01 \text{ and } 0.47 \pm 0.01)$ compared to their background wildtype Ler $(0.41 \pm 0.01; \text{ see figure } 3.23)$. Guard cell closing response to ABA appeared weaker compared to wildtype plants $(0.38 \pm 0.01 \text{ and } 0.32 \pm 0.01, \text{ Ler wt: } 0.29 \pm 0.01)$. While stomata of abi1-1 responded similarly to ABA and MeJA (0.39 ± 0.01) , stomata of abi2-1 did not close in response to JA application $(0.47 \pm 0.01; \text{ Ler wt: } 0.21 \pm 0.01)$.

These data are in further support of the conclusion that ABI2 but not ABI1 represents a component of JA-induced signaling processes that regulate GORK activity and thereby guard cell aperture. In this context, ABI2 function appears to be different from its role in ABA signaling.

3.3.2 CPKs' and GRFs' impact on GORK activity

Apart from CBL proteins, there are more than 250 Ca^{2+} sensors in *Arabidopsis* [45]. An important group of directly Ca²⁺-sensing protein kinases is represented by the Calcium Dependent Protein Kinases (CDPKs or short CPKs, cp. 1.3.1) that contain Ca²⁺ binding EF-hands adjacent to their kinase domain. They have been demonstrated to be part of numerous signaling pathways and function as positive regulators of abiotic stress responses [128]. CPK6 functions in ABA signal cascades in guard cells and has been reported to participate in MeJA signaling as well [132, 134]. CPK21 is also known to be part of the ABA signaling pathway where it activates the anion channel SLAC1 [62]. Various studies have reported that the CPK genes not only act as positive regulators of abiotic stress signaling but also as negative regulators. For example, CPK23 improved the drought tolerance in Arabidopsis as a negative regulator of abiotic stress signaling [111] and, alike CPK21, regulates SLAC1 [62]. Just a few years ago Corratge-Faillie et al. could show that CPK33 stimulates GORK channel activity in a phosphorylation-dependent manner and that the cpk33 knockout mutant is impaired in Ca^{2+} -induced stomatal closure [40]. CPK33 action on GORK was specific, since the authors could not detect any impact on GORK for CPK3, CPK6, CPK7, CPK11 or CPK13 [40].

3.3.2.1 Analysis of protein-protein interaction of GORK with CPKs

Hence, CPKs represent interesting candidates involved in Ca^{2+} dependent regulation of ion channels and the interaction of CPK6, CPK21 and CPK23 with GORK was analyzed during the course of this study. Ratiometric BiFC (rBiFC) analysis [68] showed that GORK interacts with all three CPKs as shown in figure 3.25. In these experiments CIPK23 in combination with CBL1 was used as positive control (relative fluorescence 1.32 ± 0.09) and CIPK23 together with CBL 6 functioned as negative control (relative fluorescence 0.60 ± 0.03).



Figure 3.25: Ratiometric BiFC analysis shows interaction of GORK with CPK6, CPK21, CPK23

Epidermal cells of Nicotiana benthamiana leaves infiltrated with agrobacteria that carry the respective rBiFC construct. Images were taken at a confocal laser scanning microscope. RFP (left panel, A, C, E) was excited at 561 nm and monitored in the range of 580 - 610 nm. YFP fluorescence (right panel, B, D, F) was excited at 514 nm and monitored in the range of 525 - 589 nm. The pictures were analysed with ImageJ1.48 and the relative fluorescence shown in G indicates interaction of all three CPKs with GORK. CIPK23-CBL1 was used as positive control for an interaction, CIPK23-CBL6 as negative control as shown before by Grefen and Blatt 2012 [68], fluorescence recordings are not shown here; n ≥ 10 ; mean \pm SE; Experiments were performed together with Simon Heimann, Bachelor's Thesis at Departement of plant physiology and biophysics, University of Würzburg

According to the ratiometric analysis the weakest interaction could be detected between GORK and CPK6 (relative fluorescence 0.87 ± 0.05), while the interaction was strongest with CPK23 (relative fluorescence 1.30 ± 0.02). With a relative fluorescence of 1.12 ± 0.03 the strength of the detected interaction of GORK and CPK21 was in between the other two.

To fuel the hypothesis, that all tested CPKs interact with GORK *in vitro* phosphorylation assays were performed. As CPK3 is known to be involved in ABA signaling [132] it was also included in this screen. SLAC1 represents the major anion channel mediating S-type anion currents in guard cells and is involved in ABA-induced stomatal closure [25, 211]. Several studies report that CPKs directly phosphorylate and activate the SLAC1 S-type anion channel [25, 26, 62, 116, 175]. For that reason, SLAC1 N-terminus was chosen as positive control in *in vitro* phosphorylation assay. All four tested CPKs were capable to phosphorylate the SLAC1 N-terminus as seen in figure 3.27 A. CPK3, CPK6 and CPK21 phosphorylate the N-terminus of GORK, as well, while CPK23 did not show detectable phosphorylation.



Figure 3.27: GORK N- and C-terminus are both phosphorylated by CPK3 and CPK21 while CPK6 only phosphorylates the Nterminus

(A) Autoradiography (upper half) and Coomassie-stained SDS gel of *in vitro* phosphorylation assays with recombinant, GST-tagged proteins SLAC1 NT (1-186), GORK NT (1-67), CPK3, CPK6, CPK21 and CPK23. Marker on the left and right edge; one representative experiment out of five.

(B) Autoradiography (upper half) and Coomassie-stained SDS gel of *in vitro* phosphorylation assays with recombinant, GST-tagged proteins; the GORK C-terminus is too big to be prepared correctly on the whole, so it is split into two overlapping parts: CT1 (301-559) and CT2 (531-820). Both C-terminual peptides were tested with CPK3, CPK6, CPK21 and CPK23. Marker on the left and right edge; one representative experiment out of three is shown.

The cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK seems to be phosphorylated by CPK3, CPK6 and CPK21 but not by CPK23, while the cytoplasmic C-terminal domain of GORK is phosphorylated by CPK3 and probably by CPK21 but not by CPK6 and CPK23. Experiments were performed together with Dr. Sönke Scherzer (University of Würzburg).

The GORK C- and N-terminus are located in the cytoplasm. We thus attempted to test for the interaction of both channel domains with the CPKs. Unfortunately, the GORK C-terminal domain (58 kDa) appeared too big to be correctly expressed recombinantly and purified in total. The C-terminus was thus split into two overlapping peptides, comprising aminoacids 301-559 (CT1) and the aminoacids 531-820 (CT2; cp. also figure 3.13). As illustrated in figure 3.27 B the experiments revealed, that CPK3 clearly phosphorylated both parts of the C-terminus, while CPK6 did not.

CPK21 appeared to phosphorylate the CT2 peptide, that – according to PhosPhAt (https://phosphat.uni-hohenheim.de/) - possesses minimum 12 potential phosphorylation sites. This observation is in line with former findings, of CPK21 dependent phosphorylation of GORK at residue S649 [42, 213]. The second study by Kleeff

et al. also claimed GORK C-terminus residues T344 and S518 to be phosphorylated upon interaction with CPK21 which could not be detected in this work [213]. CPK23 showed only some autophosphorylation, but no detectable interaction with, or phosphorylation of the GORK C-terminus.

The certainty about GORK phosphorylation by CPK21 at certain residues at the C-terminus arises the question which distinct residues are involved in the detected phosphorylation with the GORK N-terminus and CPK21 (cp. figure 3.27 A). To shed some light on this issue, potential residues of the GORK N-terminus were mutated to alanine using selective mutagenesis USER cloning and this recombinant proteins were analyzed *in vitro* with respect to their interaction with CPK21 (cp. figure 3.15 and 2.2.1.1). The mutations S18A, S23A as well as T48A had no influence on the phosphorylation efficiency of GORK N-terminus by CPK21 when compared to the wildtype peptide as seen in figure 3.29 A (relative radiograph intensity compared to the wildtype: 1.06 for S18A, 1.08 for S23A, 1.07 for T48A; average of three independent experiments each).



Figure 3.29: T34 and S24 of the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK are phosphorylated by CPK21

Autoradiography (upper half) and Coomassie-stained SDS gel of *in vitro* phosphorylation experiments of CPK21 and different variants of the GORK N-terminus (A: wildtype wt, mutant S18A, mutant S23A, double mutant DM S23A/S24A, mutant S24A) plus marker; B: mutant T34A, wildtype wt, combined mutant T34A/S23A/S24A, mutant T48A plus marker). S18, S23 and T48 seem to be not phosphorylated by CPK21, while T34 and probably S24 are.

Experiments were performed together with Fabian Link, Bachelor's Thesis at Departement of plant physiology and biophysics, University of Würzburg.

Phoshporylation efficiency of mutant peptides, that included S24A alone or in combination with adjacent S23A (DM in figure 3.29 A) was reduced by approximately 75% in comparison to the wildtype peptide (0.77 for S24A, 0.72 for DM; average of three independent experiments each). A clear reduction of the radiograph intensity to 11% of the wildtype intensity can be seen for T34A (cp. figure 3.29 B). The mutant peptide containing T34A combined with S23A/S24A also led to a diminished phosphorylation signal and exhibited only 17% of the wildtype radiograph intensity (cp. figure 3.29 B).

Taken together this suggests, that CPK3, CPK6 and CPK21 - but not CPK23 - might be capable to phosphorylate the GORK N-terminus. Phosphorylation by CPK21 seems to occur at residue T34 and probably at S24, too. In addition, the C-terminus of GORK is likely to be phosphorylated by CPK3 and CPK21, but not by CPK6 and CPK23.

3.3.2.2 Add another level of complexity to the interaction: the probable menage-a-trois CPK/GRF/GORK

Apart from their interaction with plant ion channels, pulldown assays have identified CPKs as possible binding partners for so-called 14-3-3 proteins in Arabidopsis thaliana [31, 158]. The eukaryotic 14-3-3 family is a highly conserved protein family that regulates the activity of a wide range of target proteins through phosphorylation-dependent protein-protein interactions. The Arabidopsis genome encodes 15 different 14-3-3 proteins, of which 13 are trancriptionally expressed and are also called general regulating factors 1-13 (GRF1-13) or named with Greek letters (e.g. $GRF2 = GRF\omega$) [167]. They are expressed ubiquitously and the proteins containing forkhead-associated domains excepted, they are the only known phosphoprotein-binding proteins in plants [36, 199]. Some GRF isoforms may increase the activity of kinases upon direct binding [29]. Furthermore, 14-3-3 proteins have been shown to stimulate the autophosphorylation of CPK3 [97]. In addition, 14-3-3 proteins are known to affect both inward and outward rectifying K^+ channels [20, 192, 226]. Despite the absence of a bona fide canonical binding motif for 14-3-3s, GORK was shown in tandem affinity purification as well as in yeast two-hybrid studies to be a possible interaction partner of GRFs [54, 31]. Recently van Kleeff et al. identified 14-3-3 proteins as binding partners of recombinant GORK C-terminus in a phoyphorylation dependent manner [213] but they could not demonstrate a direct interaction. Consequently, they searched for a third involved factor and found it in CPK21 as it phosphorylates GORK C-terminus (cp. above and figure 3.27) B). Kleeff et al. could show that interaction of distinct 14-3-3 proteins and CPK21 stimulates its kinase activity and the same is true for CPK23, as well. Using in planta vibrating probe experiments, they also provided evidence for altered GORK activity by 14-3-3 during salt stress in Arabidopsis roots. [213]

This findings raise questions about the functional consequences of this menage-atrois and its physiological impact on other (abiotic) stress signaling pathways including wounding-associated JA signaling.

BiFC experiments confirmed the interaction between CPK3, CPK6, CPK21, CPK23 and several GRFs, which is shown in figure 3.31 for selected examples. GRF1 (chi), GRF2 (omega), GRF4 (phi), GRF5 (upsilon), GRF6 (lambda) and GRF7 (nu) were

tested. All 14-3-3s showed positive BiFC signals in combination with one to four of the CPKs (data not shown).



Figure 3.31: BiFC analysis shows interaction of CPKs with several GRFs

Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) analysis in transiently transfected Arabidopsis mesophyll protoplasts of CPK-YFP^C combined with GRF-YFP^N. Interaction is indicated by yellow while the red color represents autofluorescence of chloroplasts. Representative images of at least three independent experiments are shown.

Among the 14-3-3s tested, GRF2 (omega) exhibited interaction with all four CPKs investigated. Next, rBiFC experiments were performed to probe for a possible impact of GRF2 on the interaction between CPKs and GORK (cp. figure 3.25). For this purpose, Agrobacteria carrying mTurqouise-tagged GRF2 were co-infiltrated with the rBiFC constructs and transiently expressed in tobacco epidermal cells. As depicted in figure 3.33 A, the known interaction of CPK6 or CPK21 with GORK (cp. figure 3.25) seemed to be enhanced in the presence of GRF2 as the relative fluorescence was increased by approximately 16% in both cases (1.00 \pm 0.07 for CPK6, 1.31 \pm 0.08 for CPK21). In contrast, CPK23-GORK interaction was unaffected in the presence of GRF2, as the mean relative fluorescence in the presence of GRF2, as the mean relative fluorescence in the presence of GRF2, as the mean relative fluorescence in the presence of GRF2.

As an example for the effect of a possible tertiary complex, the interaction of GRF2 and CPK21 with GORK was examined in DEVC experiments in *Xenopus* oocytes (cp. 2.4) and the results are shown in figure 3.33 B.

If only GORK was expressed, currents of $3.33 \pm 0.64 \ \mu\text{A}$ could be measured at 70 mV. The coexpression of CPK21 resulted in comparable currents ($3.16 \pm 0.29 \ \mu\text{A}$ at 70 mV). In the case of expression of all three possible interaction partners (GRF2, CPK21 and GORK) together, the maximum currents rise by 74% to 5.55 $\pm 0.73 \ \mu\text{A}$ at 70 mV. This indicates that the additional presence of GRF2 in the oocytes promotes GORK activity probably by enhanced phosphorylation of GORK by CPK21.



Figure 3.33: GRF2 enhances the interaction of GORK with CPK6 and CPK21 and thereby the channel's activity

(A) Ratiometric BiFC analysis shows GRF2-mediated, enhanced interaction of GORK with CPK6 and CPK21. Epidermal cells of *Nicotiana benthamiana* leaves had been infiltrated with agrobacteria carrying the respective rBiFC construct and in some cases coinfiltrated with mTurquoise-tagged GRF2 transformed agrobacteria. Images were taken at a confocal laser scanning microscope. RFP was excited at 561 nm and monitored in the range of 580 - 610 nm. YFP fluorescence was excited at 514 nm and monitored in the range of 525 - 589 nm. The pictures were analysed with ImageJ 1.48 and the relative fluorescence shown indicates that GRF2 intensifies the interaction of CPK6 and CPK21 with GORK, while it has no influence on the interaction of CPK23 with GORK. CIPK23-CBL1 was used as positive control for an interaction, CIPK23-CBL6 as negative control as shown before by Grefen and Blatt 2012 [68]; $n \geq 10$; mean \pm SE; Experiments were performed together with Simon Heimann, Bachelor's Thesis at Departement of plant physiology and biophysics, University of Würzburg.

(B) A tertiary complex of GORK, CPK21 and GRF2 enhances GORK activity in DEVC experiments. Current-voltage plot of DEVC experiments on *Xenopus* oocytes expressing only GORK (triangles) as a control, GORK and CPK21 (circles) or GORK, CPK21 and GRF2 (squares). From a holding potential of -40 mV a 1 s deactivation pulse at -80 mV followed by rectangular shaped, 3 s long pulses from -100 to 70 mV (in 10 mV steps), again 1 s at -80 mV were applied. The steady state currents shown are taken from the end of the rectangular shaped pulses. Coexpression of GORK, CPK21 and GRF2 results in considerably higher currents.

Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean currents \pm SE, $n \ge 7$.

As physiological approach GRF double or quadruple loss-of-function mutants were screened in stoma assays upon their ABA- and MeJA-stimulus reaction (see figure 3.35). Unfortunately, no clear effect can be seen. All mutants react on ABA and MeJA with closing their stomata as the wildtype (Col-0). One double mutant as well as two quadruple mutants react less on MeJA ("un": upsilon = GRF5, nu = GRF7; "klpc": kappa = GRF8, lambda = GRF6, phi = GRF4, chi = GRF1 and "unpc": upsilon = GRF5, nu = GRF7, phi = GRF4, chi = GRF1 63-77% opening

compared to wildtype 56%). The other mutants closed their stomata to a higher extent (53-58% compared to control).



Figure 3.35: Guard cell responses of different 14-3-3 loss-of-function double and quadruple mutants towards ABA or MeJA

Stomatal aperture assays of wildtype Col-0, grf1 = chi = c, grf4 = phi = p, grf5 = upsilon = u, grf6 = lambda = l, grf7 = nu = n and grf8 = kappa = k. Guard cells of excised leaves were pre-opened in the light for 2 h, then incubated with either 20 μ M (±)-ABA or 10 μ M MeJA for 1 h. Wildtype leaves and all loss-of-function mutants respond to ABA and MeJA by closing their stomata. Apertures were determined as the ratio of stomatal width to length. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean \pm S.E., $n \geq 120$ stomata

Upon ABA treatment two mutants ("kl": kappa = GRF8, lambda = GRF6; "unpc" see above) close their stomata only to 55% respectively 59% compared to the measured controls. Col-0 (37%) and the other mutants (39-47%) show higher reaction to ABA. Taken together the presented results do not provide any real physiological proof for the involvement of GRF1 and GRFs4-8 in MeJA and ABA signaling in guard cells even though interaction between CPKs and 14-3-3 could be demonstrated.

3.4 The role of ROS in GORK-dependent JA signaling

It has previously been shown, that both ABA and MeJA evoke the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in guard cells. To investigate the effect of this ROS signal on the signal consequence upon JA or ABA stimulus, its impact on GORK channel activity was tested in DEVC experiments in *Xenopus* oocytes.



Figure 3.37: Reversible effect of H_2O_2 on GORK channel activity

DEVC experiment on Xenopus oocytes expressing GORK showing representative whole cell currents. From a deactivating, holding potential of -80 mV, 6 s 60 mV were applied. Application of 0.06% H_2O_2 results in 70% higher currents. This effect is nearly completely reversible by washing the H_2O_2 out again. Measurements were carried out in ND96 (cp. 2.4.2) with 10mM KCl added extra. Representative traces from one out of three independent experiments are shown.

Less than a minute after application of 0.06% H₂O₂ to the oocyte chamber, the measured currents upon the activation pulse at 60 mV raise by 70% from stable 2.81 µA before to 4.80 µA in the case of the experiment shown in figure 3.37. By washing out H₂O₂ the currents could be nearly completely reset to the level before application (3.10 µA in this example) after a few minutes. This reversible effect of ROS on GORK channel activity could be one piece in the explanation of ROS effects in JA and ABA induced stomatal closure.

Many possible sources of ROS production exist in plant cells, among them integral plasma membrane NAD(P)H oxidases ([197]). Suhita et al. as well as Kwak et al. found that gene disruption of two *Arabidopsis* NAD(P)H oxidases, *At*RbohD and *At*RbohF affected MeJA and ABA induced stomatal closure, respectively [96,

197]. These two NAD(P)H oxidases might therefore be major ROS sources in guard cell MeJA and ABA signaling and are involved in root elongation, too [96]. Alike AtRbohD/F, AtRbohC is also known to play a fundamental role in root growth and root hair development [129, 200] and might be involved in guard cell signaling as well. As ROS production followed by cytoplasmic alkalization and Ca²⁺ signaling are essential in ABA and MeJA signaling, leading to GORK activation and stomatal closure RbohD, RbohF and RbohC were investgated in the course of this study in stoma assays, too (see figure 3.39).



Figure 3.39: Guard cell responses of different Rboh loss-of-function mutants towards ABA or Cor

Stomatal aperture assays of wildtype Col-0, *rbohd* (d), *rbohf* (f), *rbohc* (c) and reconstituted RbohC (cc) mutants. Guard cells of excised leaves were pre-opened in the light for 2 h, then incubated with either 20 μ M (±)-ABA or 10 μ M Cor for 1 h. Wildtype leaves and all loss-of-function mutants respond to ABA by closing their stomata, while some of the mutants show impaired stomatal closure behaviour upon Cor treatment. Apertures were determined as the ratio of stomatal width to length. Averages from three or more independent experiments are shown. Data represent mean ± S.E., n ≥ 120 stomata

The corresponding wild type plants (Col-0) and all examined Rboh mutants close their stomata upon treatment with 20 μ M (±)-ABA (Col-0 43% normalized to the control). To Cor even the wild type does not respond as strong as to ABA, but with closed stomata to only 79% compared to the control. The single mutant *rbohc*

(c) closes comparably by 69%, while the other single mutants (*rbohf*, f, and *rbohd*, d) show less closure with stomatal opening of 87% respectively 93%. Same is the case for the complemented lines of RbohC mutant (cc2 and cc5), which show 88% respectively 100% open stomata. Also for the double mutants (cf and df) no stomatal closure was detected (96-103% open stomata). This is in line with the above mentioned studies, that ROS and its production by Rbohs play an important role in JA signaling in stomata.
4 Discussion

4.1 GORK is essential for wound-induced JA signaling and the effected stomatal closure

Plants are constantly confronted with environmental signals, some of which cause stress. In response to stress signals plants activate defense reactions that are crucial for their survival. Phytohormones are mediators of plant stress and knowledge of the specific pathways in which these phytohormones interact could be used for example in improving crops. ABA and jasmonates are such phytohormones, both acting for example during drought stress in guard cells (see 1.4).

Wounding is another stress signal. It enhances JA levels in different *Arabidopsis* ecotypes and has also been implicated in promoting stomatal closure [174]. Stoma assays within this work could confirm that wounding induces stomatal closure (cp. figure 3.1 A) and monitoring the wounding-induced stomatal closure in the nearby of an injured guard cell underlines how fast this reaction is spread across the leave surface within minutes (cp. figure 3.1 B). Dr. Antoine Larrieu could show with the help of the genetically encoded JA-biosensor Jas9-VENUS ([100]) that in the manner of wounding, activation of the guard cell JA signaling cascade precedes stomatal closure and can therefore be considered to be a fast, phytohormone-based process (see figure 3.3).

During stomatal closure accumulated ions must be released from guard cells to the apoplast. On the one hand this happens via anion channels and on the other hand outward rectifying K^+ channels are activated in response to the depolarized membrane potential following anion efflux (compare figure 4.3). GORK has for a long time been considered the main K^+ efflux actor during stomatal closure and the basic transcript level of GORK is especially high in guard cells compared to other cell types [15, 82].

By whole-cell patch clamp experiments on guard cell protoplasts isolated from Col-0 wild-type (wt) or gork1-2 (GABL_865F05) mutants under asymmetric potassium conditions with 100 mM K⁺ in the pipette solution and 10 mM K⁺ in the bath solution, it could be shown, that GORK K_{out}^+ currents are a target of JA signaling in guard cells (see figure 3.5). This activation of GORK is already present 15 minutes following JA application, which supports the assumption of the presence of a fast JA-signaling chain in guard cells. The concurrently detected decrease in K_{in}^+ currents (see figures 3.5 and 3.21) shows that JA is capable to promote a net loss of K⁺ from the guard cell cytoplasm supporting stomatal closure. The changes in the conductance for K_{out}^+ and K_{in}^+ of the guard cell plasma membrane are in line with the findings from Evans in 2003, who showed in patch clamp studies on *Vicia faba* guard cell protoplasts that JA-effects on K_{in}^+ currents are slower to respond than K_{out}^+ currents, but can be clearly detected 20 min after addition of the phytohormone [57]. The mechanism behind this effect still remains unclear. Single channel studies could be facilitated to determine the involved signal transduction processes. Stomatal aperture assays on the *gork* mutants and their respective background wt

Stomatal aperture assays on the *gork* mutants and their respective background we plants strengthen the specific role of GORK activity in JA-induced stomatal closure (see figure 3.7). Mutation of GORK and in consequence, lack in GORK channel activity, point out, that GORK is essential for wound-induced, JA-controlled but not for ABA-induced stomatal closure (see figure 3.7 and 3.9). This uncovers that there have to be important differences in the contribution of GORK to different signaling processes in guard cells.

4.2 Calcium and calcium mediating proteins in stomatal signaling pathways control GORK activity

Fast control mechanisms via post-translational regulation are essential for rapid control of ion channel function during stomatal movement. One example for post-translational regulation is phosphorylation or dephosphorylation of a protein by kinases or phosphatases. There are several examples for this kind of regulation in the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* and they are often Ca^{2+} signal-dependent (e.g. [62],[111][124],[229]).

It is generally known that Ca^{2+} functions as an important second messenger in stress responses, including those following ABA or jasmonates ([3, 108, 117, 171]). Ca^{2+} signals are transmitted via sensors, for example CBLs or CPKs (cp. 1.3.1). For activity CBLs interact with the protein kinases CIPKs. By yeast two-hybrid experiments this interaction has been shown to be specific due to expression patterns, subcellular localization and the CBLs' affinity [90].

This work aimed at exploring the Ca²⁺-dependent, post-translational regulation of GORK by both CIPKs, together with CBLs and CPKs, possibly in combination with GRFs, that act regulatory on phosphorylated targets. As possible counteractor the phosphatase ABI2 was examined and identified.

From yeast two-hybrid experiments with guard cell-expressed members of the CIPK family and the N-terminal (NT) domain of the GORK channel or the 10 CBLs from *Arabidopsis* respectively, only CIPK5 showed interaction with GORK-NT and with CBL1, CBL4, CBL5 and CBL9 (data not shown, [58]). These specific interactions were confirmed by BiFC assays (see figure 3.11). The same approaches (Y2H and BiFC) revealed, that the PP2C-type phosphatase ABI2 is interacting with GORK-NT and CIPK5, but not ABI1 (see figure 3.11 and [58]). Furthermore, biochemical and electrophysiological analysis support the antagonistic regulation of the GORK

N-terminus due to specific interaction with the sensor kinase complex CIPK5-CBL promotes channel activity on the one hand and the interaction with the phosphatase ABI2 on the other hand via a phosphorylation/dephosphorylation switch (see figures 3.13, 3.15 and 3.19). From the results of DEVC experiments it can be even concluded, that CBL protein presence and functional Ca^{2+} binding to CBL is necessary for the impact on GORK channel activity.

As CIPK5 possesses serin and threenine kinase activity, relevant site directed mutagenesis of the GORK NT followed by biochemical experiments point out, that threenines T34 and T48 of GORK are possibly phosphorylated by CIPK5 in this specific interaction (see figures 3.17 and 4.1). The impact of this regulation on JA-signaling in guard cells was investigated by patch-clamp recordings on guard cell protoplasts of *cipk5-2* kinase loss-of-function mutant, where coronatine failed to stimulate K_{out}^+ activity compared to WT (see figures 3.5 B, C and 3.21 B,C).

Stoma assays on *Arabidopsis thaliana* loss-of-function mutants of either CBL1/9 or CIPK5 show that these mutations lead to completely abolished JA response in guard cells (see figure 3.23). Stomata of the *abi2-1* mutant, leading to reduced ABA sensitivity, did not close upon JA stimulus, while *abi1-1* mutant stomata reacted WT-like (see figure 3.23).

Altogether, these results establish a unique and essential role for CBL1-CIPK5 complexes in fast JA signal transduction in guard cells via their activating role for the GORK K⁺ efflux channel by phosphorylation. ABI2 represents another component of JA-induced signaling processes and antagonizes CIPK5 action (cp. figure 4.3). It acts as a negative regulator of GORK K_{out}^+ activity in guard cells and thus seems to have a different role in this context, than in ABA signaling (see also 1.4.3). Additionally, direct inhibition of CIPK5 by ABI2 can not be excluded, similar to the reported dual inhibition of a CIPK and its substrate for SLAC1 by Maierhofer et al. in 2014 [116].

Another fundamental family of protein kinases in plants are the CPKs (see also 1.3.1), which are known to be involved in diverse cellular processes, including stomatal movement [34, 132]. They have been shown to play an important role in Ara*bidopsis*' responses to drought and salt stresses, with implications for their regulatory effect on K^+ uptake [111, 124, 229]. The CPKs chosen for this study (3, 6, 21, 23)are all present in guard cells of Arabidopsis thaliana and have been studied before in different signaling pathways, as well as in combination with GORK (see 1.3.1). The performed rBiFC analysis shows interaction of all used CPKs with GORK (see figure 3.25). The performed *in vitro* phosphorylation assays reveal a more diverse picture of the different interactions in the manner, that the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK is phosphorylated by CPK3, CPK6 and CPK21 but not by CPK23, while the cytoplasmic C-terminal domain of GORK is phosphorylated by CPK3 and probably by CPK21 but not by CPK6 and CPK23 (see figure 3.27). CPK21 has been claimed before to phosphorylate the GORK C-terminus at S649, T344 and S518 [42, 213]. For S649, which lies on the second half of the C-terminus this can be confirmed according to this study's results, but not for T344 and S518, which would be part of the first half, where no reaction can be seen in figure 3.27 B. Further investigation of CPK21's interaction with the N-terminus lead to the predication that T34 and S24 are phosphorylation targets in this case (see figures 3.29 and 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Identified phosphorylation sites in the GORK N-terminus

Biochemical experiments on site directed mutagenesis GORK N-terminus variants together with CIPK5 respectively CPK21 protein revealed that threonines T34 and T48 of GORK are possibly phosphorylated by CIPK5 in this specific interaction, while T34 and S24 seem to be phosphorylation targets of CPK21's interaction with the GORK N-terminus.

CPKs have been related to distinct 14-3-3 proteins [29, 97, 199] and there are several hints leading to the assumption of a tertiary complex of CPK, 14-3-3 and GORK (see 1.3.2 and 3.3.2). This adds another level of complexity to the kinase-channel interaction and as GRF2 (omega) had shown potential interaction with all investigated CPKs before (see figure 3.31), its impact in this possible menage-a-trois was investigated further within the course of this study. In rBiFC analysis including mTurqouise-tagged GRF2, enhanced interaction of GORK with CPK6 and CPK21 could be detected (see figure 3.33 A). This could be confirmed by DEVC experiments on *Xenopus* oocytes expressing GORK, CPK21 and GRF2 altogether, which resulted in up to 74% enhanced channel activity (see figure 3.33 B). In the performed stomatal aperture assays no real proof for any physiological effect of the investigated GRF loss-of-function mutants could be detected (see figure 3.35). This might be due to high redundancy in the 14-3-3 proteins' functionality in the way that other isoforms jump in to ensure plant metabolism and functions.

Assuming an effect of at least GRF2 on GORK brings up the question of the site for this interaction as GORK shows none of the three canonical 14-3-3-binding motifs (see 1.3.2). In some CPKs canonical binding motifs are found, the others have at least regions similar to a known binding motif [199]. It might also be, that GRFs get phosphorylated by CPKs upon Ca^{2+} signal perception as reported e.g. for CPK1 or CPK3, which are capable of phosphorylating distinct GRF serines *in vitro* [29, 97, 199]. The menage-a-trois would get an important physiological meaning with its possible role of enhancing or prolonging the activation of GORK, in order to ensure proper response of the guard cells. This is possibly achieved by phosphorylation of the GRFs by CPKs, as reported before [97, 199], which might result in stabilisation of the kinase-channel-complex.

Further investigation, e.g. by directed mutagenesis experiments, is needed to find the real interaction sites, but beforehand the characteristics of the interactions should

be examined to a greater extent.

4.3 Proposed model of JA regulated stomatal closure and crosstalk with the ABA signaling pathway

Based on the data brought together in this thesis and considering the available published evidence, a model of JA function in comparison to and in liaison with ABA function in guard cell closure can be deduced, that is shown in figure 4.3.

Upon binding to their respective receptors, COI1 and the RCAR/PYR/PYLs, both JA and ABA increase cytosolic Ca^{2+} and ROS levels. JA triggers Ca^{2+} signatures [108, 135] and activates ABA signaling, which is in line with the requirement of functional ABA receptors for JA-induced stomatal closure reactions (data not shown here; [234]). Activated ABA receptors recruit the PP2Cs ABI1 and ABI2 to the receptor complex, thereby inactivating phosphatase activity. This enables phosphorylation and release of kinases such as OST1 (Ca^{2+} -independent), or CIPKs and CPKs (Ca^{2+} -dependent). Importantly, ABI2 no longer inhibits the GORK channel and is also involved in JA signaling, while ABI1 is not.

OST1 dependent inhibition of KAT1 and Ca²⁺-dependent kinase activation of anion channels (SLAC1/SLAH/QUAC) leads to membrane potential depolarization, and in turn, activation of the voltage dependent GORK channel. In parallel, kinase dependent GORK activation further promotes potassium efflux and finally this provokes stomatal closure.

JA affects ABA signaling leading Ca^{2+} -dependent phosphorylation and in turn activation of GORK. While this work shows that GORK is essential in JA signaling, it is known that for ABA also members of the K⁺ uptake transporter (KUP) family can contribute to the K⁺ efflux [154]. This is most likely not the case for JA signaling due to the clear effects seen in the patch clamp experiments on gork1-2 guard cell protoplasts (cp. figure 3.5). ABI1 and ABI2 both have different functions in ABA and JA signaling pathways, too, as seen in the course of this study.

ABA/JA-stimulated ROS production via respiratory burst oxidase homologs (RBOHs) further stimulates GORK activity while at the same time inhibiting ABI2 activity [125]. The stoma assays on RBOH mutants (see figure 3.39) are in line with former studies proposing that ROS and its production by RBOHs plays an important role in JA signaling in stomata [96, 197, 234]. The reversible effect of ROS on GORK channel activity in DEVC experiments (see figure 3.37) could be one piece in the explanation of ROS effects in JA and ABA induced stomatal closure.

In this manner, convergence of hormone and Ca^{2+} -mediated activation allows for efficient fine-tuning of GORK-mediated K⁺ efflux for tightly regulating stomatal aperture adjustment and provides the mechanistic flexibility to facilitate stomatal closure in response to diverse stimuli such as drought and light stress [49] or wounding.



*ABI1 not involved in JA signaling

Figure 4.3: Working model of the convergence of JA and ABA-mediated stomatal closure

Hormone binding to their respective receptors causes the release of second messengers as ROS and Ca^{2+} and activation of kinases, both Ca^{2+} -dependent and Ca^{2+} -independent ones. This leads to inhibition of KAT1 and activation of anion channels. The effected membrane depolarization activates GORK and causes K^+ efflux, water efflux and, in turn, stomatal closure.

Red elements are essential in JA signaling. Grey arrows are only for better distinction of single arrows.

4.4 Outlook

Phytohormone signaling leading to stomatal closure as a response to biotic and abiotic stress still remains a secret in many ways. Even though a lot of successful steps have been made amongst others in this study, many insights into stomatal physiology on molecular level are still open. it has been seen that there are important differences in the diverse signaling processes in guard cells, that have to be clarified in future studies.

This study underlines the finding that tightly regulated and reversible phosphorylation reactions catalyzed by protein kinases and phosphatases are important in signal transduction pathways. The identified interaction of CIPK5 with GORK as well as the possible menage-a-trois of GORK, GRF and CPK should be investigated in further detail to clarify its underlying mechanisms and consequences. Phosphorylation sites in the C-terminus claimed before [42, 213] can be confirmed using site directed mutagenesis of possible phosphorylation sites analogue to the experiments carried out with the N-terminus during this study (compare 3.3.1and 3.3.2). This could possibly be used to find the real interaction site for GRF and CPK or GORK, too. Using a different vector system (for example pGEX6) the recombinantly expressed, untagged proteins of GORK termini could be analyzed via mass-spectrometry after *in vitro* phosphorylation. This could confirm and strengthen the results of the radioactive phosphorylation assays.

As GORK is being phosphorylated by some endogenous kinase in *Xenopus* oocytes, the DEVC data shown in this study can not dissolve the effects of the examined kinases on the channel directly. For this purpose, patch clamp experiments on mammalian cells could help out. During the course of this study preliminary data with both COS and CHO cells was achieved (data not shown here). Both cell lines seem to be appropriate for the purpose of measuring GORK responses to phosphorylation events. Nevertheless the expression of GORK leads to unstable cell membranes and high lethality of the cell strains. An (light) inducible, stable GORK expression line could maybe be the key to success in this case.

When stable GORK patch clamp measurements are achieved in a mammalian cell line, this approach could also be used to analyse the impact of the identified phosphorylation sites' (see above) influence on channel activity and kinetics. Coexpression of GRF and CPK or CIPK5 in the cell line would be helpful for that.

It could also be interesting to conduct patch clamp experiments on guard cell protoplasts of other *Arabidopsis* mutants, that lack or are impaired in other parts of the proposed JA signaling pathway (see figure 4.3).

Additionally, stomata have the function to keep the balance between water loss via transpiration and CO_2 uptake for carbon fixation. The role of CO_2 in the context of JA signaling could be analyzed in gas exchange experiments with the *Arabidopsis* mutants used in the stoma assays in this study. Preliminary data and first trials were already conducted in the end of the course of this study but no presentable data nor finding could be gained, yet.

List of Figures

$1.1 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.7$	Phylogeny and Topology of <i>Arabidopsis</i> K ⁺ channels Phylogenetic tree of K ⁺ -channels of various plant species Schematic structure of CPKs, CIPKs and CBLs Jasmonic acid (JA) perception via the COI1–JAZ co-receptor complex leading to LA induced game suppose	9 11 14
2.1	Pulse protocols applied in DEVC experiments	19 32
- ·		
3.1	Wounding induces local and systemic stomatal closure	40
3.3	JA signaling precedes stomatal closure upon wounding	41
3.5	GORK K_{out} currents are a target of JA signaling in guard cells	42
3.7	GORK functions specifically in JA induced stomatal closure	43
3.9	GORK is part of JA signaling upon wounding	44
3.11	BIFC analysis of interaction of CIPKs with GORK, CBLs and ABI2.	40
3.13	The cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of GORK is phosphorylated by	4 77
9.15	CIPK5 and dephosphorylated by ABI2	41
3.15	CIDEST Les Les Les CODES Networks	48
3.17	CIPK5 phosphorylates the GORK N-terminus at amino acids 134	40
9 10	and 148	49
3.19	in DEVC and contracts	50
2 01	CIDE C experiments	00 E1
3.21	CIPKS is essential for JA-mediated GORK activation	51
J.ZJ	Guard cell responses of <i>cipk3-z</i> , <i>coll/9</i> , <i>doll-1</i> and <i>dolz-1</i> mutants	ະຄ
າງເ	Detionentric DEC analysis shows interaction of CODK with CDK6	3Z
5.20	CDK21 CDK22	54
2 07	COPK N and C terminug are both phoenhowylated by CDK2 and	94
5.21	CDK21 while CDK6 only phosphorylated the N terminus	55
2 20	T24 and S24 of the syteplasmic N terminal domain of COPK are	99
5.29	nboorhowslated by CDK21	56
9 91	PiEC analyzia shows interaction of CDKs with several CDEs	50
3.31	CPE2 onbances the interaction of COPK with CPK6 and CPK21	99
J.JJ	and thereby the channel's activity	50
2 25	Cuard cell responses of different 14.3.3 loss of function double and	99
0.00	guadruple mutants towards ABA or MoIA	60
3 27	Reversible effect of H ₂ O ₂ on CORK channel activity	61
3 20	Guard cell responses of different Rhob loss of function mutants to	01
0.03	wards ABA or Cor	62
		04

4.1	Identified phosphorylation sites in the GORK N-terminus	67
4.3	Working model of the convergence of JA and ABA-mediated stomatal	
	closure	69

List of Tables

Reaction mix and conditions for an IVT-PCR	28
Bath solution for DEVC experiments	32
Contents of the solutions used for patch clamp experiments in whole-	
cell mode on COS-7 cells	34
Contents of the solutions used for patch clamp experiments in whole-	
cell mode on guard cell protoplasts	36
	Reaction mix and conditions for an IVT-PCR

Bibliography

- Biswa R Acharya, Byeong Wook Jeon, Wei Zhang, and Sarah M Assmann. Open stomata 1 (ost 1) is limiting in abscisic acid responses of arabidopsis guard cells. New Phytologist, 200(4):1049–1063, 2013.
- [2] P Ache, D Becker, N Ivashikina, P Dietrich, MRG Roelfsema, and R Hedrich. GORK, a delayed outward rectifier expressed in guard cells of *Arabidopsis* thaliana, is a K⁺-selective, K⁺-sensing ion channel. FEBS Letters, 486(2):93– 98, 2000.
- [3] GJ Allen, SP Chu, CL Harrington, K Schumacher, T Hoffmann, YY Tang, E Grill, and JI Schroeder. A defined range of guard cell calcium oscillation parameters encodes stomatal movements. *Nature*, 411(6841):1053–1057, 2001.
- [4] A Amtmann, S Troufflard, and P Armengaud. The effect of potassium nutrition on pest and disease resistance in plants. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 133(4):682–691, 2008.
- [5] Anna Amtmann, John P Hammond, Patrick Armengaud, and Philip J White. Nutrient sensing and signalling in plants: potassium and phosphorus. Advances in Botanical Research, 43:209–257, 2005.
- [6] Uta Anschütz, Dirk Becker, and Sergey Shabala. Going beyond nutrition: regulation of potassium homoeostasis as a common denominator of plant adaptive responses to environment. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 171(9):670–687, 2014.
- [7] Takayuki Asano, Nagao Hayashi, Shoshi Kikuchi, and Ryu Ohsugi. Cdpkmediated abiotic stress signaling. *Plant Signaling & Behavior*, 7(7):817–821, 2012.
- [8] GS Athwal, JL Huber, and SC Huber. Phosphorylated nitrate reductase and 14-3-3 proteins site of interaction, effects of ions, and evidence for an ampbinding site on 14-3-3 proteins. *Plant Physiology*, 118(3):1041–1048, 1998.
- [9] Kelly M Balmant, Tong Zhang, and Sixue Chen. Protein phosphorylation and redox modification in stomatal guard cells. *Frontiers in physiology*, 7:26, 2016.
- [10] Maria A Banuelos, Blanca Garciadeblas, Beatriz Cubero, and Alonso Rodriguez-Navarro. Inventory and functional characterization of the hak potassium transporters of rice. *Plant Physiology*, 130(2):784–795, 2002.
- [11] Oliver Batistič and Jörg Kudla. Plant calcineurin b-like proteins and their interacting protein kinases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular*

Cell Research, 1793(6):985–992, 2009.

- [12] Oliver Batistič, Nadav Sorek, Stefanie Schültke, Shaul Yalovsky, and Jörg Kudla. Dual fatty acyl modification determines the localization and plasma membrane targeting of cbl/cipk ca2+ signaling complexes in arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell*, 20(5):1346–1362, 2008.
- [13] Oliver Batistič, Rainer Waadt, Leonie Steinhorst, Katrin Held, and Jörg Kudla. Cbl-mediated targeting of cipks facilitates the decoding of calcium signals emanating from distinct cellular stores. *The Plant Journal*, 61(2):211– 222, 2010.
- [14] D Becker, D Geiger, M Dunkel, A Roller, A Bertl, A Latz, A Carpaneto, P Dietrich, MRG Roelfsema, C Voelker, et al. AtTPK4, an Arabidopsis tandempore K⁺ channel, poised to control the pollen membrane voltage in a pH-and Ca²⁺-dependent manner. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(44):15621–15626, 2004.
- [15] D Becker, S Hoth, P Ache, S Wenkel, MRG Roelfsema, O Meyerhoff, W Hartung, and R Hedrich. Regulation of the ABA-sensitive Arabidopsis potassium channel gene GORK in response to water stress. *FEBS Letters*, 554(1):119– 126, 2003.
- [16] Dirk Becker and Rainer Hedrich. Channelling auxin action: modulation of ion transport by indole-3-acetic acid. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 49(3-4):349–356, 2002.
- [17] Smrutisanjita Behera, Yu Long, Ina Schmitz-Thom, Xue-Ping Wang, Chunxia Zhang, Hong Li, Leonie Steinhorst, Prabha Manishankar, Xiao-Ling Ren, Jan Niklas Offenborn, et al. Two spatially and temporally distinct ca2+ signals convey arabidopsis thaliana responses to k+ deficiency. *New Phytologist*, 213(2):739–750, 2017.
- [18] Carol L Bender. Chlorosis-inducing phytotoxins produced by pseudomonas syringae. European Journal of Plant Pathology, 105(1):1–12, 1999.
- [19] P Bernard. Positive selection of recombinant DNA by CcdB. Biotechniques, 21(2):320–323, 1996.
- [20] PP Booij, MR Roberts, SA Vogelzang, R Kraayenhof, and AH De Boer. 14-3-3 proteins double the number of outward-rectifying K⁺ channels available for activation in tomato cells. *The Plant Journal*, 20(6):673–683, 1999.
- [21] M boudsocq, MR Willmann, M McCormack, H Lee, L Shan, P He, J Bush, SH Cheng, and J Sheen. Differential innate immune signalling via Ca²⁺ sensor protein kinases. *Nature*, 464(7287):418–422, 2010.
- [22] Marie Boudsocq, Marie-Jo Droillard, Leslie Regad, and Christiane Laurière. Characterization of arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinases: activated or not by calcium? *Biochemical Journal*, 447(2):291–299, 2012.

- [23] Marie boudsocq and Jen Sheen. Cdpks in immune and stress signaling. Trends in plant science, 18(1):30–40, 2013.
- [24] O Boussif, F Lezoualc'h, M Zanta, M Mergny, D Scherman, B Demeneix, and JP Behr. A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 92(16):7297–7301, 1995.
- [25] Benjamin Brandt, Dennis E Brodsky, Shaowu Xue, Juntaro Negi, Koh Iba, Jaakko Kangasjärvi, Majid Ghassemian, Aaron B Stephan, Honghong Hu, and Julian I Schroeder. Reconstitution of abscisic acid activation of slac1 anion channel by cpk6 and ost1 kinases and branched abi1 pp2c phosphatase action. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(26):10593–10598, 2012.
- [26] Benjamin Brandt, Shintaro Munemasa, Cun Wang, Desiree Nguyen, Taiming Yong, Paul G Yang, Elly Poretsky, Thomas F Belknap, Rainer Waadt, Fernando Alemán, et al. Calcium specificity signaling mechanisms in abscisic acid signal transduction in arabidopsis guard cells. *Elife*, 4:e03599, 2015.
- [27] Jo Bright, Radhika Desikan, John T Hancock, Iain S Weir, and Steven J Neill. Aba-induced no generation and stomatal closure in arabidopsis are dependent on h2o2 synthesis. *The Plant Journal*, 45(1):113–122, 2006.
- [28] TD Bunney, PWJ van den Wijngaard, and AH de Boer. 14-3-3 protein regulation of proton pumps and ion channels. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 50(6):1041– 1051, 2002.
- [29] L Camoni, JF Harper, and MG Palmgren. 14-3-3 proteins activate a plant calcium-dependent protein kinase (CDPK). *FEBS Letters*, 430(3):381–384, 1998.
- [30] Mari-Cruz Castillo, Jorge Lozano-Juste, Miguel González-Guzmán, Lesia Rodriguez, Pedro L Rodriguez, and José León. Inactivation of pyr/pyl/rcar aba receptors by tyrosine nitration may enable rapid inhibition of aba signaling by nitric oxide in plants. *Sci. Signal.*, 8(392):ra89–ra89, 2015.
- [31] IF Chang, A Curran, R Woolsey, D Quilici, JC Cushman, R Mittler, A Harmon, and JF Harper. Proteomic profiling of tandem affinity purified 14-3-3 protein complexes in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proteomics*, 9(11):2967–2985, 2009.
- [32] Antonio Chaves-Sanjuan, Maria Jose Sanchez-Barrena, Juana Maria Gonzalez-Rubio, Maria Moreno, Paula Ragel, Marta Jimenez, Jose M Pardo, Martin Martinez-Ripoll, Francisco J Quintero, and Armando Albert. Structural basis of the regulatory mechanism of the plant cipk family of protein kinases controlling ion homeostasis and abiotic stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(42):E4532–E4541, 2014.
- [33] Zhonghua Chen, Igor I Pottosin, Tracey A Cuin, Anja T Fuglsang, Mark Tester, Deepa Jha, Isaac Zepeda-Jazo, Meixue Zhou, Michael G Palmgren, Ian A Newman, et al. Root plasma membrane transporters controlling k+/na+

homeostasis in salt-stressed barley. Plant physiology, 145(4):1714–1725, 2007.

- [34] SH Cheng, MR Willmann, HC Chen, and J Sheen. Calcium signaling through protein kinases. The Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase gene family. *Plant Physiology*, 129(2):469–485, 2002.
- [35] Yong Hwa Cheong, Kyung-Nam Kim, Girdhar K Pandey, Rajeev Gupta, John J Grant, and Sheng Luan. Cbl1, a calcium sensor that differentially regulates salt, drought, and cold responses in arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell*, 15(8):1833–1845, 2003.
- [36] D Chevalier, ER Morris, and JC Walker. 14-3-3 and FHA domains mediate phosphoprotein interactions. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 60:67–91, 2009.
- [37] Andrea Chini, S Fonseca, G Fernandez, B Adie, JM Chico, O Lorenzo, G Garcia-Casado, I López-Vidriero, FM Lozano, MR Ponce, et al. The jaz family of repressors is the missing link in jasmonate signalling. *Nature*, 448(7154):666–671, 2007.
- [38] Andrea Chini, Selena Gimenez-Ibanez, Alain Goossens, and Roberto Solano. Redundancy and specificity in jasmonate signalling. *Current opinion in plant biology*, 33:147–156, 2016.
- [39] David E Clapham. Calcium signaling. Cell, 131(6):1047–1058, 2007.
- [40] Claire Corratgé-Faillie, Elsa Ronzier, Frédéric Sanchez, Karine Prado, Jeong-Hyeon Kim, Sophie Lanciano, Nathalie Leonhardt, Benoît Lacombe, and Tou Cheu Xiong. The arabidopsis guard cell outward potassium channel gork is regulated by cpk 33. *FEBS letters*, 591(13):1982–1992, 2017.
- [41] Robert A Creelman and John E Mullet. Biosynthesis and action of jasmonates in plants. Annual review of plant biology, 48(1):355–381, 1997.
- [42] Amy Curran, Ing-Feng Chang, Chia-Lun Chang, Shilpi Garg, Rodriguez Milla Miguel, Yoshimi D Barron, Ying Li, Shawn Romanowsky, John Chandler Cushman, Michael Gribskov, et al. Calcium-dependent protein kinases from arabidopsis show substrate specificity differences in an analysis of 103 substrates. Frontiers in plant science, 2:36, 2011.
- [43] K Czempinski, JM Frachisse, C Maurel, H Barbier-Brygoo, and B Mueller-Roeber. Vacuolar membrane localization of the Arabidopsis 'two-pore' K⁺ channel KCO1. *The Plant Journal*, 29(6):809–820, 2002.
- [44] B Dadacz-Narloch, S Kimura, T Kurusu, EE Farmer, D Becker, K Kuchitsu, and R Hedrich. On the cellular site of two-pore channel TPC1 action in the Poaceae. New Phytologist, 200(3):663–674, 2013.
- [45] Irene S Day, Vaka S Reddy, Gul Shad Ali, and ASN Reddy. Analysis of efhand-containing proteins in arabidopsis. *Genome biology*, 3(10):research0056– 1, 2002.

- [46] V Demidchik, TA Cuin, D Svistunenko, SJ Smith, AJ Miller, S Shabala, A Sokolik, and V Yurin. Arabidopsis root K⁺-efflux conductance activated by hydroxyl radicals: single-channel properties, genetic basis and involvement in stress-induced cell death. *Journal of Cell Science*, 123(9):1468–1479, 2010.
- [47] Vadim Demidchik. Mechanisms and physiological roles of k+ efflux from root cells. Journal of plant physiology, 171(9):696–707, 2014.
- [48] Vadim Demidchik, Sergey Shabala, Stanislav Isayenkov, Tracey A Cuin, and Igor Pottosin. Calcium transport across plant membranes: mechanisms and functions. New Phytologist, 220(1):49–69, 2018.
- [49] Amith R Devireddy, Sara I Zandalinas, Aurelio Gómez-Cadenas, Eduardo Blumwald, and Ron Mittler. Coordinating the overall stomatal response of plants: Rapid leaf-to-leaf communication during light stress. *Science Signaling*, 11(518), 2018.
- [50] Ayelen M Distéfano, Denise Scuffi, Carlos García-Mata, Lorenzo Lamattina, and Ana M Laxalt. Phospholipase $d\delta$ is involved in nitric oxide-induced stomatal closure. *Planta*, 236(6):1899–1907, 2012.
- [51] AN Dodd, J Kudla, and D Sanders. The language of calcium signaling. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61:593–620, 2010.
- [52] DA Doyle, JM Cabral, RA Pfuetzner, A Kuo, JM Gulbis, SL Cohen, BT Chait, and R MacKinnon. The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K⁺ conduction and selectivity. *Science*, 280(5360):69–77, 1998.
- [53] I Dreyer, F Porée, A Schneider, J Mittelstädt, A Bertl, H Sentenac, JB Thibaud, and B Mueller-Roeber. Assembly of Plant Shaker-Like K out Channels Requires Two Distinct Sites of the Channelα-Subunit. *Biophysical* Journal, 87(2):858–872, 2004.
- [54] M Dreze, AR Carvunis, B Charloteaux, M Galli, SJ Pevzner, M Tasan, YY Ahn, P Balumuri, AL Barabási, V Bautista, et al. Evidence for network evolution in an Arabidopsis interactome map. *Science*, 333(6042):601–607, 2011.
- [55] Ullrich Dubiella, Heike Seybold, Guido Durian, Eileen Komander, Roman Lassig, Claus-Peter Witte, Waltraud X Schulze, and Tina Romeis. Calciumdependent protein kinase/nadph oxidase activation circuit is required for rapid defense signal propagation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(21):8744–8749, 2013.
- [56] E Epstein, DW Rains, and OE Elzam. Resolution of dual mechanisms of potassium absorption by barley roots. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 49(5):684, 1963.
- [57] Nicola H Evans. Modulation of guard cell plasma membrane potassium currents by methyl jasmonate. *Plant Physiology*, 131(1):8–11, 2003.

- [58] Sabrina Förster, Lena K Schmidt, Eva Kopic, Uta Anschütz, Shouguang Huang, Kathrin Schlücking, Philipp Köster, Rainer Waadt, Antoine Larrieu, Oliver Batistič, et al. Wounding-induced stomatal closure requires jasmonatemediated activation of gork k+ channels by a ca2+ sensor-kinase cbl1-cipk5 complex. *Developmental cell*, 48(1):87–99, 2019.
- [59] I Fuchs, K Philippar, and R Hedrich. Ion channels meet auxin action. *Plant Biology*, 8(3):353–359, 2006.
- [60] Xiquan Gao, Xin Chen, Wenwei Lin, Sixue Chen, Dongping Lu, Yajie Niu, Lei Li, Cheng Cheng, Matthew McCormack, Jen Sheen, et al. Bifurcation of arabidopsis nlr immune signaling via ca2+-dependent protein kinases. *PLoS* pathogens, 9(1), 2013.
- [61] Gunja Gayatri, Srinivas Agurla, and Agepati S Raghavendra. Nitric oxide in guard cells as an important secondary messenger during stomatal closure. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4:425, 2013.
- [62] D Geiger, S Scherzer, P Mumm, I Marten, P Ache, S Matschi, A Liese, C Wellmann, KAS Al-Rasheid, E Grill, et al. Guard cell anion channel SLAC1 is regulated by CDPK protein kinases with distinct Ca²⁺ affinities. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(17):8023–8028, 2010.
- [63] Dietmar Geiger, Dirk Becker, Daniel Vosloh, Franco Gambale, Klaus Palme, Marion Rehers, Uta Anschuetz, Ingo Dreyer, Jörg Kudla, and Rainer Hedrich. Heteromeric atkc1· akt1 channels in arabidopsis roots facilitate growth under k+-limiting conditions. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 284(32):21288–21295, 2009.
- [64] Markus Gierth, Pascal Mäser, and Julian I Schroeder. The potassium transporter athak5 functions in k+ deprivation-induced high-affinity k+ uptake and akt1 k+ channel contribution to k+ uptake kinetics in arabidopsis roots. *Plant Physiology*, 137(3):1105–1114, 2005.
- [65] Jessica L Gifford, Michael P Walsh, and Hans J Vogel. Structures and metalion-binding properties of the ca2+-binding helix-loop-helix ef-hand motifs. *Biochemical Journal*, 405(2):199–221, 2007.
- [66] Gaetan Glauser, Elia Grata, Lucie Dubugnon, Serge Rudaz, Edward E Farmer, and Jean-Luc Wolfender. Spatial and temporal dynamics of jasmonate synthesis and accumulation in arabidopsis in response to wounding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(24):16400–16407, 2008.
- [67] Y Gluzman. SV40-transformed simian cells support the replication of early SV40 mutants. *Cell*, 23(1):175–182, 1981.
- [68] C Grefen and MR Blatt. Method summary. Biotechniques, 53(5):311–314, 2012.
- [69] OP Hamill, A Marty, E Neher, B Sakmann, and FJ Sigworth. Improved patch-

clamp techniques for high-resolution current recording from cells and cell-free membrane patches. *Pflügers Archiv*, 391(2):85–100, 1981.

- [70] AC Harmon, BC Yoo, and C McCaffery. Pseudosubstrate inhibition of CDPK, a protein kinase with a calmodulin-like domain. *Biochemistry*, 33(23):7278– 7287, 1994.
- [71] JF Harper, G Breton, and A Harmon. Decoding Ca²⁺ signals through plant protein kinases. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 55:263–288, 2004.
- [72] JF Harper, JF Huang, and SJ Lloyd. Genetic identification of an autoinhibitor in CDPK, a protein kinase with a calmodulin-like domain. *Biochemistry*, 33(23):7267–7277, 1994.
- [73] JL Hartley, GF Temple, and MA Brasch. DNA cloning using in vitro sitespecific recombination. *Genome Research*, 10(11):1788–1795, 2000.
- [74] R Hedrich, U Anschütz, and D Becker. Biology of plant potassium channels. In *The Plant Plasma Membrane*, pages 253–274. Springer, 2011.
- [75] R Hedrich and E Neher. Cytoplasmic calcium regulates voltage-dependent ion channels in plant vacuoles. *Nature*, 329(6142):833–836, 1987.
- [76] Rainer Hedrich and Erwin Neher. Venus flytrap: how an excitable, carnivorous plant works. Trends in Plant Science, 23(3):220–234, 2018.
- [77] Adrian D Hegeman, Miguel Rodriguez, Byung Woo Han, Yuichi Uno, George N Phillips Jr, Estelle M Hrabak, John C Cushman, Jeff F Harper, Alice C Harmon, and Michael R Sussman. A phyloproteomic characterization of in vitro autophosphorylation in calcium-dependent protein kinases. *Proteomics*, 6(12):3649–3664, 2006.
- [78] Katrin Held, François Pascaud, Christian Eckert, Pawel Gajdanowicz, Kenji Hashimoto, Claire Corratgé-Faillie, Jan Niklas Offenborn, Benoît Lacombe, Ingo Dreyer, Jean-Baptiste Thibaud, et al. Calcium-dependent modulation and plasma membrane targeting of the akt2 potassium channel by the cbl4/cipk6 calcium sensor/protein kinase complex. *Cell research*, 21(7):1116, 2011.
- [79] M Hernandez, N Fernandez-Garcia, J Garcia-Garma, JS Rubio-Asensio, F Rubio, and E Olmos. Potassium starvation induces oxidative stress in solanum lycopersicum l. roots. *Journal of plant physiology*, 169(14):1366–1374, 2012.
- [80] AM Hetherington and A Trewavas. Activation of a pea membrane protein kinase by calcium ions. *Planta*, 161(5):409–417, 1984.
- [81] Cheng-Hsun Ho, Shan-Hua Lin, Heng-Cheng Hu, and Yi-Fang Tsay. Chl1 functions as a nitrate sensor in plants. *Cell*, 138(6):1184–1194, 2009.
- [82] E Hosy, A Vavasseur, K Mouline, I Dreyer, F Gaymard, F Porée, J Boucherez, A Lebaudy, D Bouchez, AA Véry, et al. The Arabidopsis outward K⁺ channel

GORK is involved in regulation of stomatal movements and plant transpiration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(9):5549–5554, 2003.

- [83] EM Hrabak, CWM Chan, M Gribskov, JF Harper, JH Choi, N Halford, J Kudla, S Luan, HG Nimmo, MR Sussman, et al. The Arabidopsis CDPK-SnRK superfamily of protein kinases. *Plant Physiology*, 132(2):666–680, 2003.
- [84] JZ Huang and SC Huber. Phosphorylation of synthetic peptides by a CDPK and plant SNF1-related protein kinase. Influence of proline and basic amino acid residues at selected positions. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 42(10):1079– 1087, 2001.
- [85] N Ivashikina, D Becker, P Ache, O Meyerhoff, HH Felle, and R Hedrich. K⁺ channel profile and electrical properties of Arabidopsis root hairs. *FEBS Letters*, 508(3):463–469, 2001.
- [86] N Jaspert and C Oecking. Regulatory 14-3-3 proteins bind the atypical motif within the C terminus of the plant plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase via their typical amphipathic groove. *Planta*, 216(1):136–139, 2002.
- [87] Benjamin Jung, Frank Ludewig, Alexander Schulz, Garvin Meißner, Nicole Wöstefeld, Ulf-Ingo Flügge, Benjamin Pommerrenig, Petra Wirsching, Norbert Sauer, Wolfgang Koch, et al. Identification of the transporter responsible for sucrose accumulation in sugar beet taproots. *Nature Plants*, 1(1):1–6, 2015.
- [88] Kemal Kazan and John M Manners. Jasmonate signaling: toward an integrated view. *Plant physiology*, 146(4):1459–1468, 2008.
- [89] Kemal Kazan and John M Manners. Jaz repressors and the orchestration of phytohormone crosstalk. Trends in plant science, 17(1):22–31, 2012.
- [90] Kyung-Nam Kim, Yong Hwa Cheong, Rajeev Gupta, and Sheng Luan. Interaction specificity of arabidopsis calcineurin b-like calcium sensors and their target kinases. *Plant physiology*, 124(4):1844–1853, 2000.
- [91] Leon V Kochian and William J Lucas. Potassium transport in corn roots: I. resolution of kinetics into a saturable and linear component. *Plant Physiology*, 70(6):1723–1731, 1982.
- [92] Hannes Kollist, Maris Nuhkat, and M Rob G Roelfsema. Closing gaps: linking elements that control stomatal movement. New Phytologist, 203(1):44–62, 2014.
- [93] Abraham JK Koo and Gregg A Howe. The wound hormone jasmonate. Phytochemistry, 70(13-14):1571–1580, 2009.
- [94] Jörg Kudla, Oliver Batistič, and Kenji Hashimoto. Calcium signals: the lead currency of plant information processing. *The Plant Cell*, 22(3):541–563, 2010.
- [95] Jörg Kudla, Dirk Becker, Erwin Grill, Rainer Hedrich, Michael Hippler, Ursula

Kummer, Martin Parniske, Tina Romeis, and Karin Schumacher. Advances and current challenges in calcium signaling. *New Phytologist*, 218(2):414–431, 2018.

- [96] June M Kwak, Izumi C Mori, Zhen-Ming Pei, Nathalie Leonhardt, Miguel Angel Torres, Jeffery L Dangl, Rachel E Bloom, Sara Bodde, Jonathan DG Jones, and Julian I Schroeder. Nadph oxidase atrobhd and atrobhf genes function in ros-dependent aba signaling in arabidopsis. *The EMBO journal*, 22(11):2623– 2633, 2003.
- [97] C Lachaud, E Prigent, P Thuleau, S Grat, D Da Silva, C Brière, C Mazars, and V Cotelle. 14-3-3-Regulated Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinase CPK3 is required for sphingolipid-induced cell death in Arabidopsis. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 20(2):209–217, 2013.
- [98] Delphine Lagarde, Mireille Basset, Marc Lepetit, Geneviève Conejero, Frédéric Gaymard, Suzette Astruc, and Claude Grignon. Tissue-specific expression of arabidopsis akt1 gene is consistent with a role in k+ nutrition. *The Plant Journal*, 9(2):195–203, 1996.
- [99] I Lambeck, JC Chi, S Krizowski, S Mueller, N Mehlmer, M Teige, K Fischer, and G Schwarz. Kinetic analysis of 14-3-3-inhibited Arabidopsis thaliana nitrate reductase. *Biochemistry*, 49(37):8177–8186, 2010.
- [100] Antoine Larrieu, Antony Champion, Jonathan Legrand, Julien Lavenus, David Mast, Géraldine Brunoud, Jaesung Oh, Soazig Guyomarc'h, Maxime Pizot, Edward E Farmer, et al. A fluorescent hormone biosensor reveals the dynamics of jasmonate signalling in plants. *Nature communications*, 6(1):1–9, 2015.
- [101] A Latz, D Becker, M Hekman, T Müller, D Beyhl, I Marten, C Eing, A Fischer, M Dunkel, A Bertl, et al. TPK1, a Ca²⁺-regulated Arabidopsis vacuole twopore K+ channel is activated by 14-3-3 proteins. *The Plant Journal*, 52(3):449– 459, 2007.
- [102] RA Leigh and RG Wyn Jones. A hypothesis relating critical potassium concentrations for growth to the distribution and functions of this ion in the plant cell. New Phytologist, 97(1):1–13, 1984.
- [103] Lei Li, Meng Li, Liping Yu, Zhaoyang Zhou, Xiangxiu Liang, Zixu Liu, Gaihong Cai, Liyan Gao, Xiaojuan Zhang, Yingchun Wang, et al. The fls2associated kinase bik1 directly phosphorylates the nadph oxidase rbohd to control plant immunity. *Cell host & microbe*, 15(3):329–338, 2014.
- [104] Anja Liese and Tina Romeis. Biochemical regulation of in vivo function of plant calcium-dependent protein kinases (cdpk). *Biochimica et biophysica acta* (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research, 1833(7):1582–1589, 2013.
- [105] G Ling and RW Gerard. The normal membrane potential of frog sartorius fibers. Journal of Cellular and Comparative Physiology, 34(3):383–396, 1949.

- [106] Jiping Liu and Jian-Kang Zhu. A calcium sensor homolog required for plant salt tolerance. Science, 280(5371):1943–1945, 1998.
- [107] Juan Liu, Sergey Shabala, Lana Shabala, Meixue Zhou, Holger Meinke, Gayatri Venkataraman, Zhonghua Chen, Fanrong Zeng, and Quanzhi Zhao. Tissuespecific regulation of na+ and k+ transporters explains genotypic differences in salinity stress tolerance in rice. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10:1361, 2019.
- [108] Min Lu, Yanyan Zhang, Shikun Tang, Jinbao Pan, Yongkun Yu, Jun Han, Yangyang Li, Xihua Du, Zhangjie Nan, and Qingpeng Sun. Atcngc2 is involved in jasmonic acid-induced calcium mobilization. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(3):809–819, 2016.
- [109] Sheng Luan, Wenzhi Lan, and Sung Chul Lee. Potassium nutrition, sodium toxicity, and calcium signaling: connections through the cbl–cipk network. *Current opinion in plant biology*, 12(3):339–346, 2009.
- [110] Junling Luo, Shaohua Tang, Xiaojue Peng, Xiaohong Yan, Xinhua Zeng, Jun Li, Xiaofei Li, and Gang Wu. Elucidation of cross-talk and specificity of early response mechanisms to salt and peg-simulated drought stresses in brassica napus using comparative proteomic analysis. *PLoS One*, 10(10):e0138974, 2015.
- [111] SY Ma and WH Wu. AtCPK23 functions in Arabidopsis responses to drought and salt stresses. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 65(4):511–518, 2007.
- [112] Y Ma, I Szostkiewicz, A Korte, D Moes, Y Yang, A Christmann, and E Grill. Regulators of PP2C phosphatase activity function as abscisic acid sensors. *Science*, 324(5930):1064–1068, 2009.
- [113] Frans JM Maathuis. Physiological functions of mineral macronutrients. Current opinion in plant biology, 12(3):250–258, 2009.
- [114] FrJM Maathuis and D Sanders. Plant membrane transport. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 4(4):661–669, 1992.
- [115] EAC MacRobbie. Signal transduction and ion channels in guard cells. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 353(1374):1475–1488, 1998.
- [116] Tobias Maierhofer, Marion Diekmann, Jan Niklas Offenborn, Christof Lind, Hubert Bauer, Kenji Hashimoto, Khaled AS Al-Rasheid, Sheng Luan, Jörg Kudla, Dietmar Geiger, et al. Site-and kinase-specific phosphorylationmediated activation of slac1, a guard cell anion channel stimulated by abscisic acid. Sci. Signal., 7(342):ra86–ra86, 2014.
- [117] SM Manik, Sujuan Shi, Jingjing Mao, Lianhong Dong, Yulong Su, Qian Wang, and Haobao Liu. The calcium sensor cbl-cipk is involved in plant's response to abiotic stresses. *International journal of genomics*, 2015, 2015.
- [118] H Marschner. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press, London,

1995.

- [119] Petra Marschner and Zed Rengel. Nutrient availability in soils. In Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants, pages 315–330. Elsevier, 2012.
- [120] Harry Martin, Yasmina Patel, David Jones, Steve Howell, Karen Robinson, and Alastair Aitken. Antibodies against the major brain isofbrms of 14-3-3 protein: an antibody specific for the n-acetylated ammo-terminus of a protein. *FEBS letters*, 331(3):296–303, 1993.
- [121] M Angeles Martínez-Cordero, Vicente Martínez, and Francisco Rubio. Cloning and functional characterization of the high-affinity k+ transporter hak1 of pepper. *Plant molecular biology*, 56(3):413–421, 2004.
- [122] P Mäser, S Thomine, JI Schroeder, JM Ward, K Hirschi, H Sze, IN Talke, A Amtmann, FJM Maathuis, D Sanders, et al. Phylogenetic relationships within cation transporter families of arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, 126(4):1646–1667, 2001.
- [123] O Maudoux, H Batoko, C Oecking, K Gevaert, J Vandekerckhove, M Boutry, and P Morsomme. A plant plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase expressed in yeast is activated by phosphorylation at its penultimate residue and binding of 14-3-3 regulatory proteins in the absence of fusicoccin. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 275(23):17762–17770, 2000.
- [124] N Mehlmer, B Wurzinger, S Stael, D Hofmann-Rodrigues, E Csaszar, B Pfister, R Bayer, and M Teige. The Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinase CPK3 is required for MAPK-independent salt-stress acclimation in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal*, 63(3):484–498, 2010.
- [125] Michael Meinhard, Pedro L Rodriguez, and Erwin Grill. The sensitivity of abi2 to hydrogen peroxide links the abscisic acid-response regulator to redox signalling. *Planta*, 214(5):775–782, 2002.
- [126] Maeli Melotto, William Underwood, Jessica Koczan, Kinya Nomura, and Sheng Yang He. Plant stomata function in innate immunity against bacterial invasion. *Cell*, 126(5):969–980, 2006.
- [127] Sylvain Merlot, Françoise Gosti, Danièle Guerrier, Alain Vavasseur, and Jérôme Giraudat. The abi1 and abi2 protein phosphatases 2c act in a negative feedback regulatory loop of the abscisic acid signalling pathway. The Plant Journal, 25(3):295–303, 2001.
- [128] Shikha Mittal, Mallana Gowdra Mallikarjuna, Atmakuri R Rao, Prashant A Jain, Prasanta K Dash, and Nepolean Thirunavukkarasu. Comparative analysis of cdpk family in maize, arabidopsis, rice, and sorghum revealed potential targets for drought tolerance improvement. *Frontiers in chemistry*, 5:115, 2017.
- [129] Gabriele Brigitte Monshausen, TN Bibikova, MA Messerli, C Shi, and S Gilroy.

Oscillations in extracellular ph and reactive oxygen species modulate tip growth of arabidopsis root hairs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(52):20996–21001, 2007.

- [130] B.W. Moore and V.J. Perez. Specific acidic proteins of the nervous system. *Physiological and Biochemical Aspects of Nervous Integration*, pages 343–359, 1967.
- [131] G Moorhead, P Douglas, V Cotelle, J Harthill, N Morrice, S Meek, U Deiting, M Stitt, M Scarabel, A Aitken, et al. Phosphorylation-dependent interactions between enzymes of plant metabolism and 14-3-3 proteins. *The Plant Journal*, 18(1):1–12, 1999.
- [132] IC Mori, Y Murata, Y Yang, S Munemasa, YF Wang, S Andreoli, H Tiriac, JM Alonso, JF Harper, JR Ecker, et al. CDPKs CPK6 and CPK3 function in ABA regulation of guard cell S-type anion-and Ca⁺2+-permeable channels and stomatal closure. *PLoS biology*, 4(10):e327, 2006.
- [133] Seyed AR Mousavi, Adeline Chauvin, François Pascaud, Stephan Kellenberger, and Edward E Farmer. Glutamate receptor-like genes mediate leaf-toleaf wound signalling. *Nature*, 500(7463):422–426, 2013.
- [134] S Munemasa, Mohammad A Hossain, Y Nakamura, IC Mori, and Y Murata. The Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase, CPK6, functions as a positive regulator of methyl jasmonate signaling in guard cells. *Plant Physiology*, 155(1):553–561, 2011.
- [135] Yoshiyuki Murata, Izumi C Mori, and Shintaro Munemasa. Diverse stomatal signaling and the signal integration mechanism. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 66:369–392, 2015.
- [136] AJ Muslin, JW Tanner, PM Allen, and AS Shaw. Interaction of 14-3-3 with signaling proteins is mediated by the recognition of phosphoserine. *Cell*, 84(6):889–897, 1996.
- [137] Anna-Chiara Mustilli, Sylvain Merlot, Alain Vavasseur, Francesca Fenzi, and Jérôme Giraudat. Arabidopsis ost1 protein kinase mediates the regulation of stomatal aperture by abscisic acid and acts upstream of reactive oxygen species production. *The Plant Cell*, 14(12):3089–3099, 2002.
- [138] Masamichi Nagae, Akira Nozawa, Nozomu Koizumi, Hiroshi Sano, Hiroshi Hashimoto, Mamoru Sato, and Toshiyuki Shimizu. The crystal structure of the novel calcium-binding protein atcbl2 from arabidopsis thaliana. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 278(43):42240–42246, 2003.
- [139] H Nakagami, N Sugiyama, K Mochida, A Daudi, Y Yoshida, T Toyoda, M Tomita, Y Ishihama, and K Shirasu. Large-scale comparative phosphoproteomics identifies conserved phosphorylation sites in plants. *Plant Physiology*, 153(3):1161–1174, 2010.

- [140] Kazuo Nakashima and Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki. Aba signaling in stressresponse and seed development. *Plant cell reports*, 32(7):959–970, 2013.
- [141] E Neher and B Sakmann. Single-channel currents recorded from membrane of denervated frog muscle fibres. *Nature*, 260(5554):799–802, 1976.
- [142] C Ng, MR Mcainsh, JE Gray, L Hunt, CP Leckie, L Mills, AM Hetherington, et al. Calcium-based signalling systems in guard cells. New Phytologist, 151(1):109–120, 2001.
- [143] Manuel Nieves-Cordones, Fernando Alemán, Vicente Martínez, and Francisco Rubio. The arabidopsis thaliana hak5 k+ transporter is required for plant growth and k+ acquisition from low k+ solutions under saline conditions. *Molecular plant*, 3(2):326–333, 2010.
- [144] Manuel Nieves-Cordones, Fernando Alemán, Vicente Martínez, and Francisco Rubio. K+ uptake in plant roots. the systems involved, their regulation and parallels in other organisms. *Journal of plant physiology*, 171(9):688–695, 2014.
- [145] Manuel Nieves-Cordones, Anthony J Miller, Fernando Alemán, Vicente Martínez, and Francisco Rubio. A putative role for the plasma membrane potential in the control of the expression of the gene encoding the tomato high-affinity potassium transporter hak5. *Plant molecular biology*, 68(6):521, 2008.
- [146] N Nishimura, A Sarkeshik, K Nito, SY Park, A Wang, PC Carvalho, S Lee, DF Caddell, SR Cutler, J Chory, et al. PYR/PYL/RCAR family members are major in-vivo ABI1 protein phosphatase 2C-interacting proteins in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal*, 61(2):290–299, 2010.
- [147] PE Nisson, A Rashtchian, and PC Watkins. Rapid and efficient cloning of Alu-PCR products using uracil DNA glycosylase. *Genome Research*, 1(2):120–123, 1991.
- [148] Hironari Nomura, Teiko Komori, Maki Kobori, Yoichi Nakahira, and Takashi Shiina. Evidence for chloroplast control of external ca2+-induced cytosolic ca2+ transients and stomatal closure. *The Plant Journal*, 53(6):988–998, 2008.
- [149] H Nour-Eldin, B Hansen, M Norholm, J Jensen, and B Halkier. Advancing uracil-excision based cloning towards an ideal technique for cloning PCR fragments. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 34(18):e122–e122, 2006.
- [150] M Numberger and A Draguhn. Patch-Clamp-Technik. Spektrum Akad. Verlag, 1996.
- [151] Masaru Ohta, Yan Guo, Ursula Halfter, and Jian-Kang Zhu. A novel domain in the protein kinase sos2 mediates interaction with the protein phosphatase 2c abi2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100(20):11771–11776, 2003.
- [152] Mohammad Amin Omidbakhshfard, Sebastian Proost, Ushio Fujikura, and

Bernd Mueller-Roeber. Growth-regulating factors (grfs): a small transcription factor family with important functions in plant biology. *Molecular plant*, 8(7):998–1010, 2015.

- [153] Amanda Ooi, Fouad Lemtiri-Chlieh, Aloysius Wong, and Christoph Gehring. Direct modulation of the guard cell outward-rectifying potassium channel (gork) by abscisic acid. *Molecular plant*, 10(11):1469–1472, 2017.
- [154] Yuriko Osakabe, Naoko Arinaga, Taishi Umezawa, Shogo Katsura, Keita Nagamachi, Hidenori Tanaka, Haruka Ohiraki, Kohji Yamada, So-Uk Seo, Mitsuru Abo, et al. Osmotic stress responses and plant growth controlled by potassium transporters in arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell*, 25(2):609–624, 2013.
- [155] Shweta Panchal and Maeli Melotto. Stomate-based defense and environmental cues. Plant signaling & behavior, 12(9):e1362517, 2017.
- [156] Girdhar K Pandey, Yong Hwa Cheong, Kyung-Nam Kim, John J Grant, Legong Li, Wendy Hung, Cecilia D'Angelo, Stefan Weinl, Jörg Kudla, and Sheng Luan. The calcium sensor calcineurin b-like 9 modulates abscisic acid sensitivity and biosynthesis in arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell*, 16(7):1912–1924, 2004.
- [157] Girdhar K Pandey, John J Grant, Yong Hwa Cheong, Beom-Gi Kim, Sheng Luan, et al. Calcineurin-b-like protein cbl9 interacts with target kinase cipk3 in the regulation of aba response in seed germination. *Molecular Plant*, 1(2):238– 248, 2008.
- [158] AL Paul, L Liu, S McClung, B Laughner, S Chen, and RJ Ferl. Comparative interactomics: analysis of Arabidopsis 14-3-3 complexes reveals highly conserved 14-3-3 interactions between humans and plants. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 8(4):1913–1924, 2009.
- [159] A Cuéllar Pérez and Alain Goossens. Jasmonate signalling: a copycat of auxin signalling? Plant, cell & environment, 36(12):2071–2084, 2013.
- [160] Corné MJ Pieterse, Dieuwertje Van der Does, Christos Zamioudis, Antonio Leon-Reyes, and Saskia CM Van Wees. Hormonal modulation of plant immunity. Annual review of cell and developmental biology, 28, 2012.
- [161] Ruidang Quan, Huixin Lin, Imelda Mendoza, Yuguo Zhang, Wanhong Cao, Yongqing Yang, Mei Shang, Shouyi Chen, Jose M Pardo, and Yan Guo. Scabp8/cbl10, a putative calcium sensor, interacts with the protein kinase sos2 to protect arabidopsis shoots from salt stress. *The Plant Cell*, 19(4):1415–1431, 2007.
- [162] Paula Ragel, Reyes Ródenas, Elena García-Martín, Zaida Andrés, Irene Villalta, Manuel Nieves-Cordones, Rosa M Rivero, Vicente Martínez, Jose M Pardo, Francisco J Quintero, et al. The cbl-interacting protein kinase cipk23 regulates hak5-mediated high-affinity k+ uptake in arabidopsis roots. *Plant Physiology*, 169(4):2863–2873, 2015.

- [163] Agepati S Raghavendra, Vijay K Gonugunta, Alexander Christmann, and Erwin Grill. Aba perception and signalling. *Trends in plant science*, 15(7):395–401, 2010.
- [164] VS Reddy and ASN Reddy. Proteomics of calcium-signaling components in plants. *Phytochemistry*, 65(12):1745–1776, 2004.
- [165] S Reiland, G Messerli, K Baerenfaller, B Gerrits, A Endler, J Grossmann, W Gruissem, and S Baginsky. Large-scale Arabidopsis phosphoproteome profiling reveals novel chloroplast kinase substrates and phosphorylation networks. *Plant Physiology*, 150(2):889–903, 2009.
- [166] Zed Rengel and Paul M Damon. Crops and genotypes differ in efficiency of potassium uptake and use. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 133(4):624–636, 2008.
- [167] M Rosenquist, M Alsterfjord, C Larsson, and M Sommarin. Data mining the Arabidopsis genome reveals fifteen 14-3-3 genes. Expression is demonstrated for two out of five novel genes. *Plant Physiology*, 127(1):142–149, 2001.
- [168] John Rozewicki, Songling Li, Karlou Mar Amada, Daron M Standley, and Kazutaka Katoh. Mafft-dash: integrated protein sequence and structural alignment. Nucleic acids research, 47(W1):W5–W10, 2019.
- [169] Francisco Rubio, Manuel Nieves-Cordones, Fernando Alemán, and Vicente Martínez. Relative contribution of athak5 and atakt1 to k+ uptake in the high-affinity range of concentrations. *Physiologia plantarum*, 134(4):598–608, 2008.
- [170] Francisco Rubio, Guillermo E Santa-María, and Alonso Rodríguez-Navarro. Cloning of arabidopsis and barley cdnas encoding hak potassium transporters in root and shoot cells. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 109(1):34–43, 2000.
- [171] Dale Sanders, Jérôme Pelloux, Colin Brownlee, and Jeffrey F Harper. Calcium at the crossroads of signaling. *The Plant Cell*, 14(suppl 1):S401–S417, 2002.
- [172] Aaron Santner and Mark Estelle. The ubiquitin-proteasome system regulates plant hormone signaling. *The plant journal*, 61(6):1029–1040, 2010.
- [173] Andrea Saponaro, Alessandro Porro, Antonio Chaves-Sanjuan, Marco Nardini, Oliver Rauh, Gerhard Thiel, and Anna Moroni. Fusicoccin activates kat1 channels by stabilizing their interaction with 14-3-3 proteins. *The Plant Cell*, 29(10):2570–2580, 2017.
- [174] Tatyana Savchenko, Venkat A Kolla, Chang-Quan Wang, Zainab Nasafi, Derrick R Hicks, Bpantamars Phadungchob, Wassim E Chehab, Federica Brandizzi, John Froehlich, and Katayoon Dehesh. Functional convergence of oxylipin and abscisic acid pathways controls stomatal closure in response to drought. *Plant Physiology*, 164(3):1151–1160, 2014.
- [175] Sönke Scherzer, Tobias Maierhofer, Khaled AS Al-Rasheid, Dietmar Geiger, and Rainer Hedrich. Multiple calcium-dependent kinases modulate aba-

activated guard cell anion channels. Molecular plant, 5(6):1409–1412, 2012.

- [176] G Schönknecht, P Spoormaker, R Steinmeyer, L Brüggeman, P Ache, R Dutta, B Reintanz, M Godde, R Hedrich, and K Palme. KCO1 is a component of the slow-vacuolar (SV) ion channel. *FEBS Letters*, 511(1):28–32, 2002.
- [177] PJ Schoonheim, MP Sinnige, JA Casaretto, H Veiga, TD Bunney, RS Quatrano, and AH de Boer. 14-3-3 adaptor proteins are intermediates in ABA signal transduction during barley seed germination. *The Plant Journal*, 49(2):289–301, 2007.
- [178] Julian I Schroeder, June M Kwak, and Gethyn J Allen. Guard cell abscisic acid signalling and engineering drought hardiness in plants. *Nature*, 410(6826):327– 330, 2001.
- [179] Birgit Schulze, Tobias Mentzel, Anna K Jehle, Katharina Mueller, Seraina Beeler, Thomas Boller, Georg Felix, and Delphine Chinchilla. Rapid heteromerization and phosphorylation of ligand-activated plant transmembrane receptors and their associated kinase bak1. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 285(13):9444–9451, 2010.
- [180] Christina Schulze, Heinrich Sticht, Petra Meyerhoff, and Petra Dietrich. Differential contribution of ef-hands to the ca2+-dependent activation in the plant two-pore channel tpc1. *The Plant Journal*, 68(3):424–432, 2011.
- [181] W Schwarz and J Rettinger. *Elektrophysiologie*. Shaker, 2004.
- [182] Lana Shabala, Tracey A Cuin, Ian A Newman, and Sergey Shabala. Salinityinduced ion flux patterns from the excised roots of arabidopsis sos mutants. *Planta*, 222(6):1041–1050, 2005.
- [183] S Shabala. Salinity and programmed cell death: unravelling mechanisms for ion specific signalling. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 60(3):709–712, 2009.
- [184] S Shabala and TA Cuin. Potassium transport and plant salt tolerance. Physiologia Plantarum, 133(4):651–669, 2008.
- [185] Sergey Shabala, Jayakumar Bose, Anja Thoe Fuglsang, and Igor Pottosin. On a quest for stress tolerance genes: membrane transporters in sensing and adapting to hostile soils. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(4):1015–1031, 2015.
- [186] Jinrui Shi, Kyung-Nam Kim, Olga Ritz, Veronica Albrecht, Rajeev Gupta, Klaus Harter, Sheng Luan, and Jörg Kudla. Novel protein kinases associated with calcineurin b–like calcium sensors in arabidopsis. *The plant cell*, 11(12):2393–2405, 1999.
- [187] Sujuan Shi, Shugui Li, Muhammad Asim, Jingjing Mao, Dizhi Xu, Zia Ullah, Guanshan Liu, Qian Wang, and Haobao Liu. The arabidopsis calciumdependent protein kinases (cdpks) and their roles in plant growth regulation and abiotic stress responses. *International journal of molecular sciences*,

19(7):1900, 2018.

- [188] Ryoung Shin, R Howard Berg, and Daniel P Schachtman. Reactive oxygen species and root hairs in arabidopsis root response to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium deficiency. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 46(8):1350–1357, 2005.
- [189] Ryoung Shin and Daniel P Schachtman. Hydrogen peroxide mediates plant root cell response to nutrient deprivation. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 101(23):8827–8832, 2004.
- [190] Caroline Sirichandra, Dan Gu, Heng-Cheng Hu, Marlène Davanture, Sangmee Lee, Michaël Djaoui, Benoît Valot, Michel Zivy, Jeffrey Leung, Sylvain Merlot, et al. Phosphorylation of the arabidopsis atrobhf nadph oxidase by ost1 protein kinase. *Febs Letters*, 583(18):2982–2986, 2009.
- [191] C Smith, PJ Day, and MR Walker. Generation of cohesive ends on PCR products by UDG-mediated excision of dU, and application for cloning into restriction digest-linearized vectors. *Genome Research*, 2(4):328–332, 1993.
- [192] B Sottocornola, S Gazzarrini, C Olivari, G Romani, P Valbuzzi, G Thiel, and A Moroni. 14-3-3 proteins regulate the potassium channel KAT1 by dual modes. *Plant Biology*, 10(2):231–236, 2008.
- [193] B Sottocornola, S Visconti, S Orsi, S Gazzarrini, S Giacometti, C Olivari, L Camoni, P Aducci, M Marra, A Abenavoli, et al. The potassium channel KAT1 is activated by plant and animal 14-3-3 proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(47):35735–35741, 2006.
- [194] Michael Stitz, Klaus Gase, Ian T Baldwin, and Emmanuel Gaquerel. Ectopic expression of atjmt in nicotiana attenuata: creating a metabolic sink has tissue-specific consequences for the jasmonate metabolic network and silences downstream gene expression. *Plant Physiology*, 157(1):341–354, 2011.
- [195] Tatsiana Straub, Uwe Ludewig, and Benjamin Neuhäuser. The kinase cipk23 inhibits ammonium transport in arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Cell, 29(2):409–422, 2017.
- [196] N Sugiyama, H Nakagami, K Mochida, A Daudi, M Tomita, K Shirasu, and Y Ishihama. Large-scale phosphorylation mapping reveals the extent of tyrosine phosphorylation in Arabidopsis. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 4(1), 2008.
- [197] Dontamala Suhita, Agepati S Raghavendra, June M Kwak, and Alain Vavasseur. Cytoplasmic alkalization precedes reactive oxygen species production during methyl jasmonate-and abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure. *Plant physiology*, 134(4):1536–1545, 2004.
- [198] Yanling Sun, Xiangpei Kong, Cuiling Li, Yongxiu Liu, and Zhaojun Ding. Potassium retention under salt stress is associated with natural variation in salinity tolerance among arabidopsis accessions. *PLoS One*, 10(5):e0124032, 2015.

- [199] KN Swatek, RS Wilson, N Ahsan, RL Tritz, and JJ Thelen. Multisite phosphorylation of 14-3-3 proteins by calcium-dependent protein kinases. *Biochemical Journal*, 2014.
- [200] Seiji Takeda, Catherine Gapper, Hidetaka Kaya, Elizabeth Bell, Kazuyuki Kuchitsu, and Liam Dolan. Local positive feedback regulation determines cell shape in root hair cells. *science*, 319(5867):1241–1244, 2008.
- [201] Jeannie Te, Ulrich Melcher, Amanda Howard, and Jeanmarie Verchot-Lubicz. Soilborne wheat mosaic virus (sbwmv) 19k protein belongs to a class of cysteine rich proteins that suppress rna silencing. Virology Journal, 2(1):18, 2005.
- [202] BL Tempel, DM Papazian, TL Schwarz, YN Jan, and LY Jan. Sequence of a probable potassium channel component encoded at Shaker locus of Drosophila. *Science*, 237(4816):770–775, 1987.
- [203] Bryan Thines, Leron Katsir, Maeli Melotto, Yajie Niu, Ajin Mandaokar, Guanghui Liu, Kinya Nomura, Sheng Yang He, Gregg A Howe, and John Browse. Jaz repressor proteins are targets of the scf coil complex during jasmonate signalling. *Nature*, 448(7154):661–665, 2007.
- [204] Jurriaan Ton, Victor Flors, and Brigitte Mauch-Mani. The multifaceted role of aba in disease resistance. Trends in plant science, 14(6):310–317, 2009.
- [205] D Tran, H El-Maarouf-Bouteau, M Rossi, B Biligui, J Briand, T Kawano, S Mancuso, and F Bouteau. Post-transcriptional regulation of GORK channels by superoxide anion contributes to increases in outward-rectifying K⁺ currents. New Phytologist, 198(4):1039–1048, 2013.
- [206] Jana Trifinopoulos, Lam-Tung Nguyen, Arndt von Haeseler, and Bui Quang Minh. W-iq-tree: a fast online phylogenetic tool for maximum likelihood analysis. *Nucleic acids research*, 44(W1):W232–W235, 2016.
- [207] WE Trout and WD Kaplan. Genetic manipulation of motor output in shaker mutants of Drosophila. Journal of Neurobiology, 4(6):495–512, 1973.
- [208] Taishi Umezawa, Naoyuki Sugiyama, Masahide Mizoguchi, Shimpei Hayashi, Fumiyoshi Myouga, Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, Yasushi Ishihama, Takashi Hirayama, and Kazuo Shinozaki. Type 2c protein phosphatases directly regulate abscisic acid-activated protein kinases in arabidopsis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of sciences*, 106(41):17588–17593, 2009.
- [209] N Uozumi, T Nakamura, JI Schroeder, and S Muto. Determination of transmembrane topology of an inward-rectifying potassium channel from Arabidopsis thaliana based on functional expression in Escherichia coli. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 95(17):9773–9778, 1998.
- [210] Takeshi Urao, Takeshi Katagiri, Tsuyoshi Mizoguchi, Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, Nobuaki Hayashida, and Kazuo Shinozaki. Two genes that encode ca 2+-dependent protein kinases are induced by drought and high-salt stresses

in arabidopsis thaliana. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG*, 244(4):331–340, 1994.

- [211] Triin Vahisalu, Hannes Kollist, Yong-Fei Wang, Noriyuki Nishimura, Wai-Yin Chan, Gabriel Valerio, Airi Lamminmäki, Mikael Brosché, Heino Moldau, Radhika Desikan, et al. Slac1 is required for plant guard cell s-type anion channel function in stomatal signalling. *Nature*, 452(7186):487–491, 2008.
- [212] PWJ van den Wijngaard, TD Bunney, I Roobeek, G Schönknecht, and AH de Boer. Slow vacuolar channels from barley mesophyll cells are regulated by 14-3-3 proteins. *FEBS Letters*, 488(1):100–104, 2001.
- [213] PJM Van Kleeff, J Gao, S Mol, N Zwart, H Zhang, KW Li, and AH De Boer. The arabidopsis gork k+-channel is phosphorylated by calcium-dependent protein kinase 21 (cpk21), which in turn is activated by 14-3-3 proteins. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 125:219–231, 2018.
- [214] AA Véry and H Sentenac. Molecular mechanisms and regulation of K⁺ transport in higher plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 54(1):575–603, 2003.
- [215] Anne-Aliénor Véry, Manuel Nieves-Cordones, Meriem Daly, Imran Khan, Cécile Fizames, and Hervé Sentenac. Molecular biology of k+ transport across the plant cell membrane: what do we learn from comparison between plant species? Journal of plant physiology, 171(9):748–769, 2014.
- [216] Anne-Aliénor Véry and Hervé Sentenac. Cation channels in the arabidopsis plasma membrane. Trends in plant science, 7(4):168–175, 2002.
- [217] David J Walker, Roger A Leigh, and Anthony J Miller. Potassium homeostasis in vacuolate plant cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(19):10510–10514, 1996.
- [218] Feifei Wang, Zhong-Hua Chen, Xiaohui Liu, Timothy D Colmer, Lana Shabala, Anya Salih, Meixue Zhou, and Sergey Shabala. Revealing the roles of gork channels and nadph oxidase in acclimation to hypoxia in arabidopsis. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 68(12):3191–3204, 2016.
- [219] Pengcheng Wang, Yanyan Du, Yueh-Ju Hou, Yang Zhao, Chuan-Chih Hsu, Feijuan Yuan, Xiaohong Zhu, W Andy Tao, Chun-Peng Song, and Jian-Kang Zhu. Nitric oxide negatively regulates abscisic acid signaling in guard cells by s-nitrosylation of ost1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(2):613-618, 2015.
- [220] Rui-Sheng Wang, Sona Pandey, Song Li, Timothy E Gookin, Zhixin Zhao, Réka Albert, and Sarah M Assmann. Common and unique elements of the abaregulated transcriptome of arabidopsis guard cells. *BMC genomics*, 12(1):216, 2011.
- [221] Yi Wang and Wei-Hua Wu. Potassium transport and signaling in higher plants. Annual review of plant biology, 64:451–476, 2013.

- [222] C Wasternack. Jasmonates: an update on biosynthesis, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. Annals of botany, 100(4):681–697, 2007.
- [223] C Wasternack and B Hause. Jasmonates: biosynthesis, perception, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. an update to the 2007 review in annals of botany. Annals of botany, 111(6):1021– 1058, 2013.
- [224] Alex AR Webb, Martin R McAinsh, Jane E Taylor, and Alistair M Hetherington. Calcium ions as intracellular second messengers in higher plants. Advances in Botanical Research, 1996.
- [225] Stefan Weinl and Jörg Kudla. The cbl-cipk ca2+-decoding signaling network: function and perspectives. New Phytologist, 184(3):517–528, 2009.
- [226] PWJ Wijngaard, MP Sinnige, I Roobeek, A Reumer, PJ Schoonheim, JNM Mol, M Wang, and AH De Boer. Abscisic acid and 14-3-3 proteins control K⁺ channel activity in barley embryonic root. *The Plant Journal*, 41(1):43–55, 2005.
- [227] Alison C. Wille and William J. Lucas. Ultrastructural and histochemical studies on guard cells. *Planta*, 160(2):129–1142, 1984.
- [228] Honghong Wu, Min Zhu, Lana Shabala, Meixue Zhou, and Sergey Shabala. K+ retention in leaf mesophyll, an overlooked component of salinity tolerance mechanism: a case study for barley. *Journal of integrative plant biology*, 57(2):171–185, 2015.
- [229] J Xu, YS Tian, RH Peng, AS Xiong, Bo Zhu, XF Jin, F Gao, XY Fu, XL Hou, and QH Yao. AtCPK6, a functionally redundant and positive regulator involved in salt/drought stress tolerance in Arabidopsis. *Planta*, 231(6):1251– 1260, 2010.
- [230] Jiang Xu, Hao-Dong Li, Li-Qing Chen, Yi Wang, Li-Li Liu, Liu He, and Wei-Hua Wu. A protein kinase, interacting with two calcineurin b-like proteins, regulates k+ transporter akt1 in arabidopsis. *Cell*, 125(7):1347–1360, 2006.
- [231] MB Yaffe, K Rittinger, S Volinia, PR Caron, A Aitken, H Leffers, SJ Gamblin, SJ Smerdon, and LC Cantley. The structural basis for 14-3-3: phosphopeptide binding specificity. *Cell*, 91(7):961–971, 1997.
- [232] Chun Yan and Daoxin Xie. Jasmonate in plant defence: sentinel or double agent? *Plant biotechnology journal*, 13(9):1233–1240, 2015.
- [233] Zhijia Yang, Chongwu Wang, Yuan Xue, Xiao Liu, She Chen, ChunPeng Song, Yongqing Yang, and Yan Guo. Calcium-activated 14-3-3 proteins as a molecular switch in salt stress tolerance. *Nature communications*, 10(1):1–12, 2019.
- [234] Ye Yin, Yuji Adachi, Yoshimasa Nakamura, Shintaro Munemasa, Izumi C

Mori, and Yoshiyuki Murata. Involvement of ost1 protein kinase and pyr/pyl/rcar receptors in methyl jasmonate-induced stomatal closure in arabidopsis guard cells. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 57(8):1779–1790, 2016.

- [235] GM Yoon and JJ Kieber. 14-3-3 regulates 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate synthase protein turnover in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell Online*, 25(3):1016– 1028, 2013.
- [236] Riichiro Yoshida, Taishi Umezawa, Tsuyoshi Mizoguchi, Seiji Takahashi, Fuminori Takahashi, and Kazuo Shinozaki. The regulatory domain of srk2e/ost1/snrk2. 6 interacts with abi1 and integrates abscisic acid (aba) and osmotic stress signals controlling stomatal closure in arabidopsis. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 281(8):5310–5318, 2006.
- [237] Byung-Wook Yun, Angela Feechan, Minghui Yin, Noor BB Saidi, Thierry Le Bihan, Manda Yu, John W Moore, Jeong-Gu Kang, Eunjung Kwon, Steven H Spoel, et al. S-nitrosylation of nadph oxidase regulates cell death in plant immunity. *Nature*, 478(7368):264–268, 2011.
- [238] PC Zei and RW Aldrich. Voltage-dependent gating of single wild-type and S4 mutant KAT1 inward rectifier potassium channels. The Journal of General Physiology, 112(6):679–713, 1998.
- [239] Feng Zhang, Jian Yao, Jiyuan Ke, Li Zhang, Vinh Q Lam, Xiu-Fang Xin, X Edward Zhou, Jian Chen, Joseph Brunzelle, Patrick R Griffin, et al. Structural basis of jaz repression of myc transcription factors in jasmonate signalling. *Nature*, 525(7568):269–273, 2015.
- [240] Tong Zhang, Sixue Chen, and Alice C Harmon. Protein phosphorylation in stomatal movement. *Plant signaling & behavior*, 9(11):e972845, 2014.
- [241] Yanyan Zhang, Huiying Zhu, Qun Zhang, Maoyin Li, Min Yan, Rong Wang, Liling Wang, Ruth Welti, Wenhua Zhang, and Xuemin Wang. Phospholipase dα1 and phosphatidic acid regulate nadph oxidase activity and production of reactive oxygen species in aba-mediated stomatal closure in arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 21(8):2357–2377, 2009.
- [242] Li-Na Zhao, Li-Ke Shen, Wen-Zheng Zhang, Wei Zhang, Yi Wang, and Wei-Hua Wu. Ca2+-dependent protein kinase11 and 24 modulate the activity of the inward rectifying k+ channels in arabidopsis pollen tubes. *The Plant Cell*, 25(2):649–661, 2013.
- [243] Meiliang Zhou and Johan Memelink. Jasmonate-responsive transcription factors regulating plant secondary metabolism. *Biotechnology Advances*, 34(4):441–449, 2016.

List of own publications

Förster, S., Schmidt, L. K., Kopic, E., Anschütz, U., Huang, S., Schlücking, K., ... and Becker, D. (2019). Wounding-induced stomatal closure requires jasmonatemediated activation of GORK K⁺ channels by a Ca²⁺ sensor-kinase CBL1-CIPK5 complex. Developmental cell, 48(1), 87-99.

Acknowledgement

This PhD thesis has been carried out at the Department of Molecular Plant Physiology and Biophysics at the University of Würzburg. A number of people deserve thanks for their support and help.

Special thanks belongs to Prof. Dr. Dirk Becker for giving me the possibility to work on this interesting topic, for his big support, for helpful suggestions on how to develop the topic, for letting me work independently and all the good discussions on an equal footing. The other (former) members of the Becker-group deserve a huge thanks for all the help, support, encouragement, ideas and friendship during the different steps of my "Becker-group-career". You did a great job and enabled me to do as good as I could!

Prof. Dr. Rainer Hedrich for allowing me to work in his group at the Julius-von-Sachs Institute at the University of Würzburg.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Irene Marten, Dr. Justyna Jaslan and Dr. Dawid Jaslan for all the support regarding patch clamp measurements, setup or software problems and really helpful discussions; Prof. Dr. Thomas Müller for the discussions on biochemistry; Dr. Sönke Scherzer for helping me with kinase assays, Dr. Shouguang Huang for providing the video of monitored wounding assays and all the other colleagues, students and collaborators, who contributed to this work.

I also owe Dr. Christoph Weiste gratitude for his willingness to be the second referee of this thesis and interest in my work.

Moreover, I am thankful to all gardeners, technicians and workmen, as well as the entire group at the institute for a very good working atmosphere, good discussions, a lot of help and advices.

Last but not least, from the bottom of my heart I want to thank my husband, my whole family and all the friends who always loved and patiently supported me along this (long) way.

Eidesstattliche Erklärungen nach §4 Abs. 3 Satz 3, 3a, 3b, 5 der Promotionsordnung der Fakultät für Biologie

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, die Dissertation: "Die physiologische Rolle der posttranslationalen Regulation des auswärtsgleichrichtenden Kaliumkanals GORK in *Arabidopsis*-Schließzellen", eigenständig, d. h. insbesondere selbständig und ohne Hilfe einer kommerziellen Promotionsberatung, angefertigt und keine anderen, als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel verwendet zu haben.

Ich erkläre außerdem, dass ich die Gelegenheit zum Promotionsvorhaben nicht kommerziell vermittelt bekommen habe, insbesondere habe ich keine Person oder Organisation eingeschaltet, die gegen Entgelt Betreuer bzw. Betreuerinnen für die Anfertigung von Dissertation sucht.

Weiterhin erkläre ich, dass diese Arbeit weder in gleicher noch in ähnlicher Form bereits in einem anderen Prüfungsverfahren vorgelegen hat und und dass ich die Regeln der Universität Würzburg über gute wissenschaftliche Praxis eingehalten habe. Bei allen Abbildungen und Texten bei denen die Verwertungsrechte(Copyright) nicht bei mir liegen, wurden diese von den Rechtsinhabern eingeholt und die Textstellen bzw. Abbildungen entsprechend den rechtlichen Vorgaben gekennzeichnet.

Affidavit

I hereby declare that my thesis entitled: "On the physiological role of post-translational regulation of the *Arabidopsis* guard cell outward rectifying potassium channel GORK" is the result of my own work. I did not receive any help or support from commercial consultants. All sources and / or materials applied are listed and specified in the thesis.

I also declare that I have not obtained the opportunity for the doctoral project commercially; in particular, I have not engaged any person or organization which, in return for payment, is looking for supervisors for the preparation of my dissertation.

Furthermore, I declare that this work has not been submitted in the same or a similar form in any other examination procedure and that I have complied with the rules of good scientific practice of the University of Würzburg. For all illustrations and texts for which I do not hold the copyright, these have been obtained from the copyright holders and the paragraphs and figures have been marked according to law.

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift